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This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the Company's official website for
corporate communications at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm (the “Company’s Official Website”).

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to receive the corporate communications of the
Company (the “Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s Official Website and who for any reason have
difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the annual report posted on the Company’s Official Website will promptly
upon request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or via the
Company'’s Official Website) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive the annual report in printed form, and/or to change their choice of
the means of receipt of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by
sending an email to the Share Registrar of the Company at crcement1313-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com.
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CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
ZHOU Longshan

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

PAN Yonghong

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER

LAU Chung Kwok Robert
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

DU Wenmin
WEI Bin

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
XU Yongmo

ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

COMPANY SECRETARY
LO Chi Lik Peter
AUDIT COMMITTEE

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (Chairman)
IP Shu Kwan Stephen

SHEK Lai Him Abraham

XU Yongmo

ZENG Xuemin
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

SHEK Lai Him Abraham (Chairman)
IP Shu Kwan Stephen

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan

LAU Chung Kwok Robert

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairman)
SHEK Lai Him Abraham

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairman)
SHEK Lai Him Abraham

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan

LAU Chung Kwok Robert

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank

DBS Bank Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Ltd.
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd

Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited
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SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 4606-08, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 3118 6800
Fax: : (852) 3118 6830
E-mail: . crcement@crc.com.hk
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In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indlicates otherwise:

“associated corporation”

“Board”

“China Resources Group”

"Chinese Mainland”

“Company”

“CR Holdings”

“Director(s)”
“FAI"

“Fujian”
“GDP"
“Group”
“Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

"Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors

CR Holdings and its subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macau
Special Administrative Region

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability

director(s) of the Company

Fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

Gross domestic products

the Company and its subsidiaries
Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China

Hainan Province, China

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC

the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region,
China

The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange
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“Model Code”

“NSP”

"PRC" or “China”

“Scheme”

"SFO"

"Shaanxi”

“Shanxi”

"Share(s)”

"Southern China”

“Stock Exchange”

“Yunnan”

"HK$”

“RMB"

“US$”

" % "

“*g"

“kwh”

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

New Suspension Preheater technology in
the manufacture of cement

The People’s Republic of China

the share award scheme of the Company
adopted by the Directors on 2 September
2009 and amended by the Directors as
a cash award scheme on 17 November
2010

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shaanxi Province, China
Shanxi Province, China

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company

encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi,
Fujian, Hainan and Yunnan

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Yunnan Province, China

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
China

United States Dollars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent
kilogram
kilowatt-hour

cubic meter
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on
13 March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability under The Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is
the holding company of all the cement and concrete operations of the
China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way of introduction and no funds
were raised by the Company as part of the listing.

The Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth
Concept Investments Limited (subsequently renamed as China Resources
Cement Investment Group Limited and currently known as CRH (Cement)
Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on
26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering. Since the completion
of the global offering and as at the date of this annual report, the total
number of issued shares of the Company has remained unchanged at
6,519,255,462 shares of HK$0.10 each, of which China Resources Group
is holding approximately 73.34% of the issued shares of the Company.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is one of the leading cement
and concrete producers in Southern China and is one of the large-scale
cement producers supported by Chinese government authorities. We
are currently the largest NSP clinker and cement producer by production
capacity and the largest concrete producer by sales volume in Southern
China.

Our operations range from the excavation of limestone to the production,
sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete. Our products
are primarily used in the construction of infrastructure projects such as
hydroelectric power stations, dams, ports, bridges, airports and roads,
suburban development and high-rise buildings. Our products are mainly
sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan, Fujian, Yunnan and Shanxi through
our well-established waterway, railway and road logistics network. As
at 31 December 2011, we had eighty three cement grinding lines and
thirty eight clinker production lines in operations, with annual production
capacity of 68.7 million tons of cement and 47.3 million tons of clinker
respectively. We also operated fifty four concrete batching plants with
annual production capacity of 32.0 million m?® of concrete. These
production facilities are located in the various provinces of the Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong as follows:

Kife R =) Ja

EERHE BEM HESHE BEM BrutgE BEILAK
E7,/BBTHE  Province/SAR Cement Clinker Concrete

No. of lines million tons No. of lines million tons  No. of plants million m?
33 Guangdong 18 15.4 6 8.0 20 12.1
3 Guangxi 35 31.1 17 25.0 15 9.2
B Fujian 12 89 5 5.3 10 5.7
T2 Hainan 5 4.0 3 33 3 18
iy Shanxi 8 53 4 34 1 0.6
£ Yunnan 5 40 3 2.3 - -
ipas Zhejiang - - - - 2 1.1
e Hong Kong - - - - 3 15
@t Total 83 68.7 38 47.3 54 32.0
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In addition, we had 50% direct equity interest in three jointly
controlled entities which control eight cement grinding lines, two NSP
clinker production lines and a concrete batching plant in operation
in Guangdong, with annual production capacity of 8.1 million tons
of cement, 3.7 million tons of clinker and 0.5 million m3? of concrete,
respectively. We also owned 40.6% equity interest in Inner Mongolia
Mengxi Cement Co. Ltd. which operated through its subsidiaries nine
NSP clinker production lines and twenty two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 10.8 million tons of clinker and 12.5
million tons of cement in Inner Mongolia and Shaanxi, and had two
cement grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 2.0 million
tons under construction in Inner Mongolia. The total production
capacities attributable to the Company according to equity interest in
these jointly controlled entities and Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co.
Ltd. are 9.7 million tons of cement and 6.5 million tons of clinker.

We place strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility and are
one of the few cement producers in China to equip all of our clinker
production lines with advanced NSP technology and residual heat
recovery generators that recycle the heat generated during the clinker
production process, enabling us to reduce energy use, achieve high
production efficiency, minimize pollution and improve product quality.
Our clinker production facilities are strategically located near our
limestone quarries, which supply the limestone required for our clinker
production.
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The production plants with cement grinding facilities and clinker production lines in operation

#87E Heqing B Midu M5 Tianyang
B2 Nanning £ & Shangsi &[5 Bingyang
HE Wuxuan &8 Guigang 7 Pingnan

B£)1| Luchuan &Il Fuchuan &1 Changjiang

00606000600
0060000

B Fengkai f%% Yangchun = Huizhou
EZ Caoxi JKFE Yongding 524 Longyan
¥& ¥ Zhangping A Liulin 77 1 Fangshan

TR RA KR EAR R AR EE R EERM

The production plants with cement grinding facilities and clinker production lines under construction
Z&5E Luoding @ BEE A Longyan Yanshi @ £58 Changzhi
BEPAIKRNE]

The cement grinding plants in operation

B39 7% Fangchenggang E 85T Zhanjiang B 22 Dongguan

SWIZE Shantou B o Lianjiang B s/ quanzhou

B ERE T B

The concrete batching plants in operation

BENR R ARZENEEEAELS TR EERNEERL

The production plants with clinker production lines in operation owned by associates and jointly controlled entities

& Guangzhou A =5 wha A s Qipanjing
7B 7K Qingshuihe A 5T Halaer B FEA Yakeshi
Fa] &1 Aronggi

—Z——4F4F3 Annual Report 2011 11



—E——F

—A=+mA
—2——F

—A=++H
—ET—%F

=A=+hH

12

MR EHARE
405,800,0007T Y B35 T H &
MBEIRRIERBR AR R
HIfBARHEE BERERE
M REBREERE KR
KOREE T Z A AR FEIE
IR AR et o 2 F AR A
EER-_ZT—ZTF+=-AA
B fEs0% i m e s T
o [E] 420 1) BB

FEMBEAREE 2B
F- AN EERES
AL 2R 7K A B LA
MEZEMEANmEEE
LREBE BREVBARE
277,200,0007T ° Bt #5 1 —
HIRE AT R — KB E
4500ME (£ Z & 431,400,000
MR ) RS AR A EAR K
W {448 4 £ 82 £52,000,000M8
BRI EELR

NREAREHZMNE —
{6 B EES000MA ( 4F EE #E
mwmmﬂm%wﬁiﬂ
FHAE EEAR I PR (R AR 7 EE R
zwwm@mmﬁﬁ@ﬁ&
B

24 January 2011

27 January 2011

29 March 2011

Successfully acquired the non-controlling
equity interest in certain companies
that engaged in clinker, cement and
concrete operations in Guangzhou City of
Guangdong and Hong Kong, which were
owned by Guangzhou Yuexiu Cement
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries,
at the consideration of approximately
RMB405.8 million. These companies were
controlled by several jointly controlled
entities in which the Group acquired 50%
equity interest on 5 December 2010

Signed an agreement to acquire a cement
production plant under construction in
Longyan City, Fujian, together with all
the assets and liabilities associated with
the plant owned by an independent
third party at the total consideration of
approximately RMB277.2 million. Further
amount has been expected to be invested
to complete the construction of one 4500
tons per day (annual production capacity
of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker production
line and two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 2.0
million tons

Commencement of operations of the first
5000 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.6 million tons) NSP clinker
production line and two cement grinding
lines with total annual production capacity
of 2.0 million tons in Wuxuan County,
Guangxi
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2 April 2011

24 May 2011

24 May 2011

Commencement of operations of
the fourth 5000 tons per day (annual
production capacity of 1.6 million tons)
NSP clinker production line in Fengkai
County, Guangdong

Commencement of operations of the
4800 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.5 million tons) NSP clinker
production line in Liulin County, Shanxi

Entered into an asset transfer agreement
with an independent third party at the
total consideration of approximately
RMB280.0 million. The assets acquired,
which are located in Fangshan County,
Luliang City, Shangxi, include (1) a 1200
tons per day (annual production capacity
of 372,000 tons) NSP clinker production
line and two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of
700,000 tons in operation; and (2) two
5000 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.6 million tons each) NSP
clinker production lines and four cement
grinding lines with total annual production
capacity of 4 million tons under
construction

13
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29 June 2011

3 August 2011

Signed an agreement to acquire from
an independent third party 40.6%
equity interest in Inner Mongolia Mengxi
Cement Co., Ltd. at the consideration
of RMB1,563.1 million. Inner Mongolia
Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd. operates eight
NSP clinker production lines with total
production capacity of approximately
29,900 tons per day (total annual
production capacity of 9.3 million tons)
and twenty two cement grinding lines
with total annual production capacity of
12.5 million tons. Inner Mongolia Mengxi
Cement Co., Ltd. also has a 5000 tons per
day NSP clinker production line (annual
production capacity of 1.6 million tons)
and two cement grinding lines with total
annual production capacity of 2.0 million
tons under construction

Commencement of operations of one
4500 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker
production line and two cement grinding
lines with total annual production capacity
of 1.9 million tons in Longyan City, Fujian

Commencement of operations of one
4500 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker
production line and two cement grinding
lines with total annual production capacity
of 1.9 million tons in Yongding County,
Fujian
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26 August 2011

5 October 2011

Signed an agreement to acquire from
two independent third parties a total of
93.79% effective equity interests in Dali
San Teh Cement Co., Ltd. and Dali San
Teh Building Materials Industry Co., Ltd.
at the consideration of approximately
RMB1,287.1 million. The companies
together operate three 2500 tons per
day NSP clinker production lines (annual
production capacity of 775,000 tons
each) and five cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 4.0
million tons in Yunnan. The companies
also have a 2500 tons per day NSP
clinker production line (annual production
capacity of 775,000 tons) and one cement
grinding line with annual production
capacity of 1.0 million tons under
construction in Yunnan. Subsequently in
November 2011, acquisition of additional
3.585% effective equity interests in Dali
San Teh Cement Co., Ltd. and Dali San Teh
Building Materials Industry Co., Ltd. from
independent third parties was made at the
consideration of RMB47.3 million

Commencement of operations of one
5000 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.6 million tons) NSP clinker
production line and two cement grinding
lines with total annual production capacity
of 1.9 million tons in Luchuan County,
Guangxi

Commencement of operations of the
second 5000 tons per day (annual
production capacity of 1.6 million tons)
NSP clinker production line and two
cement grinding lines with total annual
production capacity of 2.0 million tons in
Shangsi County, Guangxi
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19 October 2011

29 November 2011

13 January 2012

Signed an agreement to acquire from
six independent third parties the entire
equity interest in Fujian Zhangping
Zhenhong Cement Co., Ltd. at the total
consideration of approximately RMB292.0
million. Fujian Zhangping Zhenhong
Cement Co., Ltd. operates a 2500 tons
per day NSP clinker production line
(annual production capacity of 775,000
tons) and two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 1
million tons in Zhangping City, Fujian

Successfully won the tender of 31.08%
equity interest in China Resources Cement
(Changjiang) Limited held by a non-
controlling shareholder in a public tender
at the consideration of approximately
RMB339.9 million. The acquisition was
completed in December 2011 and the
Company owned 94.53% equity interest
in this subsidiary

Successfully won the tender of 1.87%
equity interest in China Resources Cement
(Changjiang) Limited held by a non-
controlling shareholder in a public tender
at the consideration of approximately
RMB20.6 million. Upon completion of the
transfer, the Company will own 96.4%
equity interest in this subsidiary



—E——F —E-FF —EENF

2011 2010 2009
EEH(BEET) Turnover (HK$ million) 23,240.0 14,1415 6,906.9
REFAIE TR TE R EBITDA (HK$ million)
iR (B&ET) 6,876.0 3,3183 1,640.1
FREEN(B&ET) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 4,344.6 2,133.8 1,027.3
RAEHEE ANEGZEF Profit attributable to owners of
(B8%T) the Company (HK$ million) 4,179.0 2,040.8 1,010.2
FRREAREF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 0.641 0.313 0.400
R-E——F E’Q\:?—Ei RZEE 71%
tZAZ+-8 +ZAS+-B +oAZt-
As at As at As at
31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2009
EESTE(BEET) Total assets (HK$ million) 50,457.8 35,327.9 24,2339
RATHEB AEGER Equity attributable to owners of
(BEBIL) the Company (HK$ million) 19,298.7 14,776.3 12,257.6
R (A8ET) Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 602.5 469.0 373.0
ERFE (BEAT) (i#71) Net borrowings (HK$ million) (note 1) 17,625.5 9,095.7 3,2252
BEE(72) Gearing ratio (note 2) 110.8% 89.5% 76.5%
FEEE (773) Net gearing ratio (note 3) 91.3% 61.6% 26.3%
BREESFE-F®OET) Net assets per share — book (HK$)
(it4) (note 4) 2.96 2.27 1.88
i notes:
1. BRFEENEEEREHNA S RRITERUARBEER 1. Net borrowings equal to total indebtedness less cash and bank balances and
AT pledged bank deposits.
2. BERDUBEEERUAARES ABGERST 2 Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total indebtedness by equity attributable to
Ho owners of the Company.
3. FEERTMEFERUAR MRS ARG 3. Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to
B owners of the Company.
4. BREEFE-REARAREE AERRERBRIA - 4 Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of

FRENEHITROBEE -

the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.
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The consolidated turnover and the consolidated profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011
amounted to HK$23,240.0 million and HK$4,179.0 million, representing
respective increases of 64.3% and 104.8% over last year. Basic earnings
per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK$0.641. The
outstanding performance was mainly attributable to (i) the increase
in sales volume resulting from increased production capacity through
construction and acquisitions; (ii) increase in selling prices of our products
resulting from strong demand in Southern China despite the sluggish
selling price trend in the fourth quarter of 2011; and (i) improved
efficiency achieved through economies of scale.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.06
per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: HK$0.045).
Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
18 May 2012 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 10 May 2012. Such final dividend will not
be subject to any withholding tax in Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.05 per share (2010: Nil)
and total distribution for the year ended 31 December 2011 is HK$0.11
per share (2010: HK$0.045).
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2011 was the commencement year of China’s Twelfth Five-year Plan.
With the impact of the weak recovery of the world economy, the
continuous tightening of domestic monetary policy and the gradually
fading out of the economic stimulation policies in China, the economic
growth in China for 2011 was slowed down, yet a relatively high level of
growth could still be maintained. According to the data released by the
National Bureau of Statistics, the GDP of China in 2011 grew by 9.2%
and amounted to RMB 47.2 trillion. Notwithstanding the tightening
monetary policy, the weakening investment growth in railways and the
sliding of real estate investment which slowed down the growth of the
national FAI in the second half of 2011, the effective implementation of
the Twelfth Five-year Plan in the individual provinces still led to a rapid
growth in FAI. According to the data of the National Bureau of Statistics,
the national FAI in 2011 achieved a nominal growth rate of 23.6%,
which amounted to RMB31.1 trillion. Since the second half of the year,
the tightening monetary policy has started relaxing along with the fast
fall in consumer price index. In 2012, China will continue to strengthen
and improve on macroeconomic policy, to implement proactive fiscal
policies and prudent monetary policies, and to promote stable and rapid
economic development, which will provide a more favorable environment
for development of cement industry.

According to the data released by the relevant provincial Bureau of
Statistics, the GDP of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Shanxi
and Yunnan where we operated in 2011 reached RMB5,267.4 billion,
RMB1,171.4 billion, RMB1,741.0 billion, RMB251.5 billion, RMB1,110.0
billion and RMB875.1 billion, representing increases of 10.0%, 12.3%,
12.2%, 12.0%, 13.0% and 13.7% over 2010 respectively. The provincial
total FAI reached RMB1,693.3 billion, RMB1,014.3 billion, RMB1,011.9
billion, RMB161.1 billion, RMB737.3 billion and RMB711.0 billion,
representing increases of 17.6%, 29.1%, 27.1%, 36.2%, 27.3% and
27.4% over 2010 respectively.
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In 2011, China’s urbanization level was further lifted. According to the
data of the National Bureau of Statistics, China’s urbanization rate of
2011 reached 51.3%, which was 1.3 percentage points higher than that
of 2010. The urbanization process has accelerated investment in urban
infrastructure and created strong demand for cement. According to
China’s Twelfth Five-year Plan, the urbanization rate of China will rise by
over 0.8 percentage point on average annually in the coming years. This
indicates that cement demand brought by urbanization will continue.

Since early 2011, despite China’s continuous control measures to curb
housing price increases and the apparent effect obtained in the first-tier
and second-tier cities, the wide scale of social housing construction still
drove a rapid growth of real estate investment, and offset the impact
of the slowdown of investment in residential housing in the first-tier
and second-tier cities. According to the data of the National Bureau of
Statistics, investment in real estate development nationwide in 2011
reached RMB 6,174.0 billion, representing an increase of 27.9% over
2010. The total area of real estate completed nationwide in 2011 was
approximately 892.4 million square meters, representing an increase of
13.3% over 2010. According to the information provided by the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, 4.3 million sets of social
homes were completed in 2011 and more than 5 million sets will be
completed in 2012. In line with the national target of 36 million social
homes to be completed during the Twelfth Five-year period, we expect
the real estate sector will bring more cement demand in the coming
years.

In 2011, the high speed railroad accident has led to the continuous
decrease in the growth rate of railway construction investment
nationwide since August 2011. According to the data of the National
Bureau of Statistics, investment in railways for the year reached
RMB576.7 billion, representing a decrease of 22.5% over the previous
year. In 2012, the Ministry of Railway will budget FAIl in railways in the
amount of RMB500.0 billion, which is expected to bring in relatively
stable demand for cement.

During the Twelfth Five-year period, China plans to invest RMB 2.0 trillion
in the development of water conservation construction. According to
the statistics of the Ministry of Water Resources, investment in water
conservation construction reached RMB334.1 billion in 2011. We
anticipate the future investment in water conservation construction
projects will increase further, particularly when the already commenced
water conservation projects entering their substantive construction phase,
which will create gradual increase in demand for cement.
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In 2011, the Chinese cement market continued to maintain strong
demand and total cement production was approximately 2.1 billion tons,
representing an increase of 11.7% over 2010. Among them, cement
production in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Shanxi and Yunnan
reached approximately 127 million tons, 86 million tons, 66 million
tons, 15 million tons, 39 million tons and 65 million tons, representing
increases of approximately 9.7%, 15.7%, 13.5%, 19.3%, 19.3% and
15.1% respectively over 2010. According to the statistics of the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology, about 114 NSP production lines
commenced operation in 2011 which have increased the total annual
clinker production capacity in China by approximately 165 million tons.

In July 2011, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
announced the list of obsolete production capacity of cement industry
to be eliminated by the end of the year and planned to eliminate 153.3
million tons of obsolete cement production capacity involving 782
cement enterprises by the end of the year. Among them, there were
3.4 million tons in Guangdong, involving 22 enterprises; 3.0 million
tons in Guangxi, involving 18 enterprises; 1.4 million tons in Fujian,
involving 8 enterprises; 0.8 million tons in Hainan, involving 5 enterprises;
12.8 million tons in Shanxi, involving 78 enterprises; 1.0 million tons in
Yunnan, involving 5 enterprises, and the closure of the obsolete cement
production capacities has been orderly carried out.

In November 2011, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
issued the “Twelfth Five-year Development Plan of Cement Industry”.
The development plan focused on control of total capacity, green
environment development and innovation. It plans, by 2015, to eliminate
250 million tons of obsolete cement production capacity, achieve
compliance of emission standards for the main pollutants (such as carbon
dioxide, nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and dust), achieve a 10% ratio
of production lines implementing treatment of municipal solid waste
and industrial waste, raise the total consumption of wastes in cement
production by 20% and raise the concentration of production capacity
of the top 10 enterprises from 25.3% in 2010 to over 35.0%. The
implementation of this development plan will accelerate energy saving
and emission reduction of the Chinese cement industry, raise the pace
of consolidation of the industry, speed up the elimination of obsolete
production capacity, and enhance technological and innovational
capabilities of cement enterprises. This will be beneficial to large cement
enterprises including the Company which always emphasize on the
importance of social responsibility, are concerned with energy saving
and emission reduction, possess higher production technology and
management standards, and carry lower emission level of pollutants.
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The policies issued by the Chinese Government regarding the restrictions
on approving new clinker production lines in September 2009 and the
“Entry Conditions for Cement Industry” in November 2010 will continue
to be effective in the current year and addition of new production
capacity is expected to decrease gradually in the next two years. The
policies will promote the industry consolidation and raise the market
concentration. While the obsolete cement production capacity continues
to be eliminated and the demand for cement continues to increase,
the cement market will become tense and is expected to bring positive
impact on the cement price in the Chinese Mainland and the earnings of
the Company.

The Group has been implementing circular economy and energy saving,
and seeks to maintain its competitiveness through continuous reliance on
technological innovation. In March 2011, the Group established China
Resources Cement Technology Center in Guangzhou in order to focus
on research and development of new technologies on energy saving and
emission reduction, so as to effectively reduce the emission levels.

In March 2011, we participated in the “China Resources Hezhou Industry
Demonstration Zone of Circular Economy” project, which is a national
level project jointly established with China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited and China Resources Snow Breweries Limited aiming
to cultivate the circular industry chain, and achieve zero emission of
pollutants and water recycling. The project is expected to commence full
operation by the end of 2012 and we will replicate this business model in
other areas in the future.

Since we have become the co-chairman of Cement Sustainability Initiative
in China, we have insisted on implementing emission control standards
which comply with the international standards. While we maintain our
leading status in energy saving and emission reduction in the industry,
we have also actively organized communications with international
enterprises and trainings for our industry peers, and strive to foster the
catching up with international standards in energy saving, emission
reduction, resources utilization, employee health, safety and community
harmony.
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The Group paid high attention to a clean working atmosphere. In 2011,
the Group appointed Madam SUN Mingquan, the Deputy General
Manager of the Company, as the Commissioner of Anti-corruption
of the Company with special mandate to promote the establishment
of the Company’s anti-corruption and integrity policies, improve the
internal control procedures, and monitor and control the source of risks
for anti-corruption and integrity. During the year, the Group improved
and implemented the “Integrity Code on Procurement”
Procurement Procedures”, the “Tender and Assessment Procedures”
and the "Project Certification Procedures”, performed specific purpose
audit on high priority areas for anti-corruption and integrity (such as
project development, tender and procurement), established an “integrity
conversation system”, to ensure the integrity of the managers, and
enhance the confidence of employees and all walks of life on the Group.

, the “Sunshine

Since 2011, we have strategically entered new regional markets
such as Inner Mongolia and Yunnan through acquisitions and have
moved forward our expansion strategy of “Based in the South, target
nationwide”. According to the data released by the China Cement Net,
we have been ranked at the forefront among China’s cement enterprises
in terms of clinker production capacity.

As at 31 December 2011, the annual production capacities of clinker,
cement and concrete in operation held through our subsidiaries
amounted to 47.3 million tons, 68.7 million tons and 32.0 million m?
respectively. In addition, the cement companies in Guangzhou which we
hold through jointly controlled entities and the associated companies
that operate in Inner Mongolia, which we have equity interest, had
total annual clinker and cement production capacities in operation of
14.5 million tons and 20.7 million tons, of which the annual clinker and
cement production capacities attributable to the Company according
to equity interest amounted to 6.5 million tons and 9.7 million tons
respectively. In view of the continuous slowdown of domestic economic
growth, we take the initiative to control the financial risk and postpone
the planned construction of certain projects. Based on the current
construction plan on production capacity and provided that we do not
have any further acquisition, our annual production capacities held
through subsidiaries for clinker, cement and concrete will amount to 51.6
million tons, 74.7 million tons and 39.2 million m? respectively by the
end of 2012; 58.8 million tons, 79.7 million tons and 46.4 million m3
respectively by the end of 2013; and 66.0 million tons, 89.0 million tons
and 53.6 million m3, respectively by the end of 2014.
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The Group is currently a leading cement supplier with business covering
Southern China and Shanxi. We will further strengthen our leading
market position and achieve the objective of having at least 25% market
share in all our operating areas. We will continue to persist in and
promote the “3 (control, conversion and distribution of resources) + 2
(lowest total cost, leading in regional market)” development strategy and
expand production capacity in our operating areas and other regions with
strategic value, mainly through mergers and acquisitions.

According to national and individual provincial Twelfth Five-year Plans,
the central and local governments will continue to increase investment
in aspects such as water conservation, energy and housing in the next
few years. The continuous advancement of China’s urbanization will
drive the continuous growth of urban infrastructure investment. The
national long-term development plans of the provinces where we operate
(including the Pearl River Delta Development Plan and the Henggin
Overall Development Plan in Guangdong, the North Bay Economic
Zone Development Plan in Guangxi, the West Coast of Taiwan Straits
Economic Zone Development Plan in Fujian, the International Tourism
Island Plan in Hainan, the Resources Type Economic Transform and
Integrated Reform Experimental District Plan in Shanxi, etc.) have entered
a substantive construction phase, and are expected to continuously and
rapidly promote the economic development and FAI of our operating
areas and increase the demand for cement and concrete products. We
will seize this strategic historical opportunity, fully utilize the advantages
of industrial policies, promote industry consolidation, strengthen research
and development and innovation, constantly reduce emissions and costs,
gradually enhance the delicacy of the management level, remain robust
and high-quality growth, devoted with a thanksgiving heart and move
towards the goal of “being the best and the most respected cement and
concrete supplier”.

| would like to thank the Board and all employees for their continued
loyalty, diligence, and contributions to the Group. On behalf of the Board,
I would also like to express our heartfelt thanks to our shareholders,
bankers, customers and suppliers for their continuing support.

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 2 March 2012
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On 24 January 2011, the Company approved the acquisition of the non-
controlling equity interest in certain companies that engaged in clinker,
cement and concrete operations in Guangzhou City of Guangdong and
Hong Kong, which were owned by Guangzhou Yuexiu Cement Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries, at the consideration of approximately
RMB405.8 million (equivalent to HK$500.6 million). These companies
were controlled by several jointly controlled entities in which the Group
acquired 50% equity interest in December 2010. The acquisition of these
non-controlling interests was completed in December 2011.

On 27 January 2011, the Company approved the acquisition of a cement
production plant under construction in Longyan City, Fujian, together
with all the assets and liabilities associated with the plant owned by
an independent third party at the total consideration of approximately
RMB277.2 million (equivalent to HK$341.9 million). Please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 27 January 2011 for details of the
acquisition. The acquisition was completed in January 2011. Further
amount has been expected to be invested to complete the construction
of one 4500 tons per day (annual production capacity of 1.4 million tons)
NSP clinker production line and two cement grinding lines with total
annual production capacity of 2.0 million tons.

On 26 March 2011, the Company approved the acquisition of the entire
equity interest in Fuzhou Xinshi Cement Co., Ltd. (subsequently renamed
as China Resources Cement (Lianjiang) Limited) from two independent
third parties at the consideration of RMB110.0 million (equivalent to
HK$135.7 million). Fuzhou Xinshi Cement Co., Ltd. operates two cement
grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 1.2 million tons
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in Lianjiang County, Fujian. According to the supplemental agreement
and the agreement for assignment of the shareholders loan between
the relevant parties dated 20 May 2011, the consideration of RMB110.0
million (equivalent to HK$135.7 million) was subsequently adjusted to
approximately RMB98.4 million (equivalent to HK$121.4 million) and the
remaining portion of the consideration of approximately RMB11.6 million
(equivalent to HK$14.3 million) was paid as consideration for the amount
of shareholder’s loan being assigned. The acquisition was completed in
May 2011.

On 24 May 2011, the Company approved the acquisition of assets
and liabilities relating to (1) a 1200 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 372,000 tons) NSP clinker production line and two cement
grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 700,000 tons in
operation; and (2) two 5000 tons per day (annual production capacity
of 1.6 million tons each) NSP clinker production lines and four cement
grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 4.0 million tons
under construction, in Fangshan County, Luliang City, Shangxi, from
an independent third party, at the total consideration of approximately
RMB280.0 million (equivalent to HK$345.4 million). Further amount has
been expected to be invested to complete the construction. Please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 24 May 2011 for details of the
acquisition. The acquisition was completed in December 2011.

On 29 June 2011, the Company approved the acquisition of 40.6%
equity interest in Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd. from an
independent third party at the consideration of RMB1,563.1 million
(equivalent to HK$1,928.1 million). Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co.,
Ltd. operates eight NSP clinker production lines with total production
capacity of approximately 29,900 tons per day (total annual production
capacity of 9.3 million tons) and twenty two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 12.5 million tons. Inner Mongolia
Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd. also has a 5000 tons per day NSP clinker
production line (annual production capacity of 1.6 million tons) and two
cement grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 2.0 million
tons under construction. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 29 June 2011 for details of the acquisition. The acquisition was
completed in July 2011.

ARERAOEBRHBERABFELRAR G BEAKBEESN

Cement production plant located at Wuhai, Inner Mongolia owned by Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd.
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Cement production plant located at Midu, Yunnan
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On 26 August 2011, the Company approved the acquisitions of a total
of 93.79% effective equity interests in Dali San Teh Cement Co., Ltd. and
Dali San Teh Building Materials Industry Co., Ltd. from two independent
third parties at the consideration of approximately RMB1,287.1 million
(equivalent to HK$1,587.6 million). The companies together operate
three 2500 tons per day NSP clinker production lines (@annual production
capacity of 775,000 tons each) and five cement grinding lines with total
annual production capacity of 4.0 million tons in Yunnan. The companies
also have a 2500 tons per day NSP clinker production line (annual
production capacity of 775,000 tons) and one cement grinding line with
annual production capacity of 1.0 million tons under construction in
Yunnan. Further amount has been expected to be invested to complete
the construction. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 26 August 2011 for details of the acquisitions. Subsequently in
November 2011, the Company approved the acquisition of additional
3.585% effective equity interests in Dali San Teh Cement Co., Ltd. and
Dali San Teh Building Materials Industry Co., Ltd. from independent third
parties at the consideration of RMB47.3 million (equivalent to HK$58.3
million). The above acquisitions were completed in December 2011.

On 19 October 2011, the Company approved the acquisition of the
entire equity interest in Fujian Zhangping Zhenhong Cement Co.,
Ltd. from six independent third parties at the total consideration of
approximately RMB292.0 million (equivalent to HK$360.2 million). Fujian
Zhangping Zhenhong Cement Co., Ltd. operates a 2500 tons per day
NSP clinker production line (annual production capacity of 775,000 tons)
and two cement grinding lines with total annual production capacity of
1.0 million tons in Zhangping City, Fujian. Please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 19 October 2011 for details of the acquisition. The
acquisition was completed in October 2011.
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On 29 November 2011, the Company successfully won the tender of
31.08% equity interest in China Resources Cement (Changjiang) Limited
held by a non-controlling shareholder, an independent third party, in a
public tender at the consideration of approximately R\MB339.9 million
(equivalent to HK$419.3 million). The acquisition was completed in
December 2011 and the Company owned 94.53% equity interest in this
subsidiary.

Subsequent to the year end on 13 January 2012, the Company
successfully won the tender of 1.87% equity interest in China Resources
Cement (Changjiang) Limited held by a non-controlling shareholder,
an independent third party, in a public tender at the consideration of
approximately RMB20.6 million (equivalent to HK$25.4 million). As
at the date of this report, a deposit of RMB10.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$12.2 million) has been made.

Apart from the above acquisitions, the Group completed the construction
of seven self-constructed clinker production lines during the year which
increased the Group’s annual clinker production capacity by 10.8 million
tons. They were Wuxuan 1st line (5000 tons per day) in March, Fengkai
4th line (5000 tons per day) in April, Longyan 1st line (4500 tons per day)
and Yongding 1st (4500 tons per day) in August, Luchuan 1st line (5000
tons per day) and Shangsi 2nd line (5000 tons per day) in October in
Southern China, and Liulin 2nd line (4800 tons per day) in May in Shanxi.
Construction of the fourteen cement grinding lines to match the clinker
production lines were also completed during the year and the Group's
annual cement grinding production capacity increased by 13.4 million
tons. There were also five concrete batching plants being completed
or acquired during the year 2011, increasing our total annual concrete
production capacity by 3.0 million m2.
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As at 31 December 2011, the Group controlled total clinker, cement and
concrete production capacities of 47.3 million tons, 68.7 million tons
and 32.0 million m? respectively. In addition, the total clinker and cement
production capacities attributable to the Group according to the effective
equity interest in jointly controlled entities and associated companies
amounted to 6.5 million tons and 9.7 million tons respectively. During the
year 2011, we managed to maintain production activities at high level
and the utilization rates of our cement, clinker and concrete production
lines were 85.1%, 117.4% and 47.2% respectively for year 2011 as
compared with 85.7%, 111.4% and 51.5% for year 2010.

During 2011, in order to control the risk on coal procurement, the Group
stepped up on-site inspection of coal and hired third party specialists to
assist in the inspection which has effectively warranted the quality of
the coal. Meanwhile, the Group also focused on developing strategic
cooperation with suppliers and strictly applied categorized management
and performed monthly quality assessment of suppliers (in 2011, we
added 21 new suppliers and removed 5 unqualified suppliers and
currently, we have 66 coal suppliers). In order to reduce the risk on supply,
the Group continued to increase the proportion of coal procurement from
Northern China. Out of the coal purchased by the Group in 2011, about
45% by volume were imported from abroad (71% in 2010). During
the year, through strategic synergy, the Group purchased approximately
600,000 tons of coal from China Resources Power Logistics (Tianjin)
Company Limited at market price, representing approximately 8% of the
Group's total coal purchases for 2011 (5% in 2010). We expect to further
enhance this kind of procurement.

In order to sustain the core competitiveness on logistics, the Group
formulated the logistics strategic plan and has committed to establish
a vast logistics system during the Twelfth Five-year period which
covers logistics of sales and procurement, integrates warehousing and
transportation comprising river transport, sea transport, transshipment,
road transport and railway transport, and controls logistic resources such
as motor vehicles, vessels, warehouses and ports.
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In order to strengthen the water transport management on the Xijiang
River, the Group established the Xijiang Waterway Global Positioning
System which was integrated with the Enterprise Resource Planning
so as to control the location, cargo and transport of vessels on a real-
time basis, and has significantly improved the capability of scheduling
and supply guarantee. In July 2011, through a centralized tender, the
Group formed a secured water transport capacity of more than 300,000
tons, which accounted for approximately 30% of the total annual water
transport capacity on the Xijiang River. In addition, Guangxi Rungui Water
Transportation Limited, of which the Group holds 49% equity interest,
currently owns 17 vessels with annual transport capacity of approximately
1.1 million tons. The control of these water transport capacities has
provided us with long-term, stable guarantee of water transport capacity
and has also enabled us to further control our cost of transportation on
the Xijiang River. The Group also initialized a new “vehicle transportation
and distribution management system” in certain areas and has reduced
the cost of vehicle transportation.

The largest inland water terminal in China at our cement production plant at Fengkai, Guangdong
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As at 31 December 2011, the Group established a total of 32 silo
terminals along the Xijiang River and its tributaries (mainly in Pearl River
Delta region of Guangdong) with annual transshipment capacity of
over 20.0 million tons. The logistical competitive advantage of “water
transportation + transshipment” has become more remarkable.
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In March 2011, we participated in the “China Resources Hezhou Industry
Demonstration Zone of Circular Economy” project, which is a national level
project on circular industry chain jointly established with China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited. The project consists of a cement plant with annual production
capacity of 2.0 million tons, a power plant with total installed capacity
of 2,000 megawatt and a brewery with annual production capacity of
200,000 tons. The cement plant will provide limestone powder to the
power plant for desulfurization, the power plant will supply electricity to
the cement plant and the brewery and also steam to the brewery, the
brewery will supply recycled water to the power plant whereas all industrial
wastes and garbage generated by all the plants will be consumed as raw
material for cement production after harmless disposal treatment. Zero
discharge of pollutants and water recycling can be achieved within the
development zone and a huge amount of land resources is also saved. The
cement plant has already commenced operation in May 2010. The two
generating units of the power plant are planned to commence operation
in June and December 2012 respectively whereas the brewery is expected
to commence operation in October 2012. Once the project formally
commences full operation and brings significant economic benefits, we will
replicate this business model in other areas.

Schematic map of China Resources Hezhou Industry Demonstration Zone of Circular Economy
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The Group’s technology and production capacity on using cement
kiln in treatment of city sludge is already at the leading level in China.
The cement company in Guangzhou held by the Company through a
jointly controlled entity operates a production line that can process 600
tons of sludge daily. We will promote this technology in the Group's
production lines so as to make contribution to the urban development
and improvement to people’s livelihood in China.

In March 2011, the Group established the China Resources Cement
Technology Centre in Guangzhou, with focus on research and
development on new technology on energy saving and emission
reduction, and eco-friendly products and new processes with prominent
economic benefits. We will enhance our investment in research and
development, and continue to work hard so as to become a first class
enterprise leading the future of the industry.

In 2011, the Group established the Safety and Environmental Protection
Department which was under the direct supervision of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer and set up safety production departments and
engaged safety managers in certain subsidiaries. The Group formulated
24 sets of safety regulations including the “Safety Management Work
Procedures”, arranged various safety training sessions such as “Employee
safety behavior observation”, “Analysis of dangerous and hazardous
factors in cement production” and topics relating to safety management-
related knowledge for management teams at all levels, employees and
third party contracting units, and organized a number of emergency drills
such as “fire emergency drill”, “mine flood prevention drill” and “ fire
and explosion incident drill for coal and grinding system”. In 2011, the
Group conducted four safety inspections in order to remove and rectify
any hidden safety hazards, so as to ensure the Group would be prevented
from substantial safety risks.
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REPORT FROM CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

QUALITY TESTING AND RECOGNITION

In 2011, Quality Control Consultants Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company which principally engaged in the provision
of construction materials testing and calibration services, was granted
the approval for using the “International Laboratory Accreditation
Cooperation (ILAC) Laboratory Combined MRA Mark” by the Hong Kong
Accreditation Service. Accordingly, its test results have gained access to
the recognition of 74 mutual recognition arrangement partners in 60
economies worldwide which indicate that the Company’s construction
materials testing technology has reached international level.

In 2011, Quality Control Consultants Limited was also granted the
extension of scope of accreditation covering the full set of concrete
physical testing in the latest Construction Standard CS1 and cement
chemical testing in the latest European Standard EN196 under the Hong
Kong Laboratory Accreditation Scheme (HOKLAS) launched by the
Hong Kong Accreditation Service. Quality Control Consultants Limited
is the first commercial laboratory in Hong Kong to obtain the aforesaid
achievements.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

There are more details regarding our Group's performance in the section
on Management Discussion and Analysis in this report.

PAN Yonghong
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 2 March 2012
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Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2011
amounted to HK$23,240.0 million, representing an increase of 64.3%
over HK$14,141.5 million for the previous year. An analysis of segmental
turnover by product is as follows:

—B--% —T-TF
#HE THEE EXE #HE THEE EXE
T T
B,/ A% B TR W/UpK BT ThT
201 2010
Average Average
Volume  selling price Turnover Volume selling price Turnover
‘000 ‘000
tons/m? HKS HK$'000 tons/im’ HKS HK$'000
44,190 369.5 16,327,899 29,586 336.0 9,939,832
6,428 3063 1,968,879 3,146 2747 864,315
13,832 3574 4,943,183 10,770 3099 3,337,390
23,239,961 14,141,537

With the increase in production capacities from the acquisitions and the
commencement of operation of newly constructed production lines since
2010, we have increased our external sales volume of cement by 14.6
million tons, clinker by 3.3 million tons and concrete by 3.1 million m3 in
2011, representing increases of 49.4%, 104.3% and 28.4% respectively
over year 2010. For the year 2011, approximately 72.9% of the cement
products we sold were of 42.5 or higher grades (77.9% in 2010) and
approximately 35.6% of our cement products were sold in bags (30.4%
in 2010). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete production
was 2,796,000 tons (2,033,000 tons in 2010), representing 6.0% of the
total volume of cement sold (6.4% in 2010). The intra-group transactions
of HK$1,032,348,000 were eliminated from turnover on consolidation in
2011 (HK$703,202,000 in 2010).
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The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2011 were
HK$369.5 per ton, HK$306.3 per ton and HK$357.4 per m? respectively,
representing increases of 10.0%, 11.5% and 15.3% respectively over

2010. Selling prices of cement products did not increase in the fourth

guarter as it has been expected for peak season due to accumulation of

inventory near the end of September and early October as the result of

a period of unusual torrential rain during that period. The increases in

average selling prices of cement and clinker in 2011 primarily reflected:

M

Increased coal price for the year: As mentioned in the next section

on major production costs, average coal price increased by 15.2%

over that of the previous year. We adjusted our selling prices to

reflect the increase in coal cost.

Market demand and supply: The demand for cement was strong

during the year despite moderate slow down of construction

activities in the second half of the year.

Higher value on translation of sales originally denominated
in RMB into HK$ for the purpose of financial reporting. RMB
appreciated against HK$ by the average of 5.0% in 2011.

The increase in average selling price of concrete in 2011 reflected the

increase in cost of production due to the increase in cement prices.

Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2011 were as follows:

#E
TH

Volume
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17,732
17,725
3,592
3,420
1,721

44,190
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Average
selling price
HK$

394.9
3287
406.3
446.8
297.2

369.5
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Turnover
HK$'000

7,002,254
5,826,630
1,459,517
1,528,076

511422

16,327,899
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Volume
'000 tons

11,702
13,173
1,300
3,398
13

29,586
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2010
Average
selling price
HK$

353.0
3054
3538
389.1
389.8

336.0

TRL

Turnover
HK$'000

4,130,232
4,022,429
459,947
1,322,157
5,067

9,939,832
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Major production costs

The average price of coal we purchased in 2011 was around HK$855
per ton, representing an increase of 15.2% from the average price
of HK$742 per ton in 2010, while the quality of coal was better with
average thermal value increased by 0.8% to 4,750 kcal per kg. During
the year, our unit coal consumption decreased to 164.5 kg per ton of
clinker produced, representing a decrease of 0.5% from the average
of 165.3 kg per ton of clinker produced for 2010. Our standard coal
consumption increased from 108.9 kg per ton of clinker in 2010 to 109.5
kg per ton of clinker for the year, due to the performance of the small
kilns which were acquired and the new clinker production lines which
commenced operations during the year. Due to the increase in coal
price and coal consumption, our average coal cost of production for the
year increased by 14.6% to HK$140.7 per ton of clinker produced from
HK$122.7 per ton of clinker produced in 2010. Coal cost represented
approximately 46.3% of the cost of sales of cement for the year (43.4%
in 2010) and approximately 38.5% of the Group’s total cost of sales for
the year (35.1% in 2010).

Our electricity cost increased by 4.1% to HK$43.2 per ton of cement
for the year (HK$41.5 in 2010) due to increase in electricity tariffs in
the various regions from June to December 2011 and the translation
of expenses incurred due to the appreciation of RMB against HK$. We
managed to improve our electricity consumption to 86.9 kwh per ton of
cement produced for the year (88.7 kwh in 2010), representing a cost
saving of approximately HK$57.0 million (HK$54.7 million in 2010). Our
residual heat recovery generators performed satisfactorily and generated
1,143.5 million kwh of electricity in the year, representing an increase
of 49.7% over 764.0 million kwh of electricity generated in 2010. The
electricity generated in the year accounted for approximately 25% (25%
in 2010) of our required electricity consumption and we achieved a cost
saving of approximately HK$677.2 million for the year (HK$416.6 million
in 2010). Electricity cost represented approximately 17.3% of the cost of
sales of cement for the year (18.4% in 2010) and approximately 14.4%
of the Group's total cost of sales for the year (14.9% in 2010).
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Gross profit and gross margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2011 was HK$7,224.0 million,
representing an increase of 61.9% over HK$4,463.3 million for 2010 and
the consolidated gross margin was 31.1%, representing a decrease of
0.5 percentage points from 31.6% for 2010. The increase in consolidated
gross profit for year 2011 was mainly attributable to the increase in sales
volume and selling prices of our cement products. The gross margins of
cement, clinker and concrete for 2011 were 34.0%, 24.7% and 24.0%,
as compared with 35.6%, 17.2% and 23.3% respectively for 2010. The
gross margins of cement products by province for 2011 are: Guangdong
37.6% (35.5% in 2010), Guangxi 25.2% (30.3% in 2010), Fujian 19.1%
(20.4% in 2010), Hainan 31.8% (24.8% in 2010) and Shanxi 21.7%
(28.0% in 2010).

Other income

Other income for 2011 was HK$606.3 million, representing an increase
of 176.1% over HK$219.6 million for 2010, mainly due to increased
exchange gain of HK$270.3 million derived from net bank loans
denominated in HK$ as a result of the appreciation of RMB against
HK$ and increase in government incentive received of HK$24.0 million
calculated based on value added taxes paid.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2011 were HK$1,228.0 million,
which were 24.1% over HK$989.7 million for 2010. As a percentage
to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution expenses decreased
t0 5.3% in 2011 from 7.0% in 2010. In 2010, additional direct freight
cost of approximately HK$52.7 million was incurred during the first four
months due to the exceptionally low water level in the Xijiang River which
led to higher percentage of selling and distribution expenses. Water level
in Xijiang River has resumed to normal and freight cost has returned to
normal level which has led to lower selling and distribution expenses. The
lower level of selling and distribution expenses was also resulted from our
efforts on logistics management.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2011 were HK$1,325.0 million,
representing an increase of 9.4% over HK$1,211.7 million for 2010. As a
percentage to consolidated turnover, general and administrative expenses
decreased to 5.7% for 2011 from 8.6% for 2010. This was attributable
to the economies of scale achieved from the commencement of
operations of new plants that contributed to the revenue of the Group.
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Share of results of jointly controlled entities and associates

The share of results of jointly controlled entities and associates amounted
to HK$155.0 million (Nil in 2010) and HK$134.4 million (loss of
HK$188,000 in 2010) respectively. These represented the share of net
post-acquisition profit attributable to the Group.

Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2011 was 11.4%, representing an
increase of 7.0 percentage points from 4.4% of 2010. This was because
tax holidays previously enjoyed by certain subsidiaries have been fully
utilized and a higher portion of the profit was generated from subsidiaries
which were subject to the Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax rate
of 25%.

Net margin

Net margin of the Group for 2011 was 18.7%, which was 3.6
percentage points higher than that of 15.1% for 2010. After full
allocation of other income and corporate expenses but excluding share
of results of associates and jointly controlled entities, net profit per ton of
cement products and per m? of concrete were about HK$70.6 (HK$57.8
in 2010) and HK$20.7 (HK$11.6 in 2010) respectively.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:
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As at 31 December
2011 2010
‘000 ‘000
1,400,713 2,396,547
1,877,115 1,451,496
4,305 2,849
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As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s banking facilities amounted
to US$165.0 million, HK$8,330.0 million and RMB17,832.9 million,
of which RMB9,011.0 million was unutilized and remained available
for draw down and the total bank loans of the Group amounting to
HK$20,494.4 million equivalent (HK$13,024.1 million as at 31 December
2010) comprised loans in the following currencies:
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As at 31 December
2011 2010
‘000 ‘000
165,000 130,000
8,330,000 5,655,000
8,821,900 5,410,500

Among these bank loans denominated in RMB, total amount of
HK$409.9 million equivalent was secured by bank deposits and fixed
assets of the Group (HK$440.6 million as at 31 December 2010
was secured by fixed assets) and HK$20,084.5 million equivalent
(HK$12,583.5 million as at 31 December 2010) was unsecured.

All bank loans as at 31 December 2011 carried interests at variable rates
(HK$822.6 million and HK$12,201.5 million carried interests at fixed and
variable rates respectively as at 31 December 2010).

During 2011, the Group obtained certain loans under the master
lending agreements dated 22 November 2010 among the Company, CR
Holdings, China Resources Co., Limited and their respective subsidiaries.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 22 November
2010 for details. As at 31 December 2011, the total amount of the
outstanding loans was HK$880.8 million (Nil as at 31 December 2010)
which comprised loans in the following currency:
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As at 31 December
2011 2010
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880,800 4ENIl
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The above loans are unsecured, interest bearing at rates chargeable under
the master lending agreements and repayable in January 2012.

Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facility of
HK$8,492.5 million equivalent which will expire from February 2012 to
June 2016, CR Holdings, the Company’s holding company, is required
to hold not less than 51% of the voting share capital in the Company.
Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facility of
HK$8,692.5 million equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the Company (as
may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not exceed
180%. The net gearing ratio of the Company as at 31 December 2011,
calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to owners of
the Company, was 91.3% (61.6% as at 31 December 2010).

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$ and
RMB. The Group's exposure to currency risk was attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which were denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which these bank balances
and bank loans were related. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However,
the management monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need
arise. As at 31 December 2011, the Group was engaged in a hedging
contract in the amount of US$100,000,000 for the purpose of the
settlement of a US$ bank loan.

The Group has net current liabilities of HK$9,535.7 million as at
31 December 2011. Taking into account the cash and bank balances,
the unutilized banking facilities, the expected future internally generated
funds and the new banking facilities to be obtained, the Company is
confident that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations
when they fall due in the foreseeable future. The Company will obtain
more bank loan facilities with longer maturity dates in order to strengthen
the liquidity position.

As at 31 December 2011, certain assets of the subsidiaries of the
Company with an aggregate carrying value of HK$548.5 million
(HK$345.5 million as at 31 December 2010) were pledged with banks for
banking facilities used by these subsidiaries.
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— R ARG E 8/ A 250,000,0008 THISRIT  respect of banking facilities in the amount of HK$50.0 million granted to
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EVE RERI TR H R - HAP40,000,00087CE#E)  ajointly controlled entity, of which HK$40.0 million had been utilized.
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BINARFHRA-STNFNLA-+—HMIE  As stated in the prospectus of the Company dated 21 September 2009,
MREHERE AT - ANEBE AT EIFE A EINAFEE  the Group had plans to use the proceeds obtained from the initial
BRADFIERIE- B RIEERTEIFEA -REZE  public offering of the Shares. The proceeds have been used as planned.
TE——F+ - A=+—HILFECFERZAE  The proceeds used during the year ended 31 December 2011 and the
FERR-ZE——F+-A=+—BBFEMH  residual balance to be used as at 31 December 2011 are as follows:

RGBT -

ERsE Expansion Plan

EEURERARBSENEER Construction of production lines in
UKREHRIRBESE SR Tianyang County, Guangxi with
#1,900,000M K2 a total capacity of 1.9 million tons of
1,600,0000 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of clinker

HEEMRERRESZMEER Construction of production lines in
(OERARBBEESF]  Wuxuan County, Guangxi with
#31,900,0000 K2 a total capacity of 1.9 million tons of
1,600,0000 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of clinker
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During the year, the Company approved and commenced the following
construction:

) one clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.4 million
tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity
of 2.0 million tons in Yanshi Town, Longyan City, Fujian, with
total cost of construction amounting to approximately RMB856.6
million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,056.7 million);

(2) one clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.6 million
tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity of
2.0 million tons in Fangshan County, Luliang City, Shanxi, with
the cost of construction amounting to approximately HK$1,307.7
million;

(3) one clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.4 million
tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity of
2.0 million tons in Luoding County, Guangdong, with the cost
of construction amounting to approximately HK$1,142.8 million;
and

4) twelve concrete batching plants with total annual capacity of
7.2 million m?, with the cost of construction amounting to
approximately HK$501.2 million.

Change in construction plan

On 23 December 2010, the Company announced the acquisition of
52.4% equity interest in Shanxi Yaohua Cement Limited (subsequently
renamed as China Resources Cement (Xinzhou) Limited) and the plan
to invest RMB800.0 million to build one 4500 tons per day (annual
production capacity of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker production line and
two cement grinding lines with total annual production capacity of
2.0 million tons in Xinzhou City, Shanxi. After detailed review, it was
considered that the proposed limestone reserve by China Resources
Cement (Xinzhou) Limited would not be suitable for the efficient
operation of the intended clinker and cement production lines. China
Resources Cement (Xinzhou) Limited is currently looking for other
limestone reserves and once a satisfactory supply of limestone is
secured, the Company will re-activate the construction of these intended
production lines.
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projects are as below:

Projects

Construction of production lines in Fengkai
County, Guangdong with a total capacity of
6.0 million tons of cement and 6.2 million
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Fuchuan
County, Guangxi with a total capacity of
1.9 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Shangsi
County, Guangxi with a total capacity of
1.9 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Tianyang
County, Guangxi with a total capacity of
1.9 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Wuxuan
County, Guangxi with a total capacity of
1.9 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Shantou
City, Guangdong with a total capacity of 1.8
million tons of cement

Construction of production lines in Luchuan
County, Guangxi with a total capacity of
1.9 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker

BHREEN +:
et -t
BEET

Total capital
expenditure
for the project
HK$ million

6,557.0

1,169.6

1,501.0

1,082.4

1,0373

2555

1,1274

Expended
asat
31/12/2010
HKS million

5016.7

9503

1,237.0

708.8

603.6

2221

483.2

R=%--%

RAEE +ZA=t-H

EARE
BERET

Expended
during
the year
HK$ million

9189

100.5

106.3

1824

210.7

244

403.8

MBERZ M
RBAT
Outstanding
capital
expenditure
asat
3111272011
HK$ million

621.4

1577

1912

2230

9.0

2404

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has outstanding capital expenditure
in the amount of HK$7,979.6 million of which approximately
HK$6,222.6 million is expected to be expended in 2012. Details of these
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Projects

Construction of production lines in Yongding
County, Fujian, with a total capacity of
1.9 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Yangchun
County, Guangdong with a total capacity of
1.0 million tons of cement and 0.8 million
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Longyan
City, Fujian, with a total capacity of 1.9
million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons
of clinker

Construction of production lines in Liulin
County, Shanxi, with a total capacity of 4.0
million tons of cement and 2.7 million tons
of dlinker

Construction of the second set of production
lines in Shangsi County, Guangxi with a
total capacity of 2.0 million tons of cement
and 1.6 million tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Changzhi
City, Shanxi, with a total capacity of
2.0 million tons of cement and 1.4 million
tons of clinker

Acquisition of production lines in Changzhi
City, Shanxi, with a total capacity of
600,000 tons of cement and 372,000 tons
of dlinker

REEAM
BAxHAE
BERT

Total capital
expenditure
for the project
HKS million

1,507.7

3474

1,464.9

2,608.5

677.2

1,357.1

1721

R-E-BF
+-A=t-H
BHFE
BEAT

Expended
asat
31/12/2010
HKS million

4885

2445

4971

1,982.8

105.7

RAEE
BANE
BEET

Expended
during
the year
HK$ million

644.8

571

470.6

365.5

4410

4572

53

R-E—-F
TZA=t-H
HEAE R H
REAT
Outstanding
capital
expenditure
asat
3111272011

HKS million

3744

458

49722

260.2

899.9
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Projects

Construction of production lines in Yanshi
Town, Longyan City, Fujian, with a total
capacity of 2.0 million tons of cement and
1.4 million tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Fangshan
County, Shanxi, with a total capacity of
2.0 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker

Acquisition of production lines in Fangshan
County, Shanxi, with a total capacity of
700,000 tons of cement and 372,000
tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Luoding
County, Guangdong, with a total capacity
of 2.0 million tons of cement and 1.4
million tons of clinker

Construction of 12 concrete batching plants
with a total capacity of 7.2 million m? of
concrete

Technological upgrade projects and
other purchases of fixed assets

BREEN
BAxHAE
BERT

Total capital
expenditure
for the project
HKS million

1,056.7

1,307.7

3454

11428

501.2

979.3

26,1982

R=Z-%%
+=A=t-H
BRHNE
BEAT

Expended
asat
31/12/2010
HKS million

12,659.6

RAEE
BANE
BEET

Expended
during
the year
HK$ million

124

229

1294

262.1

437

5559.0

financed by bank loans and internally generated funds.

RZE-—-F
+ZR=1-8
MBERX M
ABAT
Outstanding
capital
expenditure

as at
31/112/2011

HKS million

3443

1,284.8

880.7

4575

979.3

7,979.6

Apart from the foregoings, the Group had no other significant planned
capital expenditure or commitment as at 31 December 2011. The above
planned and intended capital expenditures and commitments will be
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As at 31 December 2011, our Group employed a total of 22,807 full time
employees of whom 199 were based in Hong Kong and the remaining
22,608 were based in the Chinese Mainland. A breakdown of our
employees by functions is stated as follows:

Management 295
Finance and administration 3,215
Production and technical 16,789
Quality control 1,985
Sales and marketing 523
Total 22,807

Among our 295 senior and middle managerial staff, 56% possess
university degrees, 34% have received post-secondary education and
their average age is about 41. We offer our employees remuneration
packages mainly on the basis of individual performance and experience
and also having regard to industrial practice, which include basic wages,
production unit allowance, performance related bonuses and other
staff benefits. The Company has established a long term award scheme
whereby eligible employees of the Group may be granted cash benefits
calculated and paid according to Shares acquired by the trustee under the
Scheme. Details of the Scheme are stated in the section on Long Term
Award Scheme in the Report of the Directors.
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Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 51, has been appointed the Chairman of
the Board since 21 October 2011. Mr. Zhou was an executive Director
from March 2003 to October 2011 and the Chief Executive Officer of our
Company from August 2008 to October 2011. He was the Chairman,
the Chief Executive Officer and an executive director of China Resources
Gas Group Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange) from March
2008 to November 2008. Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics from the Jilin Finance and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He

joined China Resources Group in 1984 and has 27 years of experience

in international trade and corporate management. He is the Vice
Chairman of the 5th Session Council of the Guangdong Province Cement
Industry Association, the Vice President of the 2nd Session Council of
the Guangdong Building Materials Industry Association and the Vice
President of the 7th Session Council of the China Concrete and Cement
Products Association.

Mr. PAN Yonghong, aged 42, has been appointed an executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 21 October 2011. Mr.
PAN joined our Group in August 2003 and was the Company’s Fujian
Regional General Manager from February 2008 to September 2008,
Guangxi Regional General Manager from September 2008 to April
2011 and Guangdong Regional General Manager since April 2011. Mr.
PAN obtained a master's degree in economics from the Jinan University,
China in 1998. He has 17 years' experience in financial and corporate
management.

Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, aged 55, joined our Company in May
2003 as the Chief Financial Officer and has been an executive Director
since April 2008. Mr. LAU obtained a bachelor’s degree in social sciences
from the University of Hong Kong in 1979 and has 30 years of experience
in reorganization, assurance and advisory services with international
accounting firms and in serving as financial controllers and chief financial
officers of listed companies. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants.
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Mr. DU Wenmin, aged 48, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2008. He joined China Resources Group in 1985 and is currently
the Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer of CR Holdings. He
has been a non-executive director of four listed companies on the Stock
Exchange, namely, China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources Land Limited and
China Resources Gas Group Limited since September 2007, July 2010,
August 2007 and March 2008, respectively. He was also a non-executive
director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited, which was a
listed company on the Stock Exchange and the listing of its shares was
withdrawn from 2 November 2011, since March 2008. Mr. DU obtained
a master's degree in business administration from the University of San
Francisco, USA in 1993.

Mr. WEI Bin, aged 42, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2008. He joined the China Resources Group in 2001 and is
the Chief Financial Officer of CR Holdings and the General Manager
of its Finance Department. He has been a non-executive director of
four listed companies on the Stock Exchange, namely, China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited,
China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited
since November 2010, July 2010, October 2010 and November 2008
respectively. He was also a non-executive director of China Resources
Microelectronics Limited, which was a listed company on the Stock
Exchange and the listing of its shares was withdrawn from 2 November
2011, since August 2010. He is also a director of China Resources Sanjiu
Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co.,
Ltd. which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. WEI holds a
bachelor’s degree in auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics in
China and a master’s degree in finance from Jinan University in China.
He is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in the PRC. He is also
a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 60, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. Mr. IP graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a degree in social sciences in 1973. Mr.
IP joined the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was
promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in
the Hong Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June
2007. Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labor, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary
for Economic Development and Labor in July 2002. His portfolio in
respect of economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological services,
competition and consumer protection. He was also responsible for
labor policies including matters relating to employment services, labor
relations and employees rights. In his capacity as Secretary for Economic
Development and Labor, Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport
Authority Board, the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the
Hong Kong International Theme Parks Company Board as well as the
Chairman of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development
Board, Maritime Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory
Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong Government in July
2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the Hong
Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the Peace. Mr.
IP has been appointed an independent non-executive director of eight
publicly listed companies, namely Yangtze China Investment Limited,
a company listed in the UK, since February 2008, Viva China Holdings
Limited since June 2010, a company listed on the GEM board of the
Stock Exchange; Synergis Holdings Limited since September 2008, Lai
Sun Development Company Limited since December 2009, Goldpoly
New Energy Holdings Limited (formerly known as Time Infrastructure
Holdings Limited) since October 2010, Milan Station Holdings Limited
since April 2011, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited since May 2011
and Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited since October 2011, all are
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. IP was
also an independent non-executive director of PICC Property and Casualty
Company Limited from January 2011 to October 2011, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 66, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. Mr. SHEK was appointed
as a Justice of the Peace in 1995 and awarded Silver Bauhinia Star in
2007. Mr. SHEK is a member of the Legislative Council for Hong Kong
representing the real estate and construction functional constituency

since 2000.

Mr. SHEK acts as an independent non-executive director of several
companies which are listed on the Stock Exchange, including Midas
International Holdings Limited since August 2001, Paliburg Holdings
Limited since July 2002, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited since
March 2004, Chuang’s Consortium International Limited since May
2004, NWS Holdings Limited since September 2004, Eagle Asset
Management (CP) Limited (the manager of Champion Real Estate
Investment Trust) and Regal Portfolio Management Limited (the manager
of Regal Real Estate Investment Trust) since 2006, Titan Petrochemicals
Group Limited since February 2006, ITC Corporation Limited since June
2006, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited since December 2006,
Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited since January 2007, MTR Corporation
Limited since December 2007, SIM Holdings Limited since 2008, Hsin
Chong Construction Group Ltd. since January 2008, Chuang’s China
Investments Limited since April 2008, Kosmopolito Hotels International
Limited since September 2010 and ITC Properties Group Limited since
September 2010.

Mr. SHEK is also a committee member of the 5th Shenzhen Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the PRC, a
director of the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited, a member of
the Committee on Strategic Development of the Central Policy Unit of
the Government of Hong Kong, the Vice-Chairman of the Independent
Police Complaints Council in Hong Kong, a Court member of the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology and the University of Hong
Kong. Mr. SHEK graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia with a
Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma in Education.
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Mr. XU Yongmo, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive
Director since July 2010. Mr. XU has been appointed an independent
director of two publicly listed companies, namely, BBMG Corporation, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, since August 2008, and Huaxin
Cement Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
since April 2009. He was also an independent non-executive director
of Sinoma Science & Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from December 2004 to July 2011. Mr. XU
is currently the Vice President of China Building Materials Federation,
the President of China Concrete and Cement Products Association, the
President of China Construction Units Association, the Vice President of
China Cement Association, and the President of The Chinese Ceramic
Society. Mr. XU graduated from London South Bank University in 1997
with a doctoral degree in philosophy majoring in civil engineering
materials.

Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 67, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. She is also an independent non-
executive director of Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd., which
is an associated company of the Company. Madam ZENG is a senior
engineer at professor level accredited by the State Economic and Trade
Commission and a registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited
by the National Development and Reform Commission. She studied at
the Beijing Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963 to 1968 and
started her career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement Factory as
a technician and director of the laboratory between 1969 and 1983.
From 1984 to March 2001, she worked at the Production Division and
the Planning Division of the State Building Materials Bureau and served
as the deputy director and the director of the various departments
and divisions. She has been serving as the Vice President of the China
Cement Association from April 2001 to date. Madam ZENG s specialised
in managing matters in respect of the development and planning for,
and the scientific advancement, policies and laws and regulations,
construction investment in connection with as well as setting up the
relevant standards and quotas applicable to, the building materials
industry. She took the lead in formulating the relevant building materials
industry development plans for the Seventh Five-Year Plan, Eighth Five-
Year Plan, Ninth Five-Year Plan and Tenth Five-Year Plan and in setting up
a wide spectrum of construction standards and quotas for the building
materials industry, including the Standards of Design for a Cement
Factory. In the area of engineering and construction management, she
was awarded with a number of the Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the
provincial level.

51



MBEEE 35 BT )/\F/\ARER
BURTEE - FAB-_STRAF - AKH
REENRSSTMEBA (MESTR) KB
BREE - FRBBEXEGH TEEFEER
5 LEHE R A K& H th D2 )M 8 1 89 B BR
REBVBHRESEABANHERIZEHERER
RBREBEH BER-NMN_FEEEZTZGAZS
TRHEBELEM RN N\FEE BRI
AEBTHEBRBETEMN UER T —FF
BEERX KB HEBE LA -

MEERBAFTARETMAGER
B ARETRAEE h@%u&&ﬂ\%ﬂ
kERBAZESERGE (RERNeNE  XH
e AR E R R AT E5rA
f“ﬁmﬁaoﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%% AT R RF 5T B R
BEAN UABBESZEEREE - MEER
—EEARE+Z ﬂﬁﬁ%%i TN R
MAgEEgX8 TE-_T—TF+-A
ET——FT-AEAHBER YR =F
——F+_ARETER-N_T——F+=
A MEETERR BB BRI ARSI
EIEEEKE -

mﬂ>
,m]u

52

Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, formerly known as LAM Chi Yuen, aged
43, has been an independent non-executive Director since August
2008. He is the sole proprietor of Nelson and Company, Certified Public
Accountants which has been in operation since February 2005. He
has extensive experience in professional accountancy in Hong Kong, in
particular in advising and speaking on issues relating to International and
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in Hong Kong and other Asian
cities. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from
the Hong Kong Baptist University in 1992, a master degree of business
administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 1998 and a master of science degree in finance from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2001.

Mr. LAM is a practicing fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of several professional
bodies in Australia, the USA and the United Kingdom, including CPA
Australia, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. He is also a
CFA charter holder and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. Mr. LAM became a Council Member of the Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors in December 2006, was its Vice President from
December 2010 to December 2011 and has become its President since
December 2011. In December 2011, Mr. LAM has also been elected as
member of the Council of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant.
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Standing from left to right: JI Youhong, LIU Guixin, WANG Liling, DING Yuankui, WANG Junxiang, ZHANG Yingzhong, WEI Chunlan, QIU Suhao,
SUN Mingquan, TANG Jun, LAU Chung Kwok Robert, NG Chong, DONG Qunke, ZENG Fanrong, YU Zhongliang
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Madam SUN Mingquan, aged 57, has been appointed the Deputy
General Manager of the Company since March 2011. She joined China
Resources Group in 1984 and was an executive Director from June 2003
to August 2008 and the Guangdong Regional General Manager from
September 2008 to March 2011. Madam SUN obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from the University of International Business and
Economics, China in 1983. She has over 20 years of experience in
international trade and corporate management.

Mr. YU Zhongliang, aged 47, has been appointed the Strategic
Development Controller since February 2008 to be responsible for the
strategic development of our Group. He joined our Company in July
2003. Mr. YU obtained a master’s degree in business administration from
the York University, Canada in 2003. He has over 20 years of experience
in finance accounting, business analysis and strategic development.
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Mr. JI Youhong, aged 47, has been appointed the Sales and Marketing
Controller since November 2008. He joined our Group in October 2003
and was responsible for the management of our Group's concrete
operations. Mr. JI graduated from the Nanjing Industrial College (now
Southeast University), China in 1988 with a master’s degree in inorganic
and non-metallic materials. He has over 20 years of experience in
construction material engineering.

Mr. WANG Junxiang, aged 44, has been appointed the Procurement
Controller of our Company since February 2009 to be responsible for our
Group's purchases of raw materials and coal. He joined our Company
in July 2003 and was the Financial Controller of our Company from
February 2008 to March 2011. Mr. WANG obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from the University of South Australia in 2004. He
has over 15 years of experience in financial management.

Mr. ZENG Fanrong, aged 48, has been appointed the Merger and
Acquisition Controller since January 2011. He joined our Group in
January 2005 and was the Chief Operations Controller of our Company
from February 2008 to February 2010 and the Hainan Regional General
Manager from February 2010 to January 2011. Mr. ZENG obtained a
degree in electrical automation engineering from the Sichuan Institute of
Building Materials, China in 1984. He has over 20 years of experience in

the cement industry.

Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 45, has been appointed the Chief
Operations Controller of our Company from February 2010 to be
responsible for the overall business operations and project development
administration of our Company. He joined our Group in September 2007.
Mr. ZHANG completed a certificate course in ceramic technology from
the Wuhan University of Technology, China in 1993. He has over 20 years
of experience in the cement industry.
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Mr. LIU Guixin, aged 47, has been appointed the Guangxi Regional
General Manager since March 2011. He joined a cement manufacturing
company, which subsequently became a subsidiary of our Group, in
January 2002 and had occupied various managerial positions within the
Group. Mr. LIU obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in building
material machinery from the Wuhan University of Technology, China
in 1987 and has over 20 years of experience in building material and
mechanical engineering management.

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 46, has been appointed the Fujian
Regional General Manager since March 2011. He joined a cement
manufacturing company, which subsequently became a subsidiary of
our Group, in April 2000 and was the Fujian Deputy Regional General
Manager from December 2009 to March 2011. Mr. ZHENG obtained a
master’s degree in building materials in 1993 from the Wuhan University
of Technology, China. He has over 10 years of experience in the cement

industry.

Madam WEI Chunlan, aged 38, has been appointed the Hainan
Regional General Manager since March 2011. She joined the Company
in August 2004 and was the General Manager of Finance Department
of the Company from February 2008 to March 2011. Madam WEI
obtained a master’s degree in economics from the Jinan University, China
in 2005. She is an Accountant and also a non-practicing member of The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has over 15 years of
experience in financial management.

Mr. QIU Suhao, aged 51, has been appointed the Shanxi Regional
General Manager since March 2011.
September 2009. He was the Chairman of SDIC Hainan Cement Co.
Ltd. (subsequently renamed as China Resources Cement (Changjiang)
Limited) from August 2004 to December 2009 and an assistant to the
Chief Executive Officer from December 2009 to March 2011. Mr. QIU
graduated from the Wuhan University of Technology, China in 1983 with
a bachelor’s degree in electrical automation. He has over 25 years of
experience in building materials and project management.

He joined our Company in
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Mr. DONG Qunke, aged 49, has been appointed the Yunnan Regional
General Manager since March 2011. He joined the Company in
January 2011. Mr. DONG obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
petrochemical processing from the Liaoning Shihua University, China in

1985. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. DING Yuankui, aged 37, has been appointed the Human Resources
Controller since November 2008 to be responsible for our Group's
human resources affairs. He joined our Company in April 2008. Mr.
DING obtained a degree in statistics from the Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law, China in 1996 and a master’s degree in business
administration from the Tsinghua University, China in 2003 and a
professional training certificate from the American International Training
Association in 2004. He has 14 years of experience in corporate human
resources management and marketing management.

Mr. TANG Jun, aged 57, has been appointed as the Controller of the
CEOQ's Office since February 2008 to assist the Chief Executive Officer of
our Company in discharging his responsibilities. He joined our Company
in November 2007. Mr. TANG obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chinese
language and literature from the Sichuan University, China in 1982.
Mr. TANG was formerly employed at the Ministry of Commerce, China,
where he served as a director.

Mr. HUANG Ting, aged 42, has been appointed the General Manager of
Finance Department since March 2011. He joined the Group in 2003 and
had occupied various managerial positions within the Group. Mr. Huang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the Xiamen University,
China in 1992 and has 15 years of experience in finance management.
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Madam WANG Liling, aged 49, has been appointed the Shanxi Deputy
Regional General Manager since March 2011. She joined the Company’s
Audit Department from November 2008 and acted as the Internal
Auditor from January 2010 to March 2011. Madam WANG obtained a
bachelor's degree in financial accounting from the Shanxi University of
Finance and Economics in China in 1983. She is a Senior Accountant
and a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in the PRC. She has over 25 years of experience in financial
accounting and internal auditing.

Mr. NG Chong, aged 43, has been appointed the Chief Representative
of the Company’s Representative Office in Beijing since March 2011.
He joined our Company in August 2008 as an assistant to the Chief
Executive Officer till March 2011. Mr. NG graduated from the Beijing
University of Technology, China in 1990 with a bachelor’'s degree in
marketing. Mr. NG has 20 years of experience in international trade and
corporate management.

Madam JIANG Lan, aged 42, has been appointed the Deputy General
Manager of Internal Audit Department since January 2011. She joined
the Group in 2003 and had occupied various senior positions at Finance
Department within the Group. Madam JIANG obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from the University of Financial and Trade Beijing
(currently known as Capital University of Economics and Business) in
China in 1992. She has 19 years of experience in financial accounting
and internal auditing.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the production and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 47 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 102.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.06
per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: HK$0.045).
Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
18 May 2012 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 10 May 2012. Such final dividend will not
be subject to any withholding tax in Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.05 per share (2010: Nil)
and total distribution for the year ended 31 December 2011 is HK$0.11
per share (2010: HK$0.045).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
30 April 2012 to Friday, 4 May 2012, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 4 May 2012, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 27 April 2012.
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Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company after the close of
business of the Company at 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 10 May 2012 and
the register of members of the Company will be closed on Thursday, 10
May 2012, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates shall
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 9 May 2012.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment property of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized and issued share capital
of the Company during the year. Details of the authorized and issued
share capital of the Company for the year are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in form
of cement finished goods in the total amount of approximately
HK$3,548,000 (2010: HK$4,733,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there is currently no
taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of the
Company'’s shares based upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and
there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.
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Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 105.

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$7,730.3
million (31/12/2010: HK$8,886.4 million).

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

ZHOU Junging

ZHOU Longshan

PAN Yonghong

LAU Chung Kwok Robert

(resigned on 21 October 2011)

(appointed on 21 October 2011)

Non-executive Directors

DU Wenmin
WEI Bin

Independent non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
XU Yongmo

ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

(appointed on 1 January 2011)

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. PAN Yonghong shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, Madam
ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and still considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

All Directors are entitled to fees approved by the Board by reference to
the prevailing market conditions. The executive Directors are entitled to
salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses and awards under the Scheme
determined by the Board having regard to the Group's performance
and the prevailing market condition and approved by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are stated in Note 9 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding companies, any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2011, the Directors, chief executive of the Company
or their associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
as follows:

(a) A2dF (@) The Company
R R AEHER
REOHFRER
EAQRE BT
E=nE 54 FEROBE BRANLSG (771)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in Shares and
underlying Shares
to issued share
Number of capital of the
Name of Directors Capacity Shares held Company (note 7)
(%)
AR [T 1,000,000 0.02
ZHOU Longshan Interest of spouse
EIKAL ERERA 1,000,000 0.02
PAN Yonghong Beneficial owner
it note:

1. REARAFR-_F——F+ZA=+—H
H6,519,255,46208 O E TR DT E

1. Based on 6,519,255,462 shares of the Company in issue as at 31
December 2011.
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Name of Director Capacity
xR EmEBA
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner

1.

BIREHAEERAAN T ——F+=
B =+—H%2,399,460,1200% & 31 TR D &t

o

o

China Resources Enterprise, Limited, an associated
corporation of the Company

note:

R R AHES
IR3 Y iF B A
HEBAIE
BRATE®T
FEROBE BRANLSG (77)
(%)

Aggregate

long position

in shares and
underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources

Number of Enterprise,
shares held Limited (note 7)
(%)

100,000 0.01

Based on 2,399,460,120 shares of China Resources Enterprise, Limited
issue as at 31 December 2011.

in
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ERENERERAE (KABHE

BEE)

EEps

Name of Directors

SN
ZHOU Longshan

E)iNE
LAU Chung Kwok
Robert

HXR
DU Wenmin

L

Capacity

EnEAA
Beneficial owner
BB

Interest of spouse
ERBEEA

Beneficial owner

EnlEAA
Beneficial owner

() China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an
associated corporation of the Company

RO EE

Number of
shares held

31,032

480,240

R R EE
IR HY I B B
REBEHER
BRARE BT

R 25 B9 L 4
HERG #st (#t1)
(%)

Aggregate

long position

in shares and
underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Power Holdings

Underlying Company
shares Total Limited (note 1)

(%)

48,864 48,864 0.01
12,216 12,216 0.01

- 31,032 0.01

- 480,240 0.01
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Name of Directors Date of grant Date of expiry

L “EE-E+ARR ZE-ZETATA

ZHOU Longshan ~ 6/10/2003 5102013

HXE “TT=F+EXR  ZE-ZFfREA

DU Wenmin 6/1022003 5102013

it

1. RIBFHENERERIAN T ——F
T RA=+—B%H4745092,171IRB #&170%
MEtE -

2. EERENIZERBRARIH61,08008 ) #
ZEBERAED - 51221600815 MBS E B
RIS EEBRE - Bt B ERE
RRZEERET AR

3. i R AT AT B BB ATBE R 1T

4. R R (B R1.008 7T 0

Underlying shares represented by share options outstanding
under the share option scheme of China Resources Power

Holdings Company Limited to subscribe for ordinary shares in
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited are as follows:

T8
(1)

Exercise
price
(HKS)

2.75

2.75

notes:

BREHE REBRGG
HREZE
R=%--% R=B--%  EEENER
-A-H RER tZB=t-R ARLFABEST
i RATR BiT& WATE RAMLE (1)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
Number of share options China Resources
Outstanding Exercsed  Outstanding  Power Holdings
at during at  Company Limited
11172011 the year 31/12/2011 (note 1)
(%)
61,080 - 61,080 001 (#2/3)
(note 283)
183,240 183,240 - 001 (i£3)
(note 3)

Based on 4,745,092,171 shares of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2011.

Out of these options for 61,080 shares in China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, options for 12,216 shares are held by Mr. ZHOU
Longshan'’s spouse, and therefore Mr. ZHOU is deemed to be interested in
these share options.

These share options are exercisable any time until the date of expiry.

Consideration for each of the above grants is HK$1.00.
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(d) FEEHEHERATE (X2 THNHEE (d)  China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of

EE) the Company
RRHREERHH
HRARE
EWEH
BRAFCRT
RARL A
EEpg af FERG#HE RERG Eh) (#1)
(%)
Aggregate long
position in shares and
underlying shares to
issued share capital of
Number of Underlying China Resources Land
Name of Director Capacity shares held shares Total Limited (note 7)
(%)
HXR ERlEAA 1,040,000 - 1,040,000 0.02
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
BIEEEE AR A 7SS 7] Underlying shares represented by share options outstanding
EEEHE AR A ) @IS N R TTE under the share option scheme of China Resources Land Limited
BE IR REET S N AR N T to subscribe for ordinary shares in China Resources Land Limited
are as follows:
BREHE
REBRGBHEE
R=%—-% R=2--% BYEEHEY
-A-H tTZAZt-H BRARERT
EER RERH EREH e WATE RERTHR WATE  RAWLA (1)
(B7) (%)
Aggregate
long position
in underlying
Number of share options shares to issued
share capital of
Outstanding Exercised Outstanding China Resources
Exercise at during at Land Limited
Name of Director  Date of grant Date of expiry price 1172011 the year 311122011 (note 1)
(HKS) (%)
HXR —ETRFERA-H “E-RERA=T-R 1.3 250,000 250,000 - 001
DU Wenmin 1/6/2005 31/52015
u:}"_— notes:
1. BEEEESMARATR - E——&+— 1. Based on 5,826,468,790 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
A=+—R45826,468,79008 B E1TI A 5 as at 31 December 2011.
2. bt B RS AE AT A TE S B HA R BARS 1T o 2. The share options are exercisable any time until the date of expiry.
3 R E A1 00E T 3. Consideration for the above grant is HK$1.00.
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(e) EHMRKERERAT (FDAMNME
BoxE)

EsnR 5

Name of Directors Capacity

(e) China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated
corporation of the Company

R4 R A EE
IR Y 37 B A B
EEBRRIER
BRARE#T

R 2 #y Lt 451
(#21)

(%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and

FrEsROEE

underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Gas Group
Limited (hote 1)
(%)

Number of
shares held

JEREIL
ZHOU Longshan

R
DU Wenmin

BEmEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmEAA

Beneficial owner

6,000

54,000

0.01

0.01

1. RIFFERRRIERBRARTNNR S —F
+=A=1+—H%H1,992,269,7188%C 1 TH%
BatE -

Br EXFTIEREEIN R ——F+_A=+—
B REFMA EFHARBNERITHABL
HEE BB ATHEREZ S LB GDIE
XVEDRF B AR Bk S VA AN A ) sk ELAE (AT AR
AE (E#& R EZ AR RGIEXVEL) BIRIERE
5 RERE GO EXVEDET R 585 B R E SR IR
REFRIZARMG AR R NEBE T HATIAR
1R85 S AR5 S 35216 FITAR 7 78 AL SR P RZ 16k
FIFftE eV B RO A AR (D - AERERR LD R B Zr i an
KR R ——F+A=+—H HaES
REBITBAR (BRESFNRB LR M\
B F20) MBI A SE R ERIBE A A7) AR
EE (E&REZ LR MR KR -
B EITREAE A RN -

note:

1. Based on 1,992,269,718 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in
issue as at 31 December 2011.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, so far is known to
the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of it associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
Code or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be
recorded in the register referred to therein. Nor any of the Directors and
the chief executive (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) had, as at 31 December 2011, any interest in, or had been granted
any right to subscribe for the securities and options of the Company
and its associated corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had
exercised any such rights.
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R-B——F+-_A=+—H ®EEHRH T
SIAL (EHFERSARFERITRAR) AR
AR A R BIRIERE 7 LT E GG F3361HFE

VERCME AN A B ERL R AR RE AR (D rORE R SOA

As at 31 December 2011, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by

B the Company under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:
EERZALTRE BE /%R RAHE RE BHAES K
(%)

Name of interested parties

PRIZERE AT (57)
China Resources National Corporation
(note)

EERNAR AR (i)

China Resources Co., Limited (note)

CRC Bluesky Limited (7%)
CRC Bluesky Limited (note)

=8B (KE) (7)
CR Holdings (note)

#=HEE (KR)BARAFR (57)
CRH (Cement) Limited (note)

Long position/Short position

No. of Shares

Approximate
shareholding

it PEEEAARDEAEERNARARZHBEET
IRAE B AEA A - MiEE RCRC Bluesky Limited 2
BEITIRAR B HA A - CRC Bluesky LimitedJT 733
B (EE)2HERTRANESEEA  MER (£
E)AlAEBER (KR) BRAR (AIEERKER
BERERAR) 2HEETRANEZEEA - FH
£ H () BR AR EERH4,781,051,4628 %17 -
AR A BB B TIRAKI73.34% ©

B EXFREES REEFM R-E——
+=A=+—A R A TR RREER
B DIE X235 BN AR A AT
SR S AR 2 FHR IS B B
E36HFEHBRMOAR AR RAAER
(PEESTAR -
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(%)
e 4,781,051,462 73.34
Long position
e 4,781,051,462 73.34
Long position
HE 4,781,051,462 73.34
Long position
S 4,781,051,462 73.34
Long position
HE 4,781,051,462 73.34
Long position

note: China Resources National Corporation is the beneficial owner of the entire issued

share capital of China Resources Co., Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner
of the entire issued share capital of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the
beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn
is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited
(formerly known as China Resources Cement Investment Group Limited). CRH
(Cement) Limited directly held 4,781,051,462 Shares representing approximately
73.34% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2011, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.



BB FHREINTER  GAMBHRMERMFASFTI  The related party transactions as disclosed in Note 45 to the consolidated
ENETHEARZNBNIFEREISME  finandal statements also fall under the definition of continuing connected
N ANRHTWE AR EEEF#EITA  transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details of such

BRSO BT :

transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the Company with
connected parties during the year are summarized below:

REHEN (BMBRA
A (EHENERAR AT
MRAEE A R)) SHERR

[F) 227 (&2 18) B9 B /&8 2 7)
HEREL

A28 (=) /Y Fi 8 2 7)
EHLERRARIHERR
+

mEMEBFRERR QA
(FHENZEBRARRQFN
MEBARDHERRAH

A2 E (R E) /A T B
N ARG AR

BEEMERRAEERAA
BERBAOE

BEMERREBRAA
BERERNEE

BEBHENYR (XZF)
BRARIBERK

Sale of cement to China Resources
Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd., an associate
of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited

Sale of concrete to certain subsidiaries
of CR Holdings

Sale of concrete to China Resources
Construction Company Limited,
a subsidiary of CR Holdings

Sale of limestone powder to
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal
Power Company Limited, a subsidiary
of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited

Provision of testing service to certain
subsidiaries of CR Holdings

Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal
Power Company Limited

Purchase of ash and slag from
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal
Power Company Limited

Purchase of coal from China
Resources Power Logistics (Tianjin)
Company Limited

B PP IR T

TH BENFELR
TR THT
Annual cap

Amount

HK$'000

24,118

20,013

33,383

3,790

573

4,564

24,582

623,213

under the waiver
granted by the
Stock Exchange
HK$'000

30,000

45,400

53,900

9,520

3,600

10,122

37,958

5,205,679
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MEREN (EM) BRQIAFEKE

—E-TFRARR ERKRKRESR
RAF (ARRNE2EWBLRR)EEHE
B (BM)ERAR] (EHEERER
AT%%WE%W%QTIﬁ&EX%F%
BMARDMBE-Z-ZFRARRE
—F+ZA=+—H{# ﬁ7k/):bﬁTi7k/)E
I - RIBICORHIE B Pt e
IKERIRE AT EBUE -

MER(KE)NHBARHERRL

RARRZETNF—A—HEER (£
E)strEE (RE) s THERRIHEE
R T AR RSB ITIEE Ma] R
BT HEER S - ZiIBR AR A HE
FERPEHE_E—F T A=1T—
Al WAIAREA—HFRAEE = AE
EBAT T AR PRI - IRIERZ - I
BMAEE IR EBRTME KHEESAA
FHERBETE

MEFLEERRARAHESERLT

EP/a/tb/;Ej:ﬁBE Al (RRRIME S

NRADRZZZTNF—A—BREPEER
BRTARARREMBARMEREES

[RAR (EE (EE)NMEBAR)HER
%/ht/ﬁiiﬁﬁﬂﬁ%/’%ﬁmllﬁa MaJ L1
o &R A A B ] AR E
—E——H+ZA=+—HBIi YAAE
A —JTHE RIS =& A EEBAT T LARR
BRI -RIBEZHH WRHERTIZE
RITHE KRR A TRERERETE -

Sale of cement to China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co., Ltd.

On 5 May 2010, China Resources Cement Investments Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a cement
supply agreement with China Resources Power (Hezhou) Co.,
Ltd., which was then a wholly owned subsidiary and subsequently
became an associate of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, for the supply of cement from 5 May 2010
to 31 December 2011. Under the Cement Supply Agreement,
cement supplied will be charged in accordance with the prevailing
market prices.

Sale of concrete to subsidiaries of CR Holdings

The Company entered into a concrete supply framework
agreement dated 1 January 2009 with CR Holdings for the sale
of ready mixed concrete to certain subsidiaries of CR Holdings
for their construction projects. The agreement has a term
commencing on the date of the agreement and ended on 31
December 2011 and may be terminated earlier by either party
giving three months’ prior written notice. Under the agreement,
the prices charged will be negotiated on an arm’s length basis
between the parties with reference to the prevailing market
prices.

Sale of concrete to China Resources Construction Company
Limited

Redland Concrete Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement dated 1 January 2009 for
the sale of ready mixed concrete by Redland Concrete Limited
and its subsidiaries to China Resources Construction Company
Limited, a subsidiary of CR Holdings, for its construction projects
in Hong Kong. The agreement has a term commencing from
the date of the agreement to 31 December 2011 and may be
terminated earlier by either party giving three months’ prior
written notice. Under the agreement, the prices charged will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the parties with
reference to the prevailing market prices.



MEMNEBRREERATHEELAR
)

EHIRIREBRAR (AREIHNEEN
BRARDR-ZEZNF+—AZHRER
NAINETRP SR NER T4 &=
MEEWBARIEAEMNERAEERA
A (FEHENERERARNEERAEN
MEAR) EEAR AN ANEEERS
ME] ek - % B SRR %5 8
BRsTE =T ——F+-A=+—HlIt-
BIEZ W  ARAMHEMLEE AT
ARBE15.070 WHETEEEE RS
EORAMNRTMEREITARE

EEE (RE) NWETHEQ RN
IR %

BEHIERARAR (ARAIMNEEN

/AT)E/\*77TL$ A—BgtrEH
(5£E8) Z2RMBAR (BIEPETERLRE
THERAF EHEEERATRAEE
SARAR]) R EEHA30RAAH AR
BMEI M i - & A =F s
BRI RS E—T—F+-A=1+—
it WA RER— RS = EAE
RN T LAY AR UL - 5B AR TS IR
MBRATCSEERTMEETE - hEHK
HEAKBENESEEEET-

Sale of limestone powder to Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement dated 2
November 2009 on behalf of certain wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Company which are engaged in the production of cement
and concrete in the PRC for the sale of limestone powder to
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal Power Company Limited,
an indirectly owned subsidiary of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited, for its power generating business.
The agreement has a term commencing from the date of the
agreement to 31 December 2011. Under the agreement, the unit
selling price of limestone powder is RMB115.0 per ton subject to
quarterly review and adjustment with reference to the prevailing
market prices of limestone powder.

Provision of testing service to certain subsidiaries of CR
Holdings

Quality Control Consultants Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement dated 1 January 2009
for the provision of testing services with a credit term of 30 days
to a number of subsidiaries of CR Holdings, including Redland
Precast Concrete Products Limited, China Resources Construction
Limited and Strong Progress Limited. The agreement has a term
of three years commencing on the date of the agreement and
ending on 31 December 2011 and may be terminated earlier by
either party giving three months' prior written notice. The fees
charged for the testing services were determined with reference
to the prevailing market prices. Market prices are determined
during negotiations with our customers.
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Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 2 November 2009 with Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited for the purchase of
de-sulphur gypsum which is a type of raw material used in the
production of cement. The de-sulphur gypsum will be used by
certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company which are
engaged in the production of cement in the PRC. The agreement
has a term commencing from the date of the agreement to 31
December 2011. Under the agreement, the unit selling price
of de-sulphur gypsum is RMB73.0 per ton subject to quarterly
review and adjustment with reference to the prevailing market
prices of de-sulphur gypsum.

Purchase of ash and slag from Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 2 November 2009 with Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited for the purchase of
ash and slag. Ash is a type of raw material that is used in the
production of cement and concrete and slag is a type of raw
material used in the production of cement. The ash and slag will
be used by certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company
which are engaged in the production of cement and concrete.
The agreement has a term commencing from the date of the
agreement to 31 December 2011. Under the agreement, the
respective unit purchase prices of ash and slag are RMB88.0 per
ton and RMB12.0 per ton respectively, subject to quarterly review
and adjustment with reference to the prevailing market prices of
ash and slag.

Purchase of coal from China Resources Power Logistics
(Tianjin) Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 9 April 2010 with China Resources Power
Logistics (Tianjin) Company Limited for the purchase of coal.
The coal will be used by certain subsidiaries of the Company
which are engaged in the production of clinker. The agreement
has a term commencing from the date of the agreement to 31
December 2012. Under the agreement, the respective unit price
of coal will be negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the
relevant parties based on the then prevailing market prices.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed these
transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and

(@) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on work performed, Deloitte Touche Tohmastu, our independent
auditor, has confirmed in a letter to the Board to the effect that the above
transactions:

(a) have received the approval of the Board;

(b) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company
(transactions 1 to 5 which involved provision of goods or services
by the Company);

(€ have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

(d) have not exceeded the caps disclosed in the prospectus of
the Company dated 21 September 2009 and the previous
announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s

five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases.
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The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September 2009.
The share award scheme does not constitute a share option scheme
pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme
of the Company. The purpose of the share award scheme is to recognize
the contributions of officers and employees of our Group, excluding
any Director, towards the development of our Group in the past or as
incentives to selected grantees to achieve higher than target profits
for our Group and to align the interests of the selected grantees with
sustainable growth and development of our Group.

The aggregate number of Shares purchased under the share award
scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all issued shares of the Company.
The aggregate number of Shares which may be awarded to a selected
grantee under the share award scheme shall not exceed 0.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. A trust has been set up and BOCI-
Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as the trustee. Pursuant
to the share award scheme, the trustee may purchase Shares from the
public market out of cash contributed by the Company from time to
time. Shares purchased under the share award scheme will be held in
trust for the eligible employees until such Shares are vested in accordance
with the provisions of the rules relating to the share award scheme.
The share award scheme will be effective for a term of 10 years until 2
September 2019 unless terminated at the discretion of the Board at an
earlier date.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the share
award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and such that
payments under the Scheme will be made in form of cash rather than
Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company can utilize the proceeds
generated from the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the
trustee for awards to be made under the Scheme.

During the year, 4,706,000 Shares were disposed of realizing net
proceed of approximately HK$35,118,000 and total cash payments of
approximately HK$35,110,000 were made to 122 eligible employees. As
at 31 December 2011, the trustee held 155,294,000 Shares and cash of
HK$12,789,000 on trust under the Scheme.
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EEEHE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

MODEL CODE

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the Model Code
regarding their securities transactions during the year.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the year, the Company complied with all code provisions as well
as most of the recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules except
that all non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term.
Since all Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation
basis in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
there are sufficient measures to ensure the corporate governance of the
Company complies with the same level to that required under the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 77 to 99 of
this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company's issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 220.

—Z——4F4F3 Annual Report 2011 75



EEERE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

B B Em

ARBAFENIBRRCKLHIEE) « BFIEIRTT
SRR TE R

ARBRNERERRBFAS LIRS —TRZE
& ENMLEED - MERT SIMITAAAT]
BB AZ BUAD o

EEEGD
FEREW
FrE

BB —E-——-F=HZH

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as

independent auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 2 March 2012
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The Company and the Board are devoted to achieve and maintain
the highest standards of corporate governance and have adopted
the principles of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices of the
Listing Rules in the construction of our corporate governance practice.
The Board believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safe guarding interests
of our shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasize a
quality Board, effective internal control, stringent disclosure practices and
transparency and accountability to all stakeholders.

During the year, the Company complied with all code provisions as well
as most of the recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules (for
the time being in force) except that all non-executive Directors were not
appointed for a specific term. The following summarizes the Company's
corporate governance practices:

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives of the
Company and overseeing the management of the business. The Directors
are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and making
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility
and swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when
necessary, may delegate its managing and administrative powers to the
management, and provide clear guidance regarding such delegation so
as to avoid seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of
the Board in exercising its powers. Duties and authorities delegated to
the various board committees are described in the respective sessions
below. Resolutions passed by the respective board committees will be
subsequently reviewed and ratified by the Board.
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The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to
ensure the independence of the Board and enables the Board to make
independent judgments effectively. The operation and management of
the Board and the day-to-day management of the Company’s business
should be clearly divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a
balance of power and authority and that power will not be concentrated
in any one individual.

With effect from 1 January 2011, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham has been
appointed an independent non-executive Director. With effect from
21 October 2011, the following changes to the Board and committees
of the Company took place: (1) Madam ZHOU Junging resigned from
the positions of the Chairman of the Board, executive Director, the
Chairman of the Executive Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee; (2) Mr. ZHOU Longshan has been appointed the Chairman
of the Board, the Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee in place of Madam ZHOU Junging; and (3)
Mr. PAN Yonghong has been appointed an executive Director, a member
of the Executive Committee, and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company to replace Mr. ZHOU Longshan. As at 31 December 2011, the
Board comprised 10 Directors, including 3 executive Directors, namely,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. PAN Yonghong and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok
Robert, two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. DU Wenmin and Mr.
WEI Bin, and five independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu
Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Mr. XU Yongmo, Madam
ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen. The representation of independent
non-executive Directors fulfilled the minimum requirement of the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2011. A description of
the Directors is set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management Section on pages 47 to 57 and on the Company's website.
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For a Director to be considered independent, the Board must be satisfied
that the Director does not have any direct or indirect material relationship
with the Group. In determining the independence of Directors, the Board
follows the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors as independent.

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman approves and monitors the Company's strategies
and policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the
performance of the Company, and supervises the management of the
Company. The senior management team is responsible for the day-to-
day operations of the Group under the leadership of the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to, and overseeing the functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts in
the best interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned and
conducted in an effective manner. The Chairman is also responsible for
setting the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into consideration,
where appropriate, matters proposed by the Directors and the Company
Secretary for inclusion in the agenda. With the support of executive
Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly informed of issues arising at Board meetings and
provided with adequate and accurate information in a timely manner.
The Chairman also actively encourages the Directors to be engaged in
the Board’s affairs and contribute to the Board’s functions. The Board,
under the leadership of the Chairman, has complied with the corporate
governance practices and procedures and has taken appropriate steps
to provide effective communication with our shareholders and other
stakeholders, as outlined in the latter section headed Supply of and
Access to Information for Board Meetings.

79



THAESBREEARERRT  HHEEES
B 2HHIE KN BIRES S AIERE
BRERELAAEARENAEEEAESS
EERRRE

THAERBER AR AEENZLEREA - KIT
HEFENBEReREREEFHETMEFTSR
2FEREUAHEEBLIE IEREEZSER
BRASEGEEBIENESHTROMELEER
£ IRINHELR 500 B £ F RIS ER 2 LI
EYEIERGHEE MM RE AL BB RERR
AR AN ESRIERITE - RETFE
ReREFSTHEBASKSREENENE
TEXBGNBRREFE

ST HeR EEFEL MR- REHH
R AEENSREEEENAKEELH
AP NBEREMAEFREEN -CEERR/E
BENERE R ERrERERAEENER
FBUBEEER -

REFENTHERMNS EFKELEN T
AESERSRBNLESRINTIN=RES
EERRENAREX I - pEMEEME AR
ROEMEAT EFERERTHRFNAM-
FRAR R ABM SRR AR FBT N
ERMERIGH) X5 R RAEFTSRZAMI
I EMBERERT A EAERNES
RAMARARRNER R EHEE TSR
ARREEEANBNEE A -

80

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the businesses
of the Group, coordinating overall business operations, attending to
the formulation and successful implementation of Group policies and
strategies approved by the Board and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all the Group’s day-to-day operations.

The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining the
operational performance of the Group. He also works with the Chief
Financial Officer and the senior management team and presents annual
budgets to the Board for consideration and approval, and ensures that
the Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to
the funding requirements of the businesses of the Group. He will also
ensure that the funding requirements of the business are met and closely
monitors the operating and financial results of the businesses against
plans and budgets, taking remedial action if necessary. He communicates
regularly with the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed
of all major business development and issues.

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a
year. Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the
Group provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding
the activities and development in the businesses of the Group. The
Directors have full access to information on the Group and independent
professional advice at all times whenever deemed necessary by the
Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance and an
agenda with supporting Board papers no less than three days prior to
the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much notice
as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. Except for those
circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association of the Company,
a Director who has a material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for
consideration abstains from voting on the relevant resolution and such
Director is not counted for quorum determination purposes.
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During 2011, eighteen meetings (including thirteen meetings by way
of circulation of written resolutions) were held by the Board. The
attendances at these meetings are as follows:

=] EERBR e
Written
Meeting Resolution Total
HITES Executive Directors
AR (R—E——%F ZHOU Junging
TRZ+—HEE) (resigned on 21 October 2011) 4 12 16
ARELL ZHOU Longshan 5 13 18
BRI (RZE——F PAN Yonghong
+AZ+—REZMF) (appointed on 21 October 2011) 1 1 2
2 e LAU Chung Kwok Robert 5 13 18
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MR DU Wenmin 2 13 15
EZhmy WEI Bin 4 13 17
BIUKHTES Independent non-executive
Directors
0] IP Shu Kwan Stephen 5 13 18
AEH(RZE——%F SHEK Lai Him Abraham
—A—HEZE) (appointed on 1 January 2011) 5 13 18
TRKAR XU Yongmo 5 13 18
B ZENG Xuemin 4 13 17
MEE LAM Chi Yuen 5 13 18
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The matters covered in the meetings of the Board held during 2011
include the 2010 annual report, the 2011 interim report, changes to
the Board and committees of the Company, continuing connected
transactions for years from 2012 to 2014 and the ratification of
resolutions of the Executive Committee. The written resolutions of
the Board covered mostly acquisitions and grant of awards under the
Scheme.

From time to time, the Board will arrange visits to cement and concrete
plants of the Group for a deeper understanding of the Group's business
operations. In June 2011, two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, accompanied by two
executive Directors, Madam ZHOU Junging and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok
Robert, had a three day tour and visited certain cement and concrete
plants of the Group in Fujian.
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None of the Directors, including the non-executive Directors, has a
service contract with the Company and there are no specific terms of
their appointments. However, all Directors are subject to re-election
by shareholders at annual general meetings and at least about once
every three years on a rotation basis in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election
and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. There are sufficient measures to
ensure the corporate governance of the Company complies with the
same level to that required under the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee as more
fully explained below under the section on Nomination Committee.

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with a
comprehensive induction to the Group’s businesses by senior executives.
The package includes a copy of “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued
by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. Continuing education and
information are provided to the Directors regularly to help ensuring that
the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its businesses.

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the year.

The Company established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009, an
Executive Committee on 13 January 2010, and a Corporate Governance
Committee on 29 February 2012.
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During 2011, the Executive Committee comprised all the executive
Directors, namely, Madam ZHOU Junging (before 21 October 2011),
Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. PAN Yonghong (from 21 October 2011) and
Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Madam ZHOU Junging
(before 21 October 2011) and Mr. ZHOU Longshan (from 21 October
2011). The duties of the Executive Committee (as amended by the Board
on 29 February 2012) are as follows:

@)

To monitor the execution of the Company’s strategic plans and
the operations of all business units;

To appoint and remove the directors and general managers of the
business units of the Company (the “Operating Management”);

To approve any changes to the scope of authority delegated
to the Operating Management and the functional department
heads of the Company (the “Corporate Management”);

To approve any excess in authority delegated to the Corporate
and the Operating Management;

To exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board
between regular Board meeting, with its power restricted to the
following areas that are considered by the Board as material and
related to the formulation of the policy and business development
direction of the Company:

(1) the policy of the entire strategic business development
direction and planning of the Company; and

() the main business policy and financial achievement policy
of the Company.

To establish and authorize committees to deal with daily business
operations or ad-hoc projects if consider appropriate;
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ZHOU Junging
HEHE)
ZHOU Longshan
PAN Yonghong

HEZE)

(9 To review and approve:

M

banking facilities and/or financial instruments to be
granted to or issued by the Company for the needs of the
Group;

the grant of any loan or other financial assistance to the
Company's subsidiaries and/or associates;

the provision of corporate guarantees, indemnity and/or
letters of comfort by the Company for its subsidiaries and/
or associates;

the opening of bank or securities related accounts
and other ancillary matters including appointing the
signatories and approving the terms and mandate for
such accounts; and

to affix the Company’s seal on any instrument or
document related to the above items and approve any
one or more of the Directors to sign the instrument or
document.

(h) Any other specific business authorized by the Board to be dealt

with by this Committee.

During 2011, forty nine meetings were held by the Executive Committee.
The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

(resigned on 21 October 2011)

(appointed on 21 October 2011)

LAU Chung Kwok Robert

—EFETNERTIBESRE
FEENRITER -

&5 A
Meeting Total
30 30

39 39

14 14

49 49

The meetings of the Executive Committee held during 2011 covered

mostly banking matters including the obtaining of banking facilities.
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During 2011, the Audit Committee comprises all five independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai
Him Abraham, Mr. XU Yongmo, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM
Chi Yuen and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi Yuen. The duties of the Audit
Committee (as amended by the Board on 29 February 2012) are as

follows:

Relationship with the Group’s auditors

@)

being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and to consider any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

developing and implementing policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services (for this purpose, “external
auditor” includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity
that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant
information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally) and reporting to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

discussing with the external auditor before the audit commences,
the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations,
and ensuring co-ordination where more than one audit firm is
involved;

discussing problems and reservations arising from the interim and

final audits, and any matters the external auditor may wish to
discuss (in the absence of senior management where necessary);
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Review of the Group’s financial information

(f)

monitoring integrity of the Group's financial statements, annual
reports and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the Board, the Audit Committee
shall focus particularly on:—

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;
(ii) major judgmental areas;
(iif) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(V) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and any requirements
from the Stock Exchange and legal requirements in
relation to financial reporting;

Regarding (f) above:
(i) liaising with the Board and the senior management;

(ii) meeting, at least twice a year, with the Company’s
auditors; and

(iii) considering any significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the financial statements,
reports and accounts and giving due consideration to
any matters that have been raised by the Group's staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or auditors;
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Oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures

(h)

reviewing the Group's financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

discussing the internal control system with management of the
Group ensuring that the senior management has performed its
duties to have an effective internal control system. This discussion
should include adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting function;

considering major investigation findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
senior management'’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Group, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to the senior management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
senior management'’s response;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

reporting to the Board on the matters in relation to the
performance of their duties;

reviewing arrangements employees of the Group can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters and ensuring
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

acting as the key representative body for overseeing the Group’s
relations with the external auditor; and

considering any other topics, as defined by the Board.
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Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year to
approve the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2010 and for the six months period ended 30 June 2011.
During the year, the Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries covering
all material financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. An Audit Committee meeting was held to review
this internal control report submitted by the Internal Audit Department
of the Company and the internal weakness report submitted by the
independent auditor, and was satisfied that such systems are effective
and adequate. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

BiE a5t

Meeting Total

MER LAM Chi Yuen 2 2
7] IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2 2
VaE: T SHEK Lai Him Abraham 2 2
ok iE XU Yongmo 2 2
B8 ZENG Xuemin 1 1
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The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, and two executive Directors, Mr.
ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Mr.
SHEK Lai Him Abraham. The duties of the Remuneration Committee (as
amended by the Board on 29 February 2012) are as follows:

(a) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors” and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) being responsible for either (i) determining, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management; or (ii) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management (this
should include benefits in find, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment), and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee shall consider
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group;
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(h)

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

advising the Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any
service contracts of the Directors that require Shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules; and

reviewing the Group’s policy on expense reimbursements for the
Directors and senior management.

In carrying out its duties, the Remuneration Committee should:

@)

consult the chairman of the Board and/or the chief executive
about their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors
and have access to independent professional advice if necessary;

provide the packages needed to attract, retain and motivate
executive Directors of the quality required without paying more
than necessary;

judge where to position the Group relative to other companies.
They should be aware what comparable companies are paying
and should take account of relative performance;

be sensitive to the wider scene, including pay and employment
conditions within the Group and elsewhere, especially when
determining annual salary increases;

ensure that the total remuneration package of executive Directors
are designed to align their interests with those of Shareholders
and to give the Directors incentives to perform at the highest
levels; and
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(f)

ensure that share options offered by the Company to its Directors
or senior management (if any) are in accordance with Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules, as applicable.

The Remuneration Committee shall:

@)

(b)

operate the Company's share award schemes or other incentives
schemes (if any) as they apply to, and recommend to the general
meeting of shareholders grants of award to be made to Directors
and/or senior management. It shall recommend to the Board the
total aggregate amount of any grants to employees (with the
specific grants to individuals to be at the discretion of the Board)
and make amendments to the terms of such schemes (subject to
the provisions of the schemes relating to amendment);

liaise with the trustee of any employee share scheme which is
created by the Company for the benefit of employees, senior
management or Directors;

review the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts from
time to time; and

advise the Board in relation to the preparation of the Board's
remuneration report (if any) to shareholders.
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During 2011, three meetings were held (including two meetings by way
of circulation of written resolutions) of the Remuneration Committee
to approve the increase in salaries, payment of discretionary bonus and
grant of cash benefits under the Scheme to executive Directors and senior
management during the year. The attendances at these meetings are as

follows:
23 EERER &t
Written

Meeting Resolution Total

ARk SHEK Lai Him Abraham 1 2 3
7 ] IP Shu Kwan Stephen 1 2 3
MEE LAM Chi Yuen 1 2 3
IS ZHOU Longshan 1 2 3
2B LAU Chung Kwok Robert 1 2 3
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The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and
Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, and one executive Director, Madam ZHOU Junging
(before 21 October 2011) and Mr. ZHOU Longshan (from 21 October
2011), and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen. The duties of the
Nomination Committee (as amended by the Board on 29 February 2012)
are as follows:

(@) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking into
account the challenges and opportunities facing the Company
and what skills and expertise are therefore needed on the Board
in the future;

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board

members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship;
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(d)

assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

before appointments are made by the Board, evaluating the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board, and, in
the light of this evaluation preparing a description of the role and
capabilities required for a particular appointment. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall:

(i) use open advertising or the services of external advisers to
facilitate the search;

(ii) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds;
and

(iii) consider candidates on merit and against objective
criteria, taking care that appointees have enough time
available to devote to the position;

keeping under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the
marketplace;

keeping up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and
commercial changes affecting the Company and the market in
which it operates;

reviewing annually the time required from non-executive
Directors. Performance evaluations should be used to assess
whether the non-executive Directors are spending enough time in
fulfilling their duties; and

ensuring that on appointment to the Board, Directors receive a
formal letter of appointment setting out clearly what is expected
of them in terms of time commitment, committee service and
involvement outside board meetings.

The Nomination Committee shall also make recommendations to the
Board concerning:

@)

formulating plans for succession for both executive and non-
executive Directors;

suitable candidates for the role of independent non-executive
Directors;
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membership of the Company’s Audit and Remuneration
committees, in consultation with the chairmen of those
committees;

the re-appointment of any non-executive Director at the
conclusion of their specified term of office having given due
regard to their performance and ability to continue to contribute
to the Board in the light of the knowledge, skills and experience
required;

the continuation (or not) in service of any Director who has
reached the age of 70;

any matters relating to the continuation in office of any Director
at any time including the suspension or termination of service of
an executive Director as an employee of the Company subject to
the provisions of the law and their service contract; and

the appointment of any Director to executive or other office,
other than to the positions of chairman and chief executive, the
recommendation for which would be considered at a meeting of
the full board.

During 2011, one meeting of the Nomination Committee was held at
which Mr. PAN Yonghong has been appointed as executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer with effect from 21 October 2011. The

JEERAT attendance at this meeting is as follows:
23 &t
Meeting Total
] IP Shu Kwan Stephen 1 1
ARk SHEK Lai Him Abraham 1 1
WEE LAM Chi Yuen 1 1
AEm(R=FE——% ZHOU Junging
TRAZ+—HET) (resigned on 21 October 2011) 1 1
AL (R ZE——%F ZHOU Longshan
+A-+—BEZT) (appointed on 21 October 2011) - -
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On 29 February 2012, the Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee which comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson, and two executive Directors, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr.
LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen.
The duties of the Corporate Governance Committee are as follows:

(a) developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the
Company on corporate governance and make recommendation
to the Board with regard to any changes;

(b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
on corporate governance;

(@] reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
on corporate governance and making recommendation to the
Board with regard to any changes;

(d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
corporate governance manual applicable to employees and

Directors;

(e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the corporate
governance code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report; and

) doing other matters related to corporate governance as instructed

by the Board from time to time.
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In fulfilling the aforesaid duties, the Corporate Governance Committee
has the following authorities:

(a) investigating any activity related to non-compliance of corporate
governance code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report under the instruction of the Board. The Corporate
Governance Committee can seek any information it requires
during the aforesaid investigation; and

(b) obtaining outside legal or other independent professional
advice related to non-compliance of corporate governance code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report under the
instruction of the Board. The Corporate Governance Committee
can request outsiders with relevant experience and/or expertise to
attend its meeting if it considers it is necessary.

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the Company
to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair presentation
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The
statement by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2011 is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 100 to
101.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor’s independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives each year the letter from the independent auditor
confirming their independence and objectivity and holds meetings with
representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its
audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of the
independent auditor.
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The Group's policy regarding the engagement of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu for the various services listed below is as follows:

o Audit services — include audit services provided in connection
with the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the Company and the financial statements of the individual
subsidiaries.

o Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, review of financial statements for the
purpose of interim report, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.

o Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services
of the independent auditor where it is best suited. All other
significant taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as
appropriate.

o Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, and non-financial systems
consultations. The independent auditor is also permitted to assist
management and the Group's internal auditor with internal
investigations and fact-finding into alleged improprieties. These
services are subject to specific approval by the Audit Committee.

o General consulting services — the external auditor is not eligible to
provide services involving general consulting work.

An analysis of the fees of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and other
independent auditor is shown in Note 8 to the financial statements.
In the year ended 31 December 2011, a provision of HK$2.9 million
was made in the financial statements for service fee payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for the annual audit and the Group paid HK$17,000,
HK$447,000 and HK$570,000 to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as service
fees for preparation of tax returns, review of interim financial statements
and financial due diligence work for acquisitions respectively.

Fees and disbursements relating to financial due diligence work
on acquisition projects of the Group paid during the year ended
31 December 2011 to other professional parties amounted to
HK$4,609,000.
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The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with the
Group's system of internal control and assessment and management
of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk
awareness across the Group’s business operations and has put in place
policies and procedures, including parameters of delegated authority,
which provide a framework for the identification and management of
risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the systems of
internal control to ensure that the policies and procedures in place are
adequate.

During 2011, the Group has implemented a risk management policy to
identify and monitor the risks from areas such as assets management,
operation and production, project construction, markets and acquisitions.
A handbook on risk management, which serves as the guidance to the
employees of the Company on risk management, has been published.
Risk management officers are also appointed by various departments
of our headquarters, regional offices and plants for establishing a
risk management group under the Internal Audit Department of the
Company. Annual report on risk management will be prepared by the
risk management group, which will be reviewed by the Internal Audit
Department of the Company, the Audit Committee and the Board.

Reporting and review activities include review by the executive Directors
and the Board and approval of detailed operational and financial reports,
budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review by
the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group’s internal audit function
and risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.
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Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group's internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually
by the regional management and subject to review and approval by the
executive Directors as part of the Group's five-year corporate planning
cycle. Forecasts for the current year are prepared on a monthly basis,
reviewed for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting
budgets and forecasts, management identifies, evaluates and reports on
the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business risks.
The executive Directors review the monthly management reports on the
financial results and key operating statistics of each business and hold
monthly meetings with the executive management team to review these
reports, business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Chief Financial Officer has established
guidelines and procedures for the approval and control of expenditures.
Operating expenses are subject to overall budget control and are
controlled within each business with approval levels set by reference
to the level of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital
expenditures are subject to overall control within the annual budget
review and approval process, and more specific control and approval prior
to commitment by the executive Directors are required for unbudgeted
expenditures.

Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing the Group's
internal control system, formulating an impartial opinion on the system,
and reporting its findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and
the senior management concerned as well as following up on all reports
to ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a
regular dialogue is maintained with the Group’s external auditor so that
both are aware of the significant factors which may affect their respective
scope of work. Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure
of individual business units, the scope of work performed by the internal
audit department includes financial and operations reviews, recurring and
surprise audits, fraud investigations and productivity efficiency reviews.

Group Risk Management

Directors and officers liability insurance is in place to protect Directors and
officers of the Group against their potential legal liabilities.
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The Company's relationship with shareholders is critical to its future
success. As a core principle of corporate governance, the Company treats
its shareholders in a fair and non-preferential manner, and ensures that
its corporate governance framework is effective to protect and facilitate
the exercise of shareholders’ rights. The Company is committed to
maintaining the effectiveness of its communications with shareholders for
the purpose of generating a mutual understanding of objective, trust and
confidence between the Company and its shareholders.

The Board endeavours to maintain solid and constructive communications
with shareholders and recognizes the importance of promoting mutual
understanding and direct communication between the management and
shareholders through greater engagement, and that it is accountable
to shareholders for creating and delivering value through the effective
governance of the business.

In order to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow them to engage actively with the Company, a
shareholders communication policy of the Company has been established
on 29 February 2012. The policy has been uploaded to the Company’s
official website for corporate communications.

The Board always welcomes shareholders’ view and input. Shareholders
may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Investor Relations Department of the Company
by letter, telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information can
be found at page 4 of this annual report.
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(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to 219,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2011, and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
2 March 2012

101



S
HERAR

EFI
S A
BEMEATES

HENRDHER
—RRITHER
MiEEM

FEIE KRR FI BB RAA
FEIRHE 2 N ARG

B 5t Al &2 7
PR

FEAF

Hip 2 mEEA
PE X ERR
FEHEMB2EEA

FEZEBALER

ATATRIEFERR:

ZAY/NEIE 2SN
TR 2

A TALTEIEEEBRA
L

ZAYNEIE? 2SN
IR

FREREF

102

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income
Change in fair value of
an investment property
Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Finance costs
Share of results of
jointly controlled entities
Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings per share

Hiat

NOTES

17

14

—g——%
FET
2011
HK$'000

23,239,961
(16,015,976)

7,223,985
606,254

7,000
(1,227,954)
(1,324,979)

(667,538)

155,000
134,416

4,906,184
(561,622)

4,344,562

845,275

845,275

5,189,837

4,179,010
165,552

4,344,562

4,987,100
202,737

5,189,837

HK$0.6417& T

—E-FF
FHET
2010
HK$'000

14,141,537
(9,678,190)

4,463,347
219,646

18,000
(989,731)
(1,211,650)
(268,042)

(188)

2,231,382
(97,537)

2,133,845
491,954
491,954

2,625,799

2,040,833
93,012

2,133,845

2,512,337
113,462

2,625,799

HK$0.313/& 7T
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Non-current assets

Fixed assets

Prepaid lease payments
Investment property
Intangible assets
Interests in associates

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets

Deferred tax assets

Long term receivables

Current assets

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Amounts due from

jointly controlled entities
Taxation recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables

Provisions

Taxation payable

Amount due to immediate
holding company

Loan from a non-controlling
shareholder

Loans from intermediate
holding companies

Bank loans — amount due
within one year

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

HiiE

NOTES

15
16
17
18
20
21

22
23

24

25

26

27
28

29

30

31

32

33

34

=
T8
2011
HK$'000

30,014,245
2,344,276
59,000
1,707,968
2,119,177
1,571,398

1,305,430
95,844
425,108

39,642,446

2,296,035
1,949,858
2,424,565

371,620
23,645
11,815

3,737,839

10,815,377

3,428,508
5,376,685
4,252
164,181

37,688

880,813

10,458,948
20,351,075
(9,535,698)
30,106,748

—E-FF
FET
2010
HK$'000

21,862,718
1,631,597
52,000
632,639
20,142
894,669

1,434,851
106,483
336,284

26,971,383

1,182,024
1,481,868
1,221,782

345,901
373

9,220
4,115,340

8,356,508

1,836,221
4,838,088
4,051
52,508

196,129

4,959,792
11,886,789
(3,530,281)
23,441,102
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—g——f —T-TF

k=3 FHET FAT
2011 2010
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
kRBEME Non-current liabilities
IRITER Bank loans — amount due
—R—F &I after one year 34 10,035,426 8,064,356
5 Provisions 30 25,328 38,957
RARFER SRIE Long term payables 35 41,285 22,967
EETRIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 22 103,459 69,533
10,205,498 8,195,813
19,901,250 15,245,289
MR R Capital and reserves
f& A Share capital 36 651,926 651,926
f# Reserves 18,646,806 14,124,328
RATHER NEL S Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 19,298,732 14,776,254
FEEAR Non-controlling interests 602,518 469,035
e B RE Total equity 19,901,250 15,245,289
F1NEEF290E NG SIMBEHRREN =-ZE—=  The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 219 were
FZPA _HEEESH A NIRRT SWH T 5]  approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2 March
ATHREEE: 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:
JA%E 1L ZHOU LONGSHAN 2| 75 Bl LAU CHUNG KWOK ROBERT

E % DIRECTOR &% DIRECTOR
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GOEERDE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2011 &z - = F+ZA=+—HIEFE
RARERAELESR
RH
b CIEE | WEEL

R RGEE e AHEE BE  RERE  REEA @i FRREZ  BREE
FEL FAL TAL TET FEL FAL TAT TEL TEL FAL
(Fiitas)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Long term
award Property Non-
Share Share scheme Merger  revaluation  Translation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 46)
WZZ-%5-A-H At 1 January 2010 651,926 9,480,231 (630,29) (35,193) 17,810 480,721 2292426 12,257,625 373,029 12,630,654
A 2EMA Other comprehensive income
-EREE - exchange differences - - - - - 471,504 - 471,504 20450 491954
EEEF Profit for the year . - . . - S 2040833 2040833 301 2133845
FERANAEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - 471,504 2,040,833 2,512,337 113,462 2,625,799
KRBT Acquisition of subsidiaries
(#izt40) (Note 40) - - - - - - - - (7,345) (7.345)
WE-RFEENBLARN  Acquisition of additional
BMER interest of an existing
subsidiary - - - - - - 6,292 6,292 (10,111) (3,819
RZZ-%% At 31 December 2010
+-A=t-H 651,926 9,480,231 (630,29) (35,193) 17,810 952,225 4339551 14,776,254 469,035 15,245,289
Et2EBA Other comprehensive income
-ERER - exchange differences - - - - - 808,090 - 808,090 37,185 845,275
EEEF Profit for the year . - . . . S 4179010 4179010 165552 434456
FERANAEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - 808,090 4,179,010 4,987,100 202,737 5,189,837
U il /NG Acquisition of subsidiaries
(#izt40) (Note 40) - - - - - - - - 80571 80571
WEREHBARN Acquisition of additional
BMER interest of exsting
subsidiaries - - - - - - 119,597 119,597 (546,628) (427,031)
REFERRRAOTE  Capital contribution from
non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - 396,803 396,803
BENZE-FEXS 2010 final dividend paid
k& - (293,366) - - - - - (293,366) - (293,366)
BREZZ——%F®4 2011 interim dvidend paid
a8 - (325,963) - - - - - (325,963) - (325,963)
RERBARNE Recognition under long term
HEER award scheme - - 18,535 - - - 16,575 35,110 - 35,110
RZE——& At 31 December 2011
+=-A=1+-AH 651,926 8,860,902 (611,761) (35193) 17,810 1,760,315 8,654,733 19,298,732 602,518 19,901,250
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Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of fixed assets
Release of prepaid
lease payments
Amortisation of mining rights
Gain on change in fair value of
an investment property
Interest income
Interest expenses
Share of results of jointly
controlled entities
Share of results of associates
(Reversal of) allowance
for doubtful debts
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Gain on disposal of prepaid
lease payments
(Reversal of) impairment loss
on other receivables
Recognition of payment under
long term award scheme
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of fixed assets
Exchange (gain) loss

Operating cash inflows before
movements in working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Increase in other receivables
Increase in amounts due from
jointly controlled entities
Increase in trade payables
Increase in other payables
Decrease in provisions

Cash generated from operations

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

Chinese Mainland Enterprise
Income Tax paid

Interest paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

=
T8
2011
HK$'000

4,906,184

1,273,118

47,138
29,166

(7,000)
(70,347)
667,538

(155,000)
(134,416)

(44,417)
7,427

(9,951)

(4,355)

35,110

(218,197)

6,321,998
(925,707)
(272,864)
(409,011)

(8,356)
1,231,589
466,241

(13,428)

6,390,462
(16,553)

(441,136)
(781,948)

5,150,825

—E-FF
FET
2010
HK$'000

2,231,382

807,148

28,323
11,738

(18,000)
(57,234)
268,042

188

29,055
18,533

14,661

65,350
38,100

3,437,286
(479,018)
(507,756)
(118,515)

780,868
499,725
(3,602)

3,608,988
(13,714)

(55,850)
(402,740)

3,136,684
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NOTE

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase and deposit paid
for acquisition of fixed assets
Acquisition of an associate
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of
cash and cash equivalents
acquired) 40
Acquisition of jointly
controlled entities
Settlement of considerations
for the acquisition of
jointly controlled entities
Payment for acquisition of
subsidiaries in prior year
Additions to prepaid lease payments
Acquisition of non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries of jointly
controlled entities
Acquisition of mining rights
Advances to local governments
Repayments from local governments
Capital injection in associates
(Increase) decrease in
pledged bank deposits
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of
prepaid lease payments
Proceeds from disposal of
fixed assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Bank loans raised

Repayments of bank loans

Loans from intermediate
holding companies

Repayment of loans from
intermediate holding companies

Capital contribution from
non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries

Increase in amount due to
immediate holding company

Dividends paid

Acquisition of additional interest of
an existing subsidiary

Settlement of long term payable

Repayment of loan from
a non-controlling shareholder of
subsidiary

Net cash generated
from financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents for the year

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes on cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year, representing cash and
bank balances

?%E
2011
HK$°000

(6,850,006)
(1,886,963)

(1,615,469)

(1,016,074)
(640,134)
(530,535)

(501,777)

(220,724)

(111,868)
30,918
(54,398)

(2,088)
70,347

25,433
13,031

(13,290,307)

11,879,274
(4,793,848)

2,700,216
(1,819,403)

200,794

37,688
(619,329)

(7,750)
(6,458)

7,571,184

(568,298)
4,115,340
190,797

3,737,839

— il
TAT
2010
HK$'000

(6,803,349)

(32,266)
(110,398)

(1,012,145)

(123,291)
(228,694)
164,525

(11,517)

425,016
57,234

19,509
(7,655,376)

9,830,007
(7,027,883)

(3.819)
(6,602)

(37,332)
2,754,371

(1,764,321)
5,723,061
156,600

4,115,340
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE_-ZF
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SEFMEN

BHIEFE

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company Law
(2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003 and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on
6 October 2009. Its immediate holding company is CRH (Cement)
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Cement Investment
Group Limited), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. Its ultimate holding company is China Resources National
Corporation (“CRNC"), a company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) while the functional currency of the
Company is Renminbi. The Company has selected HK$ as its
presentation currency because the management considered
it is more beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial
statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (“HKICPA™).

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)  Related party disclosures

Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of rights issues
Amendments to HK(IFRIC) Prepayments of a minimum
—INT 14 funding requirement

HK(IFRIC) = INT 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities

with equity instruments

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 EHZE_—= F+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

HKAS 24 Related party disclosures (as revised in 2009)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on the following
two aspects: (a) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has changed the
definition of a related party and (b) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)
introduces a partial exemption from the disclosure requirements
for government-related entities.

The Company and its subsidiaries are government-related entities.
In its annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2010, the Group had applied early the partial
exemption from the disclosure requirements for government-
related entities. In the current year, the Group has applied for
the first time the revised definition of a related party as set out in
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009).

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) requires retrospective application.
The application of HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has had no
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE-ZT——F+-_F=+—HILFE

#a]

AFTE]
& ZE 8|

E8 ) ()

,.111 sT&#EB 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
(BB R HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

B
%
& ) STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

,D]?-

CEGENSAEMPTITIRKEETE New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
BB EER
REBWHRIEFEER 2 BB RRE The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
W] RS BB M R A 2R - HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
EEBITERELER BRESEENIE Amendments to HKFRS 1 Severe hyperinflation and removal
ECACCHEN) BHIRRMEDE of fixed dates for first-time
E B HY adopter’
ERBITRIRELR| T -EES S Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of financial
E75% (1BFIA) B assets’
WEIHESHE Disclosures — Offsetting financial
EkamatE assets and financial liabilities?
BB SRS ZER Mandatory effective date of
EOSRR 14 HKFRS 9 and transition
AR BA N BE disclosures’
it
EAVIERELER SBMIE HKFRS 9 Financial instruments?
SBO5K%
EEMTEMEER GSABEERE HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements?
[0
EEMTEmAEER  HERHR HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements?
E115%
ERISRELR WENEMERLY HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other
H1255% W entities?
EARMBGREER AT EEER? HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement?
SE135%
EHeHERNS 19 25 EMmEEA Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other
(1EETA) TR comprehensive income®
EES R E 125 EIERIE - IKEE Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax — Recovery of
CCHEN) B underlying assets®
EEGTERIE195E BEBAFP HKAS 19 Employee benefits’
(ZZT—%F (as revised in 2011)
SR

110 =E=EHARERAERAE  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



e B ERR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE-_ZT——F+_-_A=+—HILFE

FAHITIRKZEETEEBE 2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

BREER ([EBMBR HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
HEA ) ) STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)
EAGEERIE27 BB R HKAS 27 Separate financial statements?
—EF——4F (as revised in 2011)
KAEET)
BAGEERIE8 NEARIREE HKAS 28 Investments in associates and joint
(Z2—%F NAIHIEE? (as revised in 2011) ventures?
KAEET)
BALFERFERY KHESHEERS Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and
(1BFTA) e & financial liabilities®
HF (BRI ERE BRRBESEER HK(FRIC) - INT 20 Stripping costs in the production
ZEZEY) ERAYRIER A 22 phase of a surface mine?
— 2205
! REF——F+A—ARZEFBEFE 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
B[R
2 REF—=F—F—HARZ#FBHFE 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
FORTERL -
; REF—AF—A—HAREZERHBHFE 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
FORTAER
i REF——F—H—HARZEFHBHFE 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
BT AR
° REF——F+ A— A BRI TFE 5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
BT AR
° REF—mF—F—AZ#FBEFE 6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
B[R
BBEHRE A8 HEQATAREE New and revised HKFRSs on consolidation, joint
NPT REBEITEBMEREER arrangements, associates and disclosures
N-EB——FE A ABABAGS  HE[F In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
ZHE B AT R E AR EEG B arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including
HEEBEREERS1058 FETE HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
WELRNFE 1SR BB BRELERF12 and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

S BB ERER (ZF——FLK
ER) kBB G ERE28H (—F——
FRIERT) ©

= R IRER| T EESREM AT o Key requirements of these five standards are described below.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and
separate financial statements” that deal with consolidated
financial statements and HK(SIC) — INT 12 “Consolidation —
Special purpose entities”. HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of
control that contains three elements: (a) power over an investee,
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Extensive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex
scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures” and
HK(SIC) — INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities — Non-monetary
contributions by venturers”. HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint
arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control
should be classified. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are
classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on
the rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangements.
In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint
arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets
and jointly controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas
jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31 can be accounted
for using the equity method of accounting or proportionate
accounting.
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New and revised HKFRSs on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/
or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the
current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is permitted provided
that all of these five standards are applied early at the same time.

The Directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted
in the Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning 1 January 2013. The application of these five
standards may have significant impact on amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements. However, the Directors
have not yet performed a detailed analysis of the impact of the
application of these standards and hence have not yet quantified
the extent of the impact.

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements.
The standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value, and requires disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both
financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for
which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements
and disclosures about fair value measurements, except in specified
circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS
13 are more extensive than those in the current standards. For
example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the
three-level fair value hierarchy currently required for financial
instruments only under HKFRS 7 “Financial instruments:
Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets and
liabilities within its scope.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement (Continued)

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning 1 January 2013 and that the application of the new
standard may affect the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in either a single statement
or in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to HKAS 1 require additional disclosures to be made
in the other comprehensive income section such that items of
other comprehensive income are grouped into two categories:
(a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss; and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of
other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the
same basis. The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation
of items of other comprehensive income will be modified
accordingly when the amendments are applied in the future
accounting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 EHZE_—= F+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax — Recovery of
underlying assets

The amendments to HKAS 12 provide an exception to the
general principles in HKAS 12 that the measurement of deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should reflect the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of an asset.
Specifically, under the amendments, investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model in accordance with
HKAS 40 “Investment property” are presumed to be recovered
through sale for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes,
unless the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.
The amendments to HKAS 12 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2012. The Directors are in the
process of quantifying the impact of deferred tax liabilities.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the other new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property, which is
measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by other members of the Group.

Al intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance (effective from 1 January 2010
onwards).
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (i)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including
any components of other comprehensive income attributable
to them), and (jii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest, with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain
or loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement” or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquire and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquire (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position as
an intangible asset.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
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Goodwiill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis
of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.



BE&EE (&)

BRIEEIRIN B EEFEIAERE
TRfhEt I A BRI EE ELIE B B ARERE
FIABEFE (A FERFE  FIERE
BERITEFENESRERRETERN M
EAfhEH S e B IRREEE AR
TEE (REEIRINMGIERSF
HRGNR

T REEY) RAEREEER
R M 3t 3404

MR A 1052404F

EAfth 3E354F

HETRE (BRLEERRTHRELER
& HEKITHR A G EEEE) KA
AR B BB R - 2 TAZ M 72
R IR ATETE R D B B E 58 R
HBEEEBE - % FEEREMYEEEN
MREENZFEEEEHRATEE G
FIEITE -

Bl EER A N HEREMRHEERZE
BN E S ARNEM sy BORRER  th
SRR T EEE TR
BIRETE A% EENHEMSHIREERR
E{EMNZR IR IBRAEZ -

Fixed assets (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets
other than construction in progress are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease terms
Plant and machinery 3 to 40 years

Logistic equipment 10 to 40 years

Others 3 to 35 years

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate categories of fixed
asset when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of fixed assets is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the
period in which the item is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at costs
and at their fair value at the acquisition date respectively, less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for mining rights with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effective of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of mining right is
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceed and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss
in the period when it is derecognised.
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Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a jointly
controlled entity. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, interests in
associates are initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group'’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. When the Group's share of losses
of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost
of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Interests in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.
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Interests in jointly controlled entities (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in jointly controlled entities are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the jointly controlled
entities. When the Group's share of losses of a jointly controlled
entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the jointly controlled entity),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of a jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost
of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Interests in jointly controlled entities (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity. When necessary,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Prepaid lease payments

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which
case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element of the lease at
the inception of the lease.
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Prepaid lease payments (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease
is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as fixed
assets.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.
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Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business
and net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable

assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
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Government grants (Continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of the
relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue over
the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which
they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a
separate component of equity (the translation reserve).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly
controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that foreign operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that
do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on acquisitions of foreign operations are treated
as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and interests paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, long term receivables,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or
o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables,
amount due to immediate holding company, loan from a
non-controlling shareholder, loans from intermediate holding
companies and bank loans) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and interests paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Provision for other employee benefits are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employee and is measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the
future obligations discounted to its present value where the effect
is material.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions
are measured at the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HEZZ TZA=T—HBLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Long term award scheme

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of awarded shares granted at the grant date is
recognised as an expense at the grant date when the cash award
is granted with a corresponding increase in equity.

The cost of acquisition of the Company'’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for long term
award scheme. The shares held for long term award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed to the
employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are recognised
as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between the
consideration received and the cost of the shares will be credited
to retained profits.
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Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value.

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the carrying amount
of goodwill are HK$1,133,153,000 and HK$325,570,000
respectively. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in Note 19.

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than expected, a reversal of deferred tax
assets would be recognised in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year in which such
a reversal takes place. As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is HK$95,844,000 and
HK$106,483,000 respectively.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

Where there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows.
The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the
carrying amount of trade receivables are HK$1,949,858,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$72,505,000) and
HK$1,481,868,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$73,326,000) respectively (see Note 25).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #EHZ=% F+—_A=+—HLEFE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of different
products in internal management reports which are prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conformed with HKFRS, that
are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to
allocate resources to the reportable segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products

Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related
products

Turnover represents the amount received and receivable for goods
sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
salaries, share of results of associates and jointly controlled
entities, interest income and finance costs and taxation.
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REVENUE
External sales
Inter-segment sales
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RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income
Finance costs

Unallocated corporate expenses
Share of results of jointly

controlled entities

Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation

The information of segment results are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2011

b/ $i BEL EIE B
FTAET FTHET FTAET FTHET
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
18,296,778 4,943,183 - 23,239,961
1,032,348 216 (1,032,564) -
19,329,126 4,943,399 (1,032,564) 23,239,961

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

4,949,078 373,205 - 5,322,283

70,347
(667,538)
(108,324)

155,000
134,416

4,906,184
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
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INFORMATION (Continued)

HE-F-——F+-A=t+—ALEE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2010

R SERT 88 4B
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEE -5 TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMNEE External sales 10,804,147 3,337,390 - 14,141,537
D2 EHE Inter-segment sales 703,202 30 (703,232) -
11,507,349 3,337,420 (703,232) 14,141,537

S I E IR TS A -

£

ST ON
MisER
ADEREFX
Y NSIE S

FRELAI BRI

RESULTS

Segment results 2,388,886

158,755

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

- 2,547,641

Interest income

Finance costs

Unallocated corporate expenses
Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation

T ——FFR

57,234
(268,042)
(105,263)

(188)

2,231,382
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (Continued)

Information of segment assets and segment liabilities are as

follows:
R+=A=+—H
—EB——F —E-TF
FET FHET
As at 31 December
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEPE E Segment assets
—KJE — Cement 38,118,961 26,783,226
—ERt — Concrete 3,100,829 2,637,836
41,219,790 29,421,062
REEZ N AR Interests in associates 2,119,177 20,142
REFEES E R E R Interests in jointly
controlled entities 1,571,398 894,669
RERIIRE E Deferred tax assets 95,844 106,483
ALRFIE Taxation recoverable 23,645 373
RABARIEE (7ta) Unallocated corporate
assets (note a) 5,427,969 4,885,162
IRAEBERT Consolidated total assets 50,457,823 35,327,891
=L Liabilities
HEEE Segment liabilities
— 7K — Cement 7,418,777 4,815,498
— )RR — Concrete 975,909 903,510
8,394,686 5,719,008
IR :é % Tax liabilities 267,640 122,041
RABRABIERE (77b) Unallocated corporate
liabilities (note b) 21,894,247 14,241,553
mERERR Consolidated total liabilities 30,556,573 20,082,602
it notes:
a APBRAREERRAS LRITHESR CF a Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
WRTER LA EE - bank deposits and assets of the headquarters.
b KA ARABERITER AN EHM b Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans and other payables

B
A 308 - p 4R 17 B el Ao
PR EE  ISR SR
ARERE-

of the headquarters. The bank loans are classified as unallocated corporate
liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of
the Group.

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Additions to fixed assets

Additions to mining rights

Additions to prepaid lease
payments

Additions to goodwill

(Decrease) increase in deposits
for acquisition of fixed assets

Depreciation of fixed assets

Reversal of allowance for
doubtful debts

Amortisation of mining rights

Release of prepaid lease
payments

Gain on change in fair value of
an investment property

Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Other information

For the year ended 31 December 2011

X
FEx

Cement
HK$'000

6,502,559
220,724

512,064
782,579

(140,808)
1,125,146

(676)
29,166

43,002

6,199

ERL
TER

Concrete
HK$'000
302,415

18,471
7,355

11,387
146,264

(43,741)

4,136

(7,000)
1,228

AT
FTEx
Corporate
level
HK$'000

9,064

mEBE
TER
Consolidated
total
HK$'000

6,814,038
220,724

530,535
789,934

(129,421)
1,273,118

(44,417)
29,166

47,138

(7,000)
7,427
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5. EXRFERITHER @) 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
Huad (&) Other information (Continued)
HE-_ZT-ZEF+-A=1T—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2010
K SRR NS IRE 1%
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REETEE Additions to fixed assets 5,359,826 505,739 294 5,865,859
PRuE R N Additions to mining rights 123,291 - - 123,291
B EFRIEL N Additions to prepaid lease
payments 967,897 44,248 - 1,012,145
SR Additions to goodwill 116,550 16,626 - 133,176
BERETEESEIM  Increase (decrease) in deposits
() for acquisition of fixed assets 799,075 (9,979) - 789,096
ETEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 708,958 97,552 638 807,148
RIZHR (M) (Reversal of) allowance for
=g doubtful debts (847) 29,902 - 29,055
PREE M i Amortisation of mining rights 11,738 - - 11,738
TBNEE SR Release of prepaid lease
payments 26,328 1,995 - 28,323
WEWEATEEES  Gain on change in fair value of
EERE an investment property - (18,000) - (18,000)
HERTEEEER Loss (gain) on disposal of
() fixed assets 18,871 (341) 3 18,533
BEEERERBE Impairment loss on fixed assets 61,020 4,330 - 65,350
FREXEEFNESR Information about major customers
REZMEFERN  AREHEFIHEE No sales to customers contributing over 10% of the total sales of
MR EEIHEETEN10% © the Group for both years.
it & & R Geographical information
REENMEBARIERBEE (T All revenue and non-current assets of the Group excluding
BIERIAE B ) R B A3t B/ deferred tax assets are located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong
Kong.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HZE_-Z F+_A=Z+—HLEE
H i It A 6. OTHER INCOME
—E2——F —E-FF
FET FET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBUA Interest income 70,347 57,234
b 5 W Exchange gain 318,518 48,173
BT EEE) Government incentives 94,452 70,482
HERNHEERIE W E Gain on disposal of
prepaid lease payments 9,951 -
I RE R Sales of scrap materials 43,242 9,294
RERBEEE Compensation received
from insurance 1,567 5,983
AR ASUTA Service income 8,000 768
HEWA Rental income 12,186 13,834
H A, Others 47,991 13,878
606,254 219,646
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE-ZET——F+-_F=+—HILFE

7. BBEAR FINANCE COSTS
—E2——F —ET-ZF
FET FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT EIERFE Interests on:
RFANBEBHEENRITER Bank loans wholly
repayable within
five years 707,806 393,017
TFRNBRABBEENRITER Bank loans not wholly
repayable within
five years 6,230 9,723
RERBEZERARER Loans from intermediate
holding companies 67,912 -
RARER FRIE Long term payables 1,717 1,855
783,665 404,595
L EETNMEBBEEEEN ST Less: Amount capitalised to
fixed assets (116,127) (136,553)
667,538 268,042

AEREERYNEBRANE R EL
B58% (ZE—FF:147%) o

Capitalisation rate of borrowing costs to expenditure on
qualifying assets is approximately 5.8% (2010: 4.7%).

150 =E=EHARZERAERAE  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



BEAI BN HE (FEA) A TRE:

EE=ME (H:29)

RIRE AR R 58 H 1 ATE 2 R
(TRFEES)

HAth 8 TH(AK
BT A48 %
RIFEER (BE) B

PRUE R 5N
(Bt AR RITHER)

A2 B8 i 32 B
BEEEFE
HAth FEUCHRIA () BB R 1R

Bl T B ERERARE R 1R
(BEFtA—BRRITHER)

HEBTEERR

AT EEMEEBARNR
*ﬂ%%

"E
ﬁﬁf%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

Profit before taxation has
been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Directors’” emoluments
(Note 9)

Pension costs and
mandatory provident
fund contributions
excluding Directors

Other staff costs

Total staff costs

(Reversal of) allowance for
doubtful debts
Amortisation of
mining rights (included
in general and
administrative expenses)
Auditor’s remuneration
Depreciation of fixed assets
(Reversal of) impairment
loss on other receivables
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of fixed assets
(included in general and
administrative expenses)
Loss on disposal of
fixed assets
Operating lease payments
in respect of
— rented premises
— motor vehicles
Release of prepaid lease
payments

—_E——F

FB
2011
HK$°000

23,014

88,589
1,461,790

1,573,393

(44,417)

29,166
5,123
1,273,118

(4,355)

7,427

35,343
55,399

47,138

—ET-FF

TAT
2010
HK$'000

8,011

57,620
954,731

1,020,362

29,055

11,738
3,995
807,148

14,661

65,350

18,533

24,039

62,696

28,323
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BE-_Z——%+-A=1+—HILEE

Espf

B
WL
KA
2|8 H
YR
o,

o33
hg#
‘oK
LEH
R

Name of Directors

ZHOU Junging?

ZHOU Longshan

PAN Yonghong"

LAU Chung Kwok Robert
DU Wenmin

WEI Bin

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
XU Yongmo

ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen

Directors’ emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2011

BREAR
RigH REHB
ESHE  HeREE QBT Wi HE |
THER TER TER THER T
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries provident Long term
Directors' and fund  Discretionary award
fees  allowances contributions bonus scheme

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

40 1,966 192 2,653 3,760
50 1,610 185 2,587 3,008
10 233 35 - -
50 1,197 120 1,731 2721
50 - - - -
50 - - - -
152 - - - -
152 - - - -
152 - - - -
152 - - - -
152 - - - -

1,010 5,006 532 6,971 9,495

@it
TER

Total
HK$'000

8,611
7,440
278
5825
50

50
152
152
152
152
152

23,014



9. EEME

e BmERMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE -ZT——F+_-_A=+—HILF

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

53

BEEME (8) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
HE-—Z-—ZTFE+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2010
RIKEKA
R it
EZNe HekEl  RESHEX BB Mt
TET TAL TEx FEL FEL
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries provident
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary
EEeE Name of Directors fees allowances  contributions bonus Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B &5 ZHOU Junging 50 1,937 163 650 2,800
[EzE L ZHOU Longshan 50 1410 106 1,063 2,629
2RE LAU Chung Kwok Robert 50 1,041 104 775 1,970
XYy Ll Fuzuo* 29 - - - 29
HXR DU Wenmin 50 - - - 50
W WEI Bin 50 - - - 50
3 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 138 - - - 138
ok XU Yongmo 69 - - - 69
B ZENG Xuemin 138 - - - 138
HE& LAM Chi Yuen 138 - - - 138
762 4,388 373 2,488 8,011

BEFR-E A=t —ABIE

REFR -_F——F A1 —HEZ(E-

HEER =B A=+ AR

The Director resigned on 21 October 2011.

The Director was appointed on 21 October 2071.

The Director resigned on 31 July 2070.

—Z——4F4F3 Annual Report 2011
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RIZ——5F ARG HMEABIER
NAZ=FEF FENFMIANA LX
MM BRA - R —TF  AEE R
FREFIMEATEBFEAES - LR
W& (ZE—TF 18 EAA(EP—%
RAFERNEZERNITES) OF M
T

E4

10.

A=+—BItFE

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals in 2011 included three Directors
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 9
above. The five highest paid individuals in the Group in 2010
do not include any Director. Below are the emoluments of
the remaining two (2010: five) individuals, one of them was
appointed as executive Director during the year.

—g-—-% -T TF

FERT FHET

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

e KRB Salaries and allowances 5,115 26,485

BRIRENARSGEF M RAES HRK Pension costs and

mandatory provident

fund contributions 239 363

REREN T & Long term award scheme 3,449 -

8,803 26,848

REFN T TR -

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

S i
FH FHT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000

3,000,001/ 7T 4,000,000/ 7T HK$3,000,001 to
HK$4,000,000 1 1

4,000,001/ 7L 25,000,000/ 7T HK$4,000,001 to
HK$5,000,000 1 1

5,000,0017% 7T %6,000,0007& 7T HK$5,000,001 to
HK$6,000,000 - 1

6,000,001, 7T 27,000,000/ 7T HK$6,000,001 to
HK$7,000,000 - 2
2 5

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



BIEATR IR
FEMEHR
B A R PSR

RBEFERET R

P B A 1 PSR
EEFRTE (15222)

5
B A

EBNEH T AZ M F AR fhaH BRI A

LA16.5%R) Tt Rt E -

PEIRERAEHETBEARBME

B RIEP B EE TS
BRI R EMG-

HY FE R W e

Current taxation
Hong Kong Profits Tax
Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax

Underprovision in
prior year
Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax

Deferred taxation (Note 22)
Hong Kong
Chinese Mainland

—_E——F
FExT
2011
HK$’000

11,806

518,286

530,092

3,800

(83)
27,813

27,730

561,622

—ET-FF
FET
2010
HK$'000

15,928

118,932

134,860

4,936
(42,259)

(37,323)

97,537

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax represents the income

tax in the Chinese Mainland which is calculated at the prevailing

tax rate on the taxable income of the group entities in the

Chinese Mainland.
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RIEF B AR BUA KA - B At
FZRETHIB A REEHAERFNR
HERE B HEEENFEETNEMR
FRA RGN EARMINE L EFH
(MNEREMEN]) - BER=FZHI
R EFH50%H R R ([RBE]) -

RIEHBE A DEMETAR (TREMRE
BOR]) RIEFRABRAERGD —F—
TER T ——FPERHHE AR
EABB% EETHR_ZT\F—A—H
A ZHEEHRENME AT Z5H
BRARN_TTN\F—A—HEFRF
WNEZBREFHHE BEZF B RN
ETHBAREEZAEZENSESE
ERPIARTE R IR fE I ©

FR A 7 55 (B B A 128 ) B 22 BE A1) 928 [ B
- BERRFERE A fE N2 A T8 R A AR IR
B AP BAMA S  B A RN =F
——F+ = A=+ BIBREE A DRI
R 2 1| (i O G FRF 22 %E8,898,488,000785 7T
— T4 :14,704,204,0005 1) © I £7
PR AP TRERF AELER Ba &L B
o

According to the Chinese Mainland tax laws and regulations,
certain subsidiaries, which are established in Chinese Mainland,
are exempted from Chinese Mainland Foreign Enterprise Income
Tax (the "FEIT") for the first two years starting from their first
profit-making year after offsetting the accumulated losses
brought forward from previous five years, followed by a 50%
reduction on the FEIT for the next three years (“Tax Holiday").

Under the Law of the Chinese Mainland on Enterprise Income
Tax (the "EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland is 25%
in respect of 2010 and 2011, except for certain subsidiaries that
previously enjoyed a preferential tax rate prior to 1 January 2008,
which will be gradually transited to the new tax rate over five
years from 1 January 2008 and certain subsidiaries that previously
enjoyed the Tax Holiday will continue to enjoy such preferential
tax treatment until the expiry of such prescribed period.

No deferred tax liabilities has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits
of HK$8,898,488,000 as at 31 December 2011 (2010:
HK$4,704,204,000) earned by the subsidiaries established in
the Chinese Mainland as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.



N R SE F] BERR A Al AR & BN AR N
T
R A% AT & 7

BB R RSB R25% %

EERRAAANSRNGENERORBZE

EERRRENE D TRAN WA R G T E

SRR TR IS &

AERBRBEEOREZE

BHBERERNRBERNNGZE

DM E R RRENREZE

DIEHREEN EREENNETE

TR RV A RAE O 2 P
FABENYE

RBEFERET R

REZNBRBEHX

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated

profit before taxation as follows:

—E-—fF
THET
2011
HK$'000
Profit before taxation 4,906,184
Tax at the Chinese
Mainland Enterprise
Income Tax rate of 25% 1,226,546
Tax effect of expenses
that are not deductible
in determining taxable
profit 57,508
Tax effect of income
that are not taxable in
determining taxable
profit (34,756)
Tax effect of reduced tax
rate under Tax Holiday (615,842)
Tax effect of tax losses not
recognised 14,483
Tax effect of utilisation of
tax losses not previously
recognised (11,388)
Tax effect of share of
results of associates (33,604)
Tax effect of share results
of jointly controlled
entities (38,750)
Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions (6,375)
Underprovision in prior
years 3,800
Taxation expense
for the year 561,622

—ET-FF

TAT
2010
HK$'000

2,231,382

557,845

67,481

(34,140)

(533,750)

64,920

(16,064)

47

(8,802)

97,537
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12.

A=+

HIEFE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group's defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement scheme are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of employees
and is charged to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Any forfeited contributions in respect
of unvested benefits of staff leavers will be used to reduce the
Group's contributions. There was no significant amount of
unutilised forfeited contributions at the end of each reporting
period. The assets under the MPF are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of the trustee. The Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to the
MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BRN-ZZE——FFHHKE
—EIR0.058 T (—E—T4F )

Bk —ZE—FF RS
— 5 0%0.045/8 7T

EZQYERBE_TTAF+ A
=t B EFEERSGEARM TR
BHEZTTHF+A=T—HLF
[ WA S -

RBERRE BHE-_T—F+=A
=+—HIEFERAR S EAR0.065
T(ZE—ZEF HE_ZT—ZF+-A
=+ HIEFEERMASEL)ERES
R AR EEREAE
BER - HAEE CIRBARRIRAF R
HEIE TR B ST E mEZR AR AR
BB ENRE SRR ENERE—
BHEE.

—g——% —T-TF

TR TAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000

Dividends recognised as
distribution during
the year:
2011 Interim, paid
— HK$0.05 per share
(2010: Nil) 325,963 -
2010 Final, paid

— HK$0.045 per share 293,366 -

619,329 -

The Board did not declare nor propose any payment of dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2009. No payment of dividend
was recorded in the year ended 31 December 2010.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2011 of HK$0.06 per
share (2010: HK$0.045 per share in respect of the year ended
31 December 2010) has been proposed by the Directors and
is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
general meeting. The total amount of the proposed final
dividend, calculated on the Company’s number of shares issued
as at the date of this annual report, is not recognised as a liability
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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14. SRER

160

AR T AR SRR TR
TR E

14.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—F-—-f CZT-ITF

FHET FABT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
B Earnings
RATREB ANELERF —SRERZF Earnings attributable to
owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 4,179,010 2,040,833
—g--% —T-TF
2011 2010
RO EE Number of shares
D& —BRERRBF Number of shares for
the purpose of basic
earnings per share 6,519,255,462 6,519,255,462

RN RIS E AR TEE LR
P R 2 5 S S A A -

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



15.

R UBHRRE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 EHEZZ TZA=T—HBLFE
EEE 15. FIXED ASSETS
Tk
BEY BERRE  URRHE Hitt ERIR nE
TR TR TR TR THERT TERT
landand  Plantand Logistic Construction
buildings  machinery  equipment Others  in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B COST
RZZ—-ZTF—-A—H At 1 January 2010 2,329,795 7,349,752 936,029 445,342 5,063,774 16,124,692
NE Additions 184,659 962,926 358,735 83,598 4,275,941 5,865,859
WEB I B A (#7t40) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 40) 143,088 326,478 41,549 41,021 1,576,005 2,128,141
ERIEBRTHREH Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 1,949,014 4,479,090 302,957 138,720  (6,869,781) -
HE Disposals (10,814) (56,594) (29,506) (4331) - (101,245)
BRAR Exchange adjustments 74,474 255,567 30,724 15,122 214,699 590,586
RZZ-ZF At 31 December 2010
+-A=+—-H 4670216 13,317,219 1,640,488 719,472 4,260,638 24,608,033
NE Additions 216,104 338,409 349,106 54,125 5,856,294 6,814,038
WEE I B AR (#7t40) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 40) 293,830 1,073,761 17,413 4,521 188,297 1,577,822
ERIBBRTHEH Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 1,922,445 4,932,392 93,109 396,556 (7,344,502) -
i Disposals (982) (34,907) (22,363) (3,688) - (61,940
BRAR Exchange adjustments 221,3% 656,975 78,150 34,606 214,897 1,206,022
RZT——F At 31 December 2011
+-A=+—-H 7,323,007 20,283,849 2,155,903 1,205,592 3,175,624 34,143,975
ReHTERRE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
RZZE—ZF—-A—H At 1 January 2010 208,190 1,269,364 270,863 112,220 - 1,860,637
EERY Charge for the year 84324 580,593 103,800 38,431 - 807,148
HE Disposals (4,855) (43,913) (10,916) (3,519) - (63,203)
REZENERAFERSSE  Impairment loss recognised in
(i) profit or loss (note) 10,840 48,829 - 5,681 - 65,350
Gk Exchange adjustments 7,280 54,435 9,564 4,104 - 75,383
RZZ-ZF At 31 December 2010
+-B=1+—H 305,779 1,909,308 373,311 156,917 - 2,745,315
EERX Charge for the year 191,152 863,278 149,609 69,079 - 1273118
HE Disposals (199) (21,976) (11,730 (7,577) - (41,482)
AR Exchange adjustments 16,495 109,404 18,759 8,121 - 152,779
RZT——F At 31 December 2011
+-A=+—H 513,227 2,860,014 529,949 226,540 - 4,129,730
BRE 2 E CARRYING VALUES
RZT——F At 31 December 2011
+-A=+—-H 6,809,780 17,423,835 1,625,954 979,052 3,175,624 30,014,245
RZZ-ZF At 31 December 2010
+=-A=1+—-H 4,364,437 11,407,911 1,267,177 562,555 4,260,638 21,862,718
ZZ——FF3 Annual Report 2011
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15.

A=+—BHLFE

FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

Others mainly comprise furniture and equipment and leasehold
improvements.

note: During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Directors conducted a
review of the Group’s production assets and determined that the assets of
certain subsidiaries were fully impaired due to damage and obsolescence.
Accordingly, impairment loss of HK$65,350,000 was recognised in respect
of those fixed assets.

—E——F —E-TF

FEx FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEEN M REFNREERSE: Carrying values of the land
and buildings of
the Group comprise:
s BB Properties in Hong Kong
held on
—FEFRA — medium-term leases 168,350 173,124
Fr %5 70 B (A 3 1 26 Properties in the Chinese
Mainland held on
—sRHERFE A — medium-term leases 6,641,375 4,191,257
—FE AL — short-term leases 55 56
6,809,780 4,364,437

R-B——F+-A=+—HFAERET
FEHY & AN 25 # 455,252,000 7T ( —
T—4F 1 65,009,000/ 7T ) ©

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2011
is interest capitalised of approximately HK$55,252,000
(2010: HK$65,009,000).

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



16. HENHEERE

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Py
B =

e R IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & ‘1 A=+ H E

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

I

—E——F —E-TF
FER FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
TENHERIBEE: Total prepaid lease
payments:
AR B R i R R EBRAR S i Medium-term leasehold
land in the Chinese
Mainland 2,393,684 1,667,584
JB P —ENPAME R R IR YRR Less: Amount which will be
(FrAH M B FRIEA) charged to profit or
loss within one year
(included in other
receivables) (49,408) (35,987)
2,344,276 1,631,597

BNEERENEBINT

Movements of prepaid lease payments are as follows:

—E2——F —E-TF
FERT FAET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEER Balance at beginning of

the year 1,667,584 454,570
NE Additions 530,535 1,012,145

g hpEElNG] Acquisition of subsidiaries
(f17t40) (Note 40) 173,865 210,773
FINE Y Release for the year (47,138) (28,323)
e Disposals (15,482) -
b 5, 8 & Exchange adjustments 84,320 18,419
FREH Balance at end of the year 2,393,684 1,667,584

TR EHORRE TR B 354 505
T

The lease terms over which the prepaid lease payments are
amortised ranged from 35 to 50 years.

%3k Annual Report 2011
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17. BEWYE 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
—E——F —E-FF
FAET FET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEER Balance at beginning of
the year 52,000 34,000
NEEEE Change in fair value 7,000 18,000
FREE#R Balance at end of the year 59,000 52,000

164

RIE—FR_E—ZTF+_A=+—
B A EE S R £A59,000,000% 7T &
52,000,000/ TTHIR BB BIEANE
B —IEE S - ZIRE YT BB
EEREXGEMBERITERATZE
TG E L BUE R TIHE -

A BRI LA AR S R AT
BrmiHERD RO BRIREME
WA EMEARR

Investment property with fair value of HK$59,000,000 and
HK$52,000,000 as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 respectively,
comprised solely a leasehold property in Hong Kong. This
investment property was valued by an independent qualified
professional valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, by
reference to the market sales comparable approach.

All of the Group’s leasehold interests in land held under
operating leases to earn rental are classified and accounted for as

investment property.

Lt E YN REE R The carrying value of investment property shown above
comprises:
—F-—-fF Z—T-ITF
FET FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BERAENFELNEBNYE Property in Hong Kong
held on long lease 59,000 52,000

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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At 1 January 2010

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 40)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2010

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 40)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2011

ACCUMULATED
AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2010
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2010

Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2011

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2011

At 31 December 2010

FRUEHE R R] {F A HA N 10 Z=50F 1~

=t
=5°

%
8

i g

Goodwiill
HK$’000

186,789

133,176
5,605

325,570

789,934
17,649

1,133,153

1,133,153

325,570

RiERE
THER
Mining
rights
HK$'000

175,488
123,291

28,683
6,817

334,279
220,724

61,578
16,674

633,255

14,665
11,738
807

27,210
29,166
2,064

58,440

574,815

307,069

Mt
TAERT

Total
HK$'000

362,277
123,291

161,859
12,422

659,849
220,724

851,512
34,323

1,766,408

14,665
11,738
807

27,210
29,166
2,064

58,440

1,707,968

632,639

The useful lives of mining rights are ranged from 10 to 50 years.
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EEEBEIREETABEHENRSE
BN REFEME-

AETRENS BEEPREHNKE
BESERORE L& EAK IR
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MRS EAEMANBEETED B
#7/51,086,122,0008 7 (— T — T4
286,773,000/ 7T.) %47,031,00078 7T ( =
T —Z4 138,797,000/ T) °

K RRLRESEESMANIT RS
BILFEREEEEET  WREEEEL
/EE’JEM‘%I’E%?E RIMBSRENRIRE
FHIRERY% (ZE—24F 3%)%‘51‘&
M% (ZF— Ti 1% ) TR E -

ZERERDENTEERTBAET - T
BEBTENTHRMILRE - AFHE
MRS RERATHERERGE FTEEA
BEMNEERRIFEEENE  ZEFE
RENKBTRRAREEEBEHMSEEDN
TEHAMEETE °

BREMRE ZER ZZDEEHAIEE”JT
BEE A EI KR ORE T 5H
Eﬁﬁéﬁﬁhﬁﬁ BIEEECE T

The management regularly determines if there is impairment of
any of its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement
operating segment and concrete operating segment. The carrying
amounts of goodwill allocated to the groups of CGUs of cement
and concrete are HK$1,086,122,000 (2010: HK$286,773,000)
and HK$47,031,000 (2010: HK$38,797,000), respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs of cement
and concrete have been determined based on the value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the management covering a five-
year period with growth rate of 3% (2010: 3%), and discount
rate of 11% (2010: 11%). This growth rate is based on the
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flows
beyond the five year period are extrapolated using zero growth
rate. The key assumption for the value in use calculation is the
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the unit's
past performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of cement and concrete segments to exceed
the aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete
segments.
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W EAN AT

RZZB——F XA AEEUREBARE
1,563,100,0007T ( £91,886,963,000/% 7T.) U2
BEROE (AREH) ERER AR (BIHE
Inner Mongolia Cement Strategic Investment
Holdings Limited) ([ &) &
100% 2 B THRA AR HIER AR —K
REERAR) RFEEERENBE R
AIARE KA AR AFIHI40.6%
Pt o

JEETIRE R A B IE U R & R BT E
A R ER745,368,000/8 7T ( —ZE—F4F:
;) o

RERN AEBERBEEQARTED
54,398,000/ 7T(=ZZ —Z4F : 11,571,00078
JC) °

—g——% —T-TF

THET FAET
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
Unlisted shares, at cost 2,007,065 64,941
Exchange adjustments 22,797 302
Less: Impairment loss
recognised (45,000) (45,000)
Share of post-acquisition
profits 134,315 (101)
2,119,177 20,142

In June 2011, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of China Resources Cement (Inner Mongolia) Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Inner Mongolia Cement Strategic
Investment Holdings Limited) (“Inner Mongolia Holdings"”)
for consideration of RMB1,563,100,000 (approximately
HK$1,886,963,000). Inner Mongolia Holdings is an investment
holding company whose principal asset is its 40.6% equity
interest in an associate, Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd.

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is a goodwill of
HK$745,368,000 (2010: Nil) arising on the acquisition of
associates.

During the year, the Group made capital injection of

approximately HK$54,398,000 (2010: HK$11,571,000) into
associates.
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RERE R RRIMFFBT

BENFEE

Name of associate

BFEEmNE
BREAEAA

Guangxi Rungui Water
Transportation Limited

EEREMEARATF

Zhaoging Runging Water
Transportation Limited

BEEERERT
BREFAH

Hainan Haidao Concrete
Co., Ltd.

AR AREKERR
BARRA

Inner Mongolia Mengxi
Cement Co., Ltd.

AL ALt B

Place of
incorporation

hE A

Chinese Mainland

hERL

Chinese Mainland

hE R

Chinese Mainland

RE AN

Chinese Mainland

E=EAR LRI ARENBE QR

HAKENXERERY

AN EEN TR

ENRBAEE
REEFER T Z R0 o 85I H M

4
/N

Details of the Group's principal associates are as follows:

BRTR
BRRA/EREX

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

ARE
100,000,0007T
RMB100,000,000

N
10,000,0007C
RMB10,000,000

ARE
20,000,0007T
RMB20,000,000

ARE
600,000,0007T
RMB600,000,000

AEERAERTRE
SREEML A
“B--5 _T-ITF
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital held by the Group

2011 2010
49% 49%
49% -
30% 30%
40.6% -

FEXRH

Principal activity

&%

Transportation

&%

Transportation

RRTEERHE

Manufacture and sale of
concrete

KREERHE

Manufacture and sale of
cement

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the
year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

To give details of other associates would result in particulars of
excessive length.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011

e R IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_Z—F+=

A=+-RL%E

REFE XNTNER (@) 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
ERAREEREARNMBETEHE The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
Fnr associates is set out below:
g% —zE
FET FET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BAERE Total assets 7,671,996 82,627
BERE Total liabilities (4,185,641) (29,731)
BEFE Net assets 3,486,355 52,896
REEREHERARNEETE Group's share of net assets
of associates 1,373,809 20,142
EEEE Turnover 4,423,754 81,712
FE AT Profit for the year 329,733 54
REBEREHERRINFEEE Group's share of results of
associates for the year 134,416 (188)
REBEZEGFHERNER 21. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES
g% —zE
F&T FET
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
REREHE B IEETRERAR Cost of unlisted
investments in jointly
controlled entities 1,119,508 617,731
ME B Exchange adjustments 20,333 -
R RN AT Share of post-acquisition
profits 155,000 -
BT —RKARZEHERBHER Loan to a jointly
controlled entity 276,557 276,938
1,571,398 894,669
—ZT——% %3 Annual Report 2011 169
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R-EBE——F+-_A=+—H #£A
THEREBNBREXNAFRBIERZS
—SFRKBEREGEERELEN
7 2141,235,0008 L (ZE—FF:
141,235,000/ 7T ) ~ WEE R K RIE S E
BEZNIIELTRERKAREHEE
EE%E X H) (B 4858 A1,240,570,000
BIL-REREREREHEEME
%5 U K ZK617,731,00058 7T K 2
622,839,000 T AXEBE T IRHT
HEEHIEEHER-

RAFERN  NEEREHERZEHE
BIFENETH B QR A IR
RAB#) A AR ¥405,809,0007T (FE
#49501,777,0005 7T) ©

BT HAEEHERNEFAEER 12
ROmSEEMNXGFERARE T
TERERTREESHEE-

AEE T2 AREHERHOFBNT

ARER MR 2
Place of
Name of company incorporation

RELORBRAR BRE

China Century Cement Bermuda
Limited

2 EXERA BE

Easy Point Industnal Limited Hong Kong

HIEKRRERAR BE

Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong

As at 31 December 2011, included in the cost of investment
in jointly controlled entities is goodwill of HK$141,235,000
(2010: HK$141,235,000) arising on acquisitions of jointly
controlled entities. The aggregate consideration of the
acquisitions of unlisted investment in jointly controlled entities,
and assignment of the loans to the jointly controlled entities is
HK$1,240,570,000. The consideration included the acquisition
cost of HK$617,731,000 for the interests in the jointly controlled
entities and HK$622,839,000 being assignment of loans from the
vendor to the jointly controlled entities.

During the year, the Group acquired non-controlling interests
of certain subsidiaries held by the jointly controlled entities at a
consideration of approximately RMB405,809,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$501,777,000).

The loan to a jointly controlled entity was unsecured, bears
interest at prevailing market borrowing rate and repayable from
2020 onwards by ten equal instalments.

Details of the Group's principal jointly controlled entities are as
follows:

FEERBCRIRE
BRTEBEREEE SREE LB TEER
B C—T-%F
Nominal value Proportion of nominal
of issued value of issued share
ordinary shares  capital held by the Group Principal activity
2011 2010
26,2905 1T 50% 50%  ACERERLEREEERS
&=
US$26,290 Manufacture and sale of
cement and concrete
products
5,000/ 7T 50% 50%  EEEERB
HK$5,000 Provision of management
Services
10,000 7T 50% 50%  KREEHEE
HK$10,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
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For the year ended 31 December 2011

21.

e R IR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—Z——F+-A=t+—HLFE

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

The above table lists the jointly controlled entities of the Group
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other jointly controlled entities
would result in particulars of excessive length.

Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
interests in the jointly controlled entities which are accounted for
using equity method is set out below:

—E——F —E-TF
FTHET FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
mMENEE Current assets 887,077 719,367
JEMBNA E Non-current assets 1,320,232 1,306,510
mEEE Current liabilities 423,898 568,318
EmBIAE Non-current liabilities 869,634 732,291
FEIE MR Non-controlling interests 299,512 248,772
RIEZ MR 2 W Income recognised

in profit or loss 1,263,106 -

REZE AR A Expense recognised
in profit or loss 1,145,670 -

RAARER = F B+ = A=+
B AR H R BORE W E
—E-FE A=+ -BLEERT
AR R R A 2 E R R

During the year ended 31 December 2010, there was no income
or expenses recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as the Group completed its acquisitions of the jointly
controlled entities on 31 December 2010.
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i SE T E

b7
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AT RAERERERNEBEERRE
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22.

A=+

B ks

g

DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the

year.
EBAOHRE REMFE
MEHERE AVEERE ALEELSD BIEEE Bt
TR TR TR THER THET
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of
tax  onbusiness  investment
depreciation combinations property Tax losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE—ZHF—H—H At1January 2010 (29,187) (24,861) - 22,421 (31,627)
AEFFA (k) Credit (charge) for the year
(Ht11) (Note 11) 642 5,961 (5579) 36,299 37,323
Wi BEMT BN ] (M77240)  Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 40) - (16,176) - 46,696 30,520
0 5 Exchange adjustments - (333) - 1,067 734
RZZ-ZF At 31 December 2010
+-A=+—H (28,545) (35,409) (5,579) 106,483 36,950
AEEZFA (NE) Credit (charge) for the year
(HEt11) (Note 11) 83 (4,469) (1,155) (22,189) (27,730)
URRERI B A B (Hf5#40)  Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 40) - (25,948) - 6,438 (19,510)
R Exchange adjustments - (1,911) - 4,586 2,675
R_E—F At 31 December 2011
+-A=+—"H (28,462) (67,737) (6,734) 95,318 (7,615)

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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EENIRAE

RZBE——F+_A=+—H K&
B HEERRABMNORBABIE
E518 51,047,973,0008 T (— &2 — &
% :1,072,646,0008 70) ~HZEE
$8374,989,0008 L (=T — = F:
411,278,000 L) E R IELEFHHE
EE o 8RN HY T 18 85 18672,984,000/%8 7T
— T — T4 661,368,000/ 7T) AR
KRR EF AR AT - W TR
FEEFIBEAE ;I ARERHRIEEEN
598 49270,007,0008 7 (=T —FF:
242,963,000 ) SR BEEFERLA
FEE - EfbE IS ] se EPR HA A0S o

—_E——F
FExT
2011
HK$’000

Deferred tax assets 95,844
Deferred tax liabilities (103,459)

(7.615)

—E-FF
FHET
2010
HK$'000

106,483

(69,533)

36,950

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$1,047,973,000 (2010: HK$1,072,646,000) available to offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$374,989,000 (2010: HK$411,278,000) of
such losses. No deferred tax assets have been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$672,984,000 (2010:
HK$661,368,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$270,007,000 (2010: HK$242,963,000) which will expire 5
years from the year of origination. Other losses may be carried

forward indefinitely.
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A=+—BHLFE

& H B WO IR 23. LONG TERM RECEIVABLES
—E——F —E-TF
FET FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
REH) At the beginning of
the year 498,585 377,473
FREHR Advances during the year 111,868 228,694
FRER Repayment during the year (30,918) (164,525)
g1 by lNG] Acquisition of subsidiaries - 43,253
b 54, 8 B Exchange adjustments 24,743 13,690
604,278 498,585
S8 — FEREIHRR RIS Less: Amount due within
(FFAE A U FIR) one year
(included in other
receivables) (179,170) (162,301)
RER At the end of the year 425,108 336,284

SRR T T HOBT SA A S
I AR AR B R A
# B iR B A R TR BT 1
LGECR

The advances were made to the local governments to facilitate
the transfer of land for the Group for construction of production
lines. The advances were unsecured and carried interest at the
prevailing market borrowing rates determined by The People’s

Bank of China.

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE-ZET——F+ - A=+—HILFE

7E 24. INVENTORIES
—E-—-F —IZT-EZF
FEx FET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
[R# KRB FE & Raw materials and
consumables 1,369,317 833,891
ER Work in progress 576,435 146,086
BURK fh Finished goods 350,283 202,047
2,296,035 1,182,024
B2 =h
ERE SR 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES
—E-—F ZZ-EZF
FET FAET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
EWE=FEZHIE Trade receivables from
third parties 1,932,955 1,471,460
FEWR R E A RINE 58 Trade receivables from
fellow subsidiaries 16,903 10,408
1,949,858 1,481,868
AEEEGTHEP ERHBEZAME The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period to its
T ROE60H K F{E EBRRIIER © customers ranging from 0 to 60 days from the date of issuance of

invoices.
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T ARSREERRIEZEEB IR The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of

KB E SRR (kR RERRER) (VAR allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice
BT o date at the end of each reporting period.
—E-—-F —IZT-EZF
FTET FAT
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
0290H 0 to 90 days 1,777,292 1,311,824
91£180H 91 to 180 days 126,653 136,886
1812365H 181 to 365 days 45,913 33,158
1,949,858 1,481,868
BHERFEENERE SRR Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired

S L

FERT FHET
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
#EI1ZE90H Past due 1 to 90 days 304,269 336,517
#1HA91E180H Past due 91 to 180 days 95,710 72,748
#HA181%365H Past due 181 to 365 days 44,344 28,464
444,323 437,729

REEWEFSZSBHREHRTE TR The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances which

e are past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 &EHZ—_ZT——F+_A=+—HIFE
FEWE Z RMK (#) 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
RIBERHENEE Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
—B——fF —ZF
FET FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHHE Balance at beginning of
the year 73,326 47,672
AR (BE)HIR (Reversal of) allowance for
doubtful debts (44,417) 29,055
FREKFHIAE Amounts recovered during
the year 38,134 -
Hil$H A AT Uy 21 3R8 Amount written off as
uncollectible (215) (6,465)
e 54, 8 2 Exchange adjustments 5,677 3,064
FREE#R Balance at end of the year 72,505 73,326
TR T EWE 5 BR Sy Al g Bl 1 B - 7K In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group
SEgERAVAELEERMRER considers any changes in the credit quality of individual trade
HEARENSERKE ZRFINEES receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the
BENEAEES AREFPAREXNE reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to
RS EERRNEPIEEAR - the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, no
Eit - HAELE— S HEE further allowance is required.
FE WK H [ 42 o) & 88 FRUOH 26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINTLY

e FHE 5 B BB R R B RIR
TS EEMNERG R RAREREE-

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The amounts due from jointly controlled entities are unsecured,
bear interest at prevailing market borrowing rate and repayable

on demand.

—T——FFR
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27.

28.

178

EERRTER

10,150,000 TR RITF R (Z T —F
£ 19,220,000 7T) EE RIS R P
HE A 48 T 17 3K1,665,000% 7T (=
T—TFF) D ERARGRITRE -

RERBITEER
e RBTEBOEARARENRS

FRTTHER (BREBMIAERES =@
AREIHERRITER)

27.

28.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Bank deposits of HK$10,150,000 (2010: HK$9,220,000) have
been pledged to secure sales contracts with customers. The
remaining deposits of HK$1,665,000 (2010: Nil) have been
pledged to secure banking facilities.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and
bank balances (including short-term bank deposits with maturity
within three months from initial inception).

—B-——-F C—T-TF

% %
2011 2010
% %
RITAERREV N R & E Range of interest rates of
the bank balances 0.01-3.10 0.01-2.23

SEARITHE SR AR N ERNIREE
EASN BB EHER FRIBLA T ©

Included in bank balances are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they are related.

—F-—-F Z—T-ITF

FET FHET

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 1,224,280 1,557,377
ETT us$ 33,457 22,176

EBARERBMRAE  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 EHZE_—= F+_A=+—HIFE
BN EZEMR 29. TRADE PAYABLES

—E2——F —E-FF
FHExT FET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000

ERE=A0E8FEHN Trade payables to
third parties 3,374,944 1,752,126

ENRAEWBATNE SRR Trade payables to
fellow subsidiaries 53,564 84,095
3,428,508 1,836,221

AEEBEENEHEBIRIG30E081E
EH-UTARSREHMRREERA
HSIR e B B IR AR ER DA

The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days from
its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting

period.
—EB——F —E-TF
THET THT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
0%90H 0 to 90 days 3,022,217 1,709,505
91£180H 91 to 180 days 193,034 92,176
1812365H 181 to 365 days 194,349 16,706
HAiAE365H Over 365 days 18,908 17,834
3,428,508 1,836,221

ZZ——FF3 Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE_-ZF

30.

31.

32.

33.

180

2 ffg

F+=-—H =

30.

D iﬁﬁ/g

PROVISIONS

—B——-F C—T-TF

FBT FHET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEER Balance at beginning of
the year 43,008 46,610
FEEHN Paid during the year (13,428) (3,602)
FARER Balance at end of the year 29,580 43,008
BMEMS AT Analysed for reporting
purposes as:
ERBIEE Non-current liabilities 25,328 38,957
MEA & Current liabilities 4,252 4,051
29,580 43,008

ZEBRBEN T RINEE XBERIER
BIRERE - ZENHBREEERR R
KB E kit gBERRRSSERT -

BAEZEZRQRFE

ZHARELR R ENARENRER -

RE—BFERRRER

KA —RIERBERER BN 12
ROTMBRENEG S RARERE
E-BRBRCRFRBEERZIE
PR AR B A B — BB

REEEERARER

BREFAERR RBRITTISEEF
Kt B RBRIEHER A BT/ EA
WEE - BB ZERARNFE X HEH
AP EET o

31.

32.

33.

The provisions relate to payments to retired or laid-off employees.
Such payments comprise various benefits including old age
benefits, subsidies for retirement and social medical benefits.

AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

The loan from a non-controlling shareholder was unsecured
and bears interest at the prevailing market borrowing rate and
repayable on demand. The balance was settled during the year
as part of the capital contribution from the non-controlling
shareholder.

LOANS FROM INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANIES

The loans are unsecured, bear interest at the prevailing market
borrowing rates and are repayable within six months from the
date the loans were made. The interest expenses charged by
intermediate holding companies are set out in Note 7.

EBARERBMRAE  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



AR TIIHBEENRITER:

—FR
—EFREREFER

MEREB=FR

=—FRENER

MEREAFA

RENE

B ETARB R ER —F AR BRI

—FRI BN FIR

BEHEMA (iF)
E AL

RITER DR FELE -#E T ——
F+-A=Z=+—BHIFE AREHIRE
TEFHERF EHEHENR0.99%
2725% 2B (ZE—FF:0.70%%
6.40% ) °

Bank loans are repayable as
follows:
Within one year
After one year but
within two years
After two years but
within three years
After three years but
within four years
After four years but
within five years
After five years

Less: Amount due within
one year included
in current liabilities

Amount due after one year

Secured (note)
Unsecured

—_E——F
FExT
2011
HK$’000

10,458,948

3,880,243

3,189,405

1,111,590

1,761,675
92,513

20,494,374

(10,458,948)

10,035,426

409,927
20,084,447

20,494,374

—ET-FF
FET
2010
HK$'000

4,959,792

2,118,063

3,591,859

1,138,123

1,069,414
146,897

13,024,148

(4,959,792)

8,064,356

440,693
12,583,455

13,024,148

Bank loans were arranged at variable rates. The effective interest
rates of the Group’s bank loans ranged from 0.99% to 7.25%
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: 0.70% to 6.40%).
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 EHZE_-ZF FTZA=T—HIEFE
34. RITENR (&) 34. BANK LOANS (Continued)
RITERIEROAFTAT The analysis of the terms of the bank loans were as follows:
—E——F —E-TF
FER FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEERK Fixed rate borrowings - 822,626
ERER Variable rate borrowings 20,494,374 12,201,522
20,494,374 13,024,148
it RITEFRANTEEERR: note:  The bank loans were secured by the following assets:
=B-——-F —"T-ZF
FER FET
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
T R EEY) Land and buildings 213,358 136,028
7 &% Plant and machinery 189,470 75,440
TERTMEERIE Prepaid lease payments 21,804 6,251
FRUERE Mining rights 123,895 127,825
548,527 345,544
FFARITERH U REENIEE Included in bank loans were the following amounts denominated
SN BB ETERRIEL T in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to

which they are related:

—g——F —F-=F

TET TAT

2011 2010

HK$000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 8,330,000 5,655,000
e uss$ 1,282,541 1,010,837
9,612,541 6,665,837
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As at 31 December 2009, the Group had outstanding payment
of RMB33,708,000 (equivalent to HK$41,579,000) which
was payable in six annual payments of RMB5,618,000 each
(equivalent to HK$6,929,800) until 2015. As at 31 December
2011, the discounted present value of the outstanding amount
payable amounted to HK$24,133,000 (2010: HK$27,925,000)
of which HK$5,517,000 (2010: HK$4,958,000) was payable
within one year and was included in other payables of the
Group and the remaining balance of HK$18,616,000 (2010:
HK$22,967,000) was presented as long term payables.

During the year, the Group acquired two cement subsidiaries in
Yunnan. At the completion of the acquisition, these subsidiaries
had outstanding debts of RMB14,400,000 (equivalent
to HK$17,762,400) and RMB18,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$22,203,000) which were payable in six annual payments of
RMB2,400,000 (equivalent to HK$2,960,000) each until 2017
and eighteen annual payments of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,234,000) each until 2029 respectively. As at 31 December
2011, the discounted present value of the outstanding amount
payable amounted to HK$26,642,000 of which HK$3,973,000
were payable within one year and was included in other payables
of the Group and the remaining balance of HK$22,669,000 were
presented as long term payables.
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36.

For the year ended 31 December 2011 EHZ=_—= F+_A=+—HILFEE
fig 7 36. SHARE CAPITAL
BHEE o}
FET
Number of
shares Amounts
HK$'000
SIRMEE0. 10 TR L BAR - Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
JETE Authorised:
R-ZE—ZF—H—H" At 1 January 2010,
ZEEFERIF——F 31 December 2010 and 2011
+—-—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITREE Issued and fully paid:
RWZZE—ZTF—-HA—0" At 1 January 2010,
ZE-EFERIF——F 31 December 2010 and 2011
+=—A=+—H 6,519,255,462 651,926

37.
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37.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
in both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes the bank loans disclosed in Note 34 and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The management of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associates with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management,
the Group will balance its overall structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Categories of financial instruments

—E——F —E-TF

FHET FET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
(including cash and cash
equivalents) 6,951,967 6,132,050
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 28,804,122 16,970,880

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from jointly controlled entities,
long term receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and bank
balances, trade and other payables, amount due to immediate
holding company, loan from a non-controlling shareholder, loans
from intermediate holding companies and bank loans. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies about how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from its bank
balances, long term and short term borrowings. Borrowings at
fixed and variable interest rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank loans
outstanding at the end of each of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 31 December 2011 would be decreased/increased
by HK$82,188,000 (2010: decreased/increased by approximately
HK$50,029,000).

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which are denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
are related (see Notes 28 and 34 for details). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated

monetary items and adjusts their translation at year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive or negative number
below indicates an increase or a decrease in post-tax profit
where the RMB strengthens 5% against HK$ and US$. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against HK$ and US$, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

=F-—-F
FHET
2011
HK$°000

if RMB strengthens
against HK$ 337,147

if RMB strengthens
against US$ 59,744

—E—2F
FET
2010
HK$'000

226,666

9,825
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
formulated a defined fixed credit policy and delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group also reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable regularly
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk on trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants. As at 31 December
2011, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of
approximately HK$11,115,000,000 to meet the Group’s future
expansion and satisfy its existing liabilities. The management is
also in the process of negotiating with the banks to refinance
its short term banking facilities to long term. In addition,
the Company has an intra-group lending agreement among
companies of the China Resources Group whereby borrowings
may be made which will be guaranteed by its ultimate holding
company.

In order to mitigate the liquidity risk, the management regularly
monitors the operating cash flow of the Group to meet its
liquidity requirements in short and long term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 EHZ=_—= F+—A=+—HIFE
38. @I A (&) 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
SRERTENEEREE (£&) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
FEBELERE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
B E & R FIEE b & Liquidity and interest risk tables
—FHE MENE BNRER
FHHE —Fn ETEBWEF EFBBIF BBEF ReREBAE REE
% FET TET TET TET TET TET
More than ~ More than Total
1yearbut 2 years but contractual
Average Within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZE——F As at 31 December
tZA=+t—A 20
EFE SR Trade payables - 3428508 - - - 3428508 3,428,508
HMEMFUE  Other payables - 3962739 - - - 3962739 3,962,739
R B R Amount due to
AEFIE immediate holding
company - 37,688 - - - 37,688 37,688
KRB REER Loans from
DAER intermediate
holding companies - 880,813 - - - 880,813 880,813
RITER Bank loans
— R BRI ~ Variable rate 42 11075274 4156197 6324320 94,085 21649876 20,494,374
19385022 4,156,197 6,324,320 94,085 29959624 28,804,122
R-ZZ-ZTF As at 31 December
+ZA=+—-8 2010
EFRESER  Trade payables - 1,836,221 - - - 1,836,221 1,836,221
HMEMFUE  Other payables - 21105M - - - 21105M 2,110,511
BITER Bank loans
—EEFE — Fixed rate 39 822,626 = - - 822,626 822,626
—FBFE — Variable rate 37 4547230 2387154 6,118,604 156,299 13209287 12,201,522
9316588 2387154 6,118,604 156,299 17,978,645 16,970,880
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For the year ended 31 December 2011

39.

40.

e PBEHRRE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z——F+_A=T—RHILLFE

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2011

@)

In August 2011, the Group acquired (1) 96.25% equity
interest of San Teh (China) Cement Co., Ltd. (“San Teh"),
which held 70% equity interest in each of Dali San Teh
Building Materials Industry Co., Ltd. and Dali San Teh
Cement Co., Ltd. from independent third parties; and
(2) 30% equity interest in each of Dali San Teh Building
Materials Industry Co., Ltd. and Dali San Teh Cement
Co., Ltd. from an independent third party for a total
consideration of approximately HK$1,641,226,000. San
Teh and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement. The acquisition has
been accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)

@)

(Continued)

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and
the goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

Net assets acquired:
Fixed assets
Prepaid lease payments
Intangible assets
Interests in associates
Deposits for acquisition of

fixed assets

Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Taxation recoverable
Cash and bank balances
Trade payables
Other payables
Taxation payable
Long term payables
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets acquired

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

Consideration transferred

Add: Non-controlling
interests

Less: Net assets acquired

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration

Net cash outflow arising on
acquisition:
Cash consideration
Less: Amounts included in
other payables
Cash and bank
balances acquired

WUWHE
RS B B/
AFEE
AT
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$°000

1,083,895
80,178
51,190

763

13,364
5,820
65,056
42,459
215,508
181
196,784
(170,444)
(358,201)
(3,299)
)

)

1,184,928

1,641,226

36,529
(1,184,928)

492,827

(1,641,226)

(1,641,226)
79,383

196,784
(1,365,059)
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)

@

(Continued)

The acquisition of San Teh and its subsidiaries enabled
the Group to extend its market presence in Yunnan
and the anticipated future operating synergies from
the combination would bring benefits to our cement
operations.

The non-controlling interests recognised at the acquisition
date was measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, there was
no income or expense recognised in profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as the Group completed
its acquisition on 31 December 2011. If the acquisition
of Sah Teh and its subsidiaries had been completed on 1
January 2011, the Group's turnover for the year would
have been HK$24,023,816,000, and profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year would have been
HK$4,259,899,000.

During the year, the Group acquired several cement and
concrete subsidiaries from independent third parties for
a total consideration of HK$623,488,000 The acquired
subsidiaries are principally engaged in manufacture and
sale of cement and concrete. These acquisitions have
been accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting.
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The acquired cement and concrete companies are as
follows:

(i) China Resources Cement (Lianjiang) Limited
(formerly known as Fuzhou Xinshi Cement Co.,
Ltd.)

(ii) China Resources Cement (Xinzhou) Limited
(formerly known as Shanxi Yaohua Cement

Limited)

(iii) Fujian Zhangping Zhenhong Cement Co., Ltd.

(iv) Fujian Zhangping Shengbao Cement Co., Ltd.

(v) Dingan Penggang Concrete Co., Ltd.

(vi) Hainan Penggang Concrete Co., Ltd.

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)
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The aggregate net assets acquired in these transactions
and the goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

Net assets acquired:
Fixed assets
Prepaid lease payments
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and bank balances
Trade payables
Other payables
Taxation payables
Amount due to
a holding company
Loan from a non-controlling
shareholder
Bank loans
Deferred tax liabilities

Goodwill arising on acquisition:
Consideration transferred
Add: Non-controlling

interests
Less: Net assets acquired
Amounts due by
shareholders
assigned to
the Group

Goodwill arising on
acquisition

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration

Net cash outflow arising
on acquisition
Cash consideration
Less: Amounts included in
other payables
Cash and bank
balances acquired

WULHE
RUkEE BHIM
AT RE
FHERT
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$'000

493,927
93,687
10,388

1,140
40,220
25,602
95,160

8,062
(64,467)
(82,194)

(6,265)

(41,577)
(177,499)

(56,525)
(10,813)

328,846

623,488

44,042
(328,846)

(41,577)

297,107

(623,488)

(623,488)

365,016

8,062
(250,410)
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of the several cement and
concrete subsidiaries represents value obtainable from
synergies with the Group and opportunities for the Group
to bring its expertise to the proposition and access to the
region of the Chinese Mainland that are provided by the
above newly acquired subsidiaries.

The several cement and concrete subsidiaries contributed
HK$224,804,000 to the Group's turnover and
HK$15,015,000 profit to the Group's profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the period from the date
of acquisition to 31 December 2011. If the acquisition
of the several cement and concrete subsidiaries had
been completed on 1 January 2011, there would be
insignificant effect on the Group’s turnover and profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

The above proforma information is for illustrative purpose only
and is not necessarily an indication of turnover and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2011, nor is it
intended to be projection of future results.

For the year ended 31 December 2010

@)

In June 2010, the Group acquired 72% equity interest
of Guardwise Investments Limited (“Guardwise
Investments”) from an independent third party for
a consideration of US$72 (equivalent to HK$562).
Guardwise Investments is an investment holding company
and its sole asset is an investment in a wholly owned
subsidiary whose principal activity is manufacture and sale
of cement. The acquisition has been accounted for using
the acquisition method of accounting.
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

@

(Continued)

The aggregate net liabilities acquired in the transaction

MIKEEFHEENT and the goodwill arising on the acquisition were as
follows:
BB 75
AU B EH
ATEE
FHEIT
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
BURIEEEFE: Net assets acquired:
&l E & &= Fixed assets 1,225,539
TEfSHEERIEA Prepaid lease payments 51,135
mILEE Intangible assets 18,734
BEETEES® Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 206,572
RIETRIEE E Deferred tax assets 17,312
E e Y GRIE Other receivables 72,004
Re RIRTTHER Cash and bank balances 4,087
E R 5RIE Other payables (1,273,140)
IRITER Bank loans (114,039)
A —BIFERRRER Loan from a non-controlling
shareholder (234,436)
Frug g & & %E Net liabilities acquired (26,232)
WHEFTE R Goodwill arising on acquisition:
EEEAE Consideration transferred 1
a0 B EFE Add: Net liabilities acquired 26,232
OB IEPRRR R AR Less: Non-controlling
interests (7,345)
W FTEE A U2 Goodwill arising on acquisition 18,888
AR Satisfied by:
ReRE Cash consideration 1
WHEEAMRSMAFRE Net cash inflow arising on
acquisition:
RERE Cash consideration (1)
BUEEIR S MIRTTEH Cash and bank balances
acquired 4,087
4,086
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P 7 A 2 B A UBE Guardwise
Investments & EL & A R AT 2 74
SEEREMSZILEAEE M6
SR BRRER S A EE
K EEBZE -

Guardwise Investments 2 £ fft
BARABAEWKEXAWER
REHRBRE-_E—ZFF+=-A
—t+—HIEAEAREEE:
%A 22,437,000/ LI AR A
AHEA AEEREBRBF K
23,054,000/ 7T B &5 18 © fist 4 4B
Guardwise Investments &z £ ff} &
RAEIERZZE—FTF—H—H%E
R ASEEEBE _T—TF
TZA=t—HIEFEMNEER
RBFEZEEM -

RZE—ZTFNA - KAEER
—RBNE-FHREARBEE
NAMEEREER REBR
810,000,000 7T » B IZ A RINE
MR RN EEERBEDR-
KRR T BV TS - ZWHER
FAGETWEEAR-

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

€)

(b)

(Continued)

Goodwill arose because the acquisition of Guardwise
Investments and its subsidiary enabled the Group to
extend its market presence in Shanxi Province and
the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination would bring benefits to our cement
operations.

Guardwise Investments and its subsidiary has contributed
HK$22,437,000 to the Group’s turnover and
HK$23,054,000 loss to the Group's profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the period from the
date of its being acquired as subsidiary to 31 December
2010. If the acquisition of Guardwise Investments and its
subsidiary had been completed on 1 January 2010, there
would be insignificant effect on the Group's turnover and
profit for the year ended 31 December 2010.

In September 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of six Target Companies from an independent
third party for a consideration of HK$810,000,000. The
Target Companies are engaged in the manufacture and
sale of clinker, cement and concrete in Huizhou and
Ningbo. The acquisition has been accounted for using the
acquisition method of accounting.
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The six Target Companies were as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Huizhou China Resources Transportation
Company Limited (formerly known as Huizhou
Universal Transportation Company Limited)

China Resources Concrete (Huizhou) Limited
(formerly known as Huizhou Universal Concrete
Co., Ltd.)

Huizhou China Resources Jiancai Limited (formerly
known as Huizhou Universal Construction
Material Co., Ltd.)

China Resources Cement (Huizhou) Limited
(formerly known as Huizhou Universal Cement
Company Limited)

Ningbo Ying's Universal Building Material Co., Ltd.
(subsequently known as Ningbo Xiaogang China
Resources Concrete Limited)

Ningbo Beilun Ying's Universal Architecture
Material Co., Ltd. (subsequently known as China
Resources Concrete (Ningbo) Limited)

3R  Annual Report 2011 199



e MR HRRMTEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
# = A=+

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE = T HIEFE

40. WEEKIEB 2 B (#) 40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BE-Z—-ZEE+-H=+—HILE For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)
E (&)
(b) (%8&) (b) (Continued)

R 5B EEF BRI

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and

MIKEESHREENT the goodwiill arising on the acquisition were as follows:
wWUE A
MU B E
ATEE
FHET
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
EWEEETE: Net assets acquired:
TFEEE Fixed assets 804,526
JEFAERIE Prepaid lease payments 124,159
mEEE Intangible assets 9,949
BEETEES® Deposits for acquisitions of
fixed assets 9,696
RARFE YL GRIA Long term receivables 43,253
RETRIBE B Deferred tax assets 23,668
FE Inventories 58,307
FEWE B AR Trade receivables 149,893
H b e W sk IE Other receivables 40,997
REe RIRTTEER Cash and bank balances 61,847
FEE SRR Trade payables (37,580)
H fhfE R 5RIE Other payables (86,211)
RITER Bank loans (457,062)
FRETRIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (9,512)
BUEEE EFE Net assets acquired 735,930
B E Goodwill arising on acquisition 74,070
BRE Total consideration 810,000
AR Satisfied by:
RERE Cash consideration (810,000)
WHEEENRESRAFRE: Net cash inflow arising on
acquisition:
ReRE Cash consideration (810,000)
JBEF AR MER SRIEN SRR Less: Amounts included in
other payables 767,952
EUEER S MIRTTH Cash and bank
balances acquired 61,847
19,799
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REBRANFFAIDTEAE
H R TR BB -

AEEBEREATRKERARES
—“E2-FF+-_A=+—H8I1t
HEAREEMEXETEER
225,458,000/ T R AR EIES
AFE(L 7R S B A F)H5 2K 1,808,000
op o= E R 1 G AN ISR N
AIERZ-ZZE—ZF—HF—HE
PR BN SEBRARFE & 55
15 & /514,559,582,0007% 7T M A
NREB AEIEARFERFE
752,045,751,00078 7T ©

RZE—ZF KAEERBVE
=R E TR RORE LB
NAME M EER BRER
117,818,000/ 7T, © AT W i & BT /38
NAEERFEERBEKER
RERTHES ZEFREC RS
FTUREEE AR -

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of the six Target Companies
represents value obtainable from synergies with the
Group and opportunities for the Group to bring its
expertise to the proposition and access to the region of
the Chinese Mainland that are provided by the above
newly acquired subsidiaries.

The six Target Companies contributed HK$225,458,000
to the Group's turnover and HK$1,808,000 profit to the
Group's profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the period from the date of acquisition to 31 December
2010. If the acquisition of the six Target Companies had
been completed on 1 January 2010, the Group’s turnover
for the year would have been HK$14,559,582,000 and
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
would have been HK$2,045,751,000.

During 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
of several cement and concrete subsidiaries from
independent third parties for a total consideration of
HK$117,818,000. The acquired subsidiaries are principally
engaged in manufacture and sale of cement and
concrete. These acquisitions have been accounted for
using the acquisition method of accounting.
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(Continued)

The acquired cement and concrete companies were as
follows:

(i) China Resources Cement (Jiangmen) Limited
(formerly known as Jiangmen Jiaotou Longcheng
Trading Ltd.)

(ii) China Resources Cement (Quanzhou) Limited
(formerly known as San Teh (Quanzhou) Building
Materials Co. Ltd.)

(iif) China Resources Concrete (Yangjiang) Limited
(formerly known as Yangjiang Penggang Concrete
Limited)

(iv) China Resources Concrete (Xiamen) Limited
(formerly known as Xiamen lJinggi Concrete
Limited)

v) Heyuan China Resources Huida Concrete Limited
(vi) Zhanjiang China Resources Pengyuan Concrete

Limited (formerly known as Zhanjiang Pengyuan
Concrete Limited)

EHACRIERABMRAAF  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

©

(Continued)

The aggregate net assets acquired in these transactions

BARKBEENEENT and the goodwill arising on the acquisition were as
follows:
wWikE A
RUEE B EH
ATEE
FHET
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
EWEEETE: Net assets acquired:
EE & E Fixed assets 98,076
TS HEERIEAE Prepaid lease payments 35,479
EEETEER =2 Deposits for acquisitions of
fixed assets 500
BT IBE E Deferred tax assets 74
FE Inventories 7,646
JEUE 5 8RN Trade receivables 7,704
Ho b e W sk I8 Other receivables 8,205
He MIRTTH Cash and bank balances 7,117
JEE BRI Trade payables (13,211)
H At T 50IE Other payables (67,359)
JE R IE Taxation payables (1,015)
IRITER Bank loans (4,594)
BEEIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (1,022)
BUIEEEFE Net assets acquired 77,600
IS E R EHE Goodwill arising on acquisition 40,218
R{ELEE Total consideration 117,818
XRAR: Satisfied by:
RERE Cash consideration (117,818)
WHEEENR ML FE Net cash outflow arising on
acquisition
HeERE Cash consideration (117,818)
JB ETAE AR SRIER S B Less: Amounts included in
other payables 54,550
BUNEEIR & MIRTTEH Cash and bank
balances acquired 7,117
(56,151)
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(@} (Continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of the several cement and
concrete subsidiaries represents value obtainable from
synergies with the Group and opportunities for the Group
to bring its expertise to the proposition and access to the
region of the Chinese Mainland that are provided by the
above newly acquired subsidiaries.

The several cement and concrete subsidiaries contributed
HK$24,937,000 to the Group’s turnover and
HK$4,813,000 profit to the Group’s profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the period from the date
of acquisition to 31 December 2010. If the acquisition
of the several cement and concrete subsidiaries had
been completed on 1 January 2010, there would be
insignificant effect on the Group’s turnover and profit for
the year ended 31 December 2010.

The above proforma information is for illustrative purpose only
and is not necessarily an indication of turnover and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2010, nor is it
intended to be projection of future results.
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41.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2011, an amount of HK$1,813,163,000
(2010: HK$1,621,023,000) for the construction and acquisition of
fixed assets was outstanding and included in other payables.

Loan from a non-controlling shareholder of HK$196,009,000
(2010: Nil) is settled during the year as part of the capital
contribution from the non-controlling shareholder.

WAREE 42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
—E——F —E-TF
FET FAET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
M—REREREEERNBITRE Guarantees given to banks,
i M ER1TVEH B AR in respect of banking
facilities to a jointly
controlled entity
—EReHE — amount guaranteed 50,000 -
—E8gAeHE — amount utilised 40,000 -
EERAE ZERHAFEELTEKN In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the guarantee is
not significant.
KERHEE 43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AEBEEAHAA The Group as lessor

RERERR ARECEBEFERT
FIRREBEHERENAL

At the end of each reporting period, the Group has contracted for
the following future minimum lease payments:

—E——F —E-TF

FTHET FHET

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

—F AR Within one year 9,215 9,215
F_FEFAF (BEEERST) In the second to fifth year

inclusive 9,983 19,198

19,198 28,413

REVECKEERLEESB/IET
SNERE TS RIEMAEH AR =4

The investment property has been rented to outside parties at
fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy of less than
3 years.
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43, KRERHNAE (2 43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Continued)
AEBEREEAA The Group as lessee
RERSER  AEERBE TR HEHED At the end of each reporting period, the Group had outstanding
AR BITAEER T 5 B commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
B due as follows:

—B——-F C—T-TF

FET FAT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
—F AR Within one year 48,287 22,570
E_FEERF (BEEERMSF) In the second to fifth year
inclusive 139,048 49,915
ey Rk Over five years 172,474 81,313
359,809 153,798
AT AE: Represented by:
T R EEY) Land and buildings 349,823 151,617
= Motor vehicles 9,986 2,181
359,809 153,798
TEHOMBDE T ERSNF - Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of six years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE-_ZT——F+_-_A=+—HILFE
BEARERE 44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
MEEREERETEEEMNSHRERR Capital commitments for purchase and construction of fixed
MR BITHIE AT - assets outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:
—®——F% -—T-T5F
FER FET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI AVB R EHE Contracted but not
provided for 2,339,270 3,537,194
BRIERRTLY Authorised but not
contracted for 4,338,275 4,287,185
6,677,545 7,824,379
BEATRS 45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

B 2N B 765 ¥R 3R 1| i P 5% R B v
AL Z REHRFBIN K%
BAANFEE I B EATETT
ANTR5:

@)

@)

Apart from the transactions and the balances with related

parties disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group also entered into the following transactions

with related parties during the year:

—E2——F —E-TF

FERT FAET
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
MERMBAREEER Sale of goods to fellow
subsidiaries 57,186 32,970
M—XERMEBATIMNHERZEGERHEEES  Sale of goods to a jointly
controlled entity of a
fellow subsidiary 24,118 -
MERMEARFEE R Purchase of goods from
fellow subsidiaries 652,359 249,001
EIGES VNS i Testing services provided to
fellow subsidiaries 573 376

—T——FFR
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The key management personnel includes solely the
Directors and the compensation paid to them is disclosed
in Note 9.

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CRNC, which is controlled by the government
of the Chinese Mainland. Apart from the transactions
with the parent company and its subsidiaries which
have been disclosed in other notes to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group also conducts businesses
with entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled by
the Chinese Mainland government (“stated-controlled
entities”) in the ordinary course of business. The directors
consider those entities other than the CRNC group are
independent third parties as far as the Group’s business
transactions with them are concerned. In establishing its
pricing strategies and approval process for transactions
with other state-controlled entities, the Group does
not differentiate whether the counter-party is a state-
controlled entity or not. The Group is of the opinion that it
has provided, in the best of its knowledge, adequate and
appropriate disclosure of related party transactions in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has entered into various transactions,
including sales, purchases, borrowings and other
operating expenses with other state-controlled entities
during the year in which the Directors are of the
opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain the identity
of the counterparties and accordingly whether the
counterparties are state-controlled entities.
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FE FEFEARNTHEBLNERT 68T
[T 35 H %4,706,00008 (% (h (= —Z
Fom) HERSEROHWAABRIER
35,118,000/ 7T ° (IR 42 %5E35,110,0007%
TEMBERTAEERNE TEE -8
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©12,789,0008 T (ZE—FF ) -

On 2 September 2009 (the “Adoption Date”), a share award
scheme was adopted by the Company. The scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from
the Adoption Date. Pursuant to the rules of the scheme, the
Company has set up a trust through a trustee, BOCI — Prudential
Trustee Limited, for the purpose of administering the scheme and
holding the shares.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of
the share award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees
and such that payments under the scheme will be made in form
of cash rather than Shares (the “Scheme”). According to the
Scheme, the Company can utilise the proceeds generated from
the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the trustee for
awards to be made under the Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, 4,706,000 shares
(2010: Nil) were disposed of by the trustee to the market
at an average price of approximately HK$7.46 per share.
The cash proceeds from disposal of these Shares amounted
to HK$35,118,000. The total amount of HK$35,110,000
was distributed to certain employees of the Group, with an
equivalent expense recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as employee benefits during the year. The
difference of HK$16,575,000 between the cost of the Shares
and the total amount was credited to retained profits. As at
31 December 2011, the trustee held 155,294,000 Shares (2010:
160,000,000 shares) and cash of HK$12,789,000 (2010: Nil) on
trust under the Scheme.
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December

A=Z+—BRNEBHNBARNFERBD 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
T~
BEARMERE/
WEARER FE AR S 3t 2 HfEA KRARBREEERNILA TEER
—E-—-f —T-%F
B M BE &
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
201 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EHKE(BI)ERRGNY REI A, AR #520,750,0007T - 94.5% - 635% KREEHHEE
China Resources Cement (Changjiang) ~ Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited? cement
EBKE(RR)BRARY REN, AR #280,000,0007C - 72% - - KEREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Limited” cement
EHIOR (8 BRARY R E R, 15,000,000%7C - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” cement
EEE (AL BRAF? HEIRH A #280,000,0007 - 72% - - KREEEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan) Limited? cement
EBIOR (SR BRAFY HEIR 205,961,300% 7 - 100% - 100% KEEERHEE
China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Chinese Mainland US$205,961,300 Manufacture and sale of
Limited” cement
EEKE(BINBRARY FERH 255,560,00077C - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement (Fuchuan) Chinese Mainland HK$255,560,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited” cement
EHKR (BB)BERRRY e 55,104,000% 7 - 100% - 100% KREELHE
China Resources Cement (Guigang) Chinese Mainland US$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited” cement
EBACE (BN BRARY HEIR 70,000,0005 7T - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$70,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” cement
EEIOR OIF) BRAF FERH 120,000,007 7C - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$120,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” cement
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTRBMERE/
WEARER B L 3t 2 HMER AARBEREERERNLA TEER
—B--F —E-%%
B G Rz E3
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2011 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EEKE (BI)BRAR Bl AKH51,000,0007C - 100% - - KREEREE
(AIBRMTmERKEERAR)
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited cement
(formerly known as Fuzhou Xinshi
Cement Co,, Ltd.)”
ERKR (EEER)BRAR BRI 480,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
EHNOR (EE)BERRA RE R 33,280,000% 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited” cement
EHN0R (BN ARRR HEIR A #243,980,0007 - 100% - 100% KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB243,980,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited” cement
EEOR (BR)BRAAY HEIR 280,000,000 7 - 100% - - KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited” cement
EHNOE (BE)BERRA RE R 55,200,000 7 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited” cement
FERKE (FE)BRAA" RE A, AR #1,080,780,0007C - 100% - 100% KEEELFE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited” cement
EEOR (M) BRAF HEIR 3,280,000% 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1US$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited” cement
EEIOR (LR)BRARNY Bl AR #415,450,0007C - 100% - 100%  KEEERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB415,450,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited” cement
EWKE CLE) ERAR ElR AR 210,000,007 - 100% - 100%  KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited” cement
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FERB AT (& 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BRIRBMERE/
WEARERE B L 3t 2 HMER AARREREEERNLA TEER
—B--f —E-%F
B B Bk it
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
201 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ZRKE (BB)BRARY FE R 270,095,000/ 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$270,095,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited” cement
EEKE(RE)BRAFY Bl 257,266,000 - 100% - 100% KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$257,266,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wusxuan) Limited” cement
E£EKE (BE)BRATFY FEIR 340,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% KREELEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$340,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangchun) Limited” cement
EBOR GKE)BRAF RE R 35,000,000% T - 100% - 100%  KREELREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yongding) Limited” cement
EEOR CEL)BRARY Bl 22,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” cement
EHKRER (BE)BRRF BB 10,0007 100% - 100% - BESFMELRARE
China Resources Cement Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
ERHERERRAR B 4821999725 7T - 100% - 100% HEZRMBLARE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$482,199,972 Holding investments in
Investments Limited” subsidiaries
EERRELT (BE)ERAFY Bl 20,000,0007% 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Baise) Limited” concrete
EERRL (L) ERAFY e 52,000,0007 7 - 100% - 100% ERTEESREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$52,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai) Limited” concrete
RREHLHERLAERARY FRE R 20,000,000 T - 100% - 100% RRLEEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Dongguan  Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Fengcheng) Limited” concrete
EEERT () BRARY Bl 25,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” concrete
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FTEHB QT (5 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTRBMERE/
WEARER B L 3t 2 HMER AARBEREERERNLA TEER
—B--F —E-%%
EE G ERES &
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
20M 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EEREL (HR)ERAFY Bl AR #3,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB3,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” concrete
EERRT (BL)BERAFY R E R 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Foshan) Limited” concrete
EERELT (BR)ERAAY FEI 26,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ERTEESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$26,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fujian) Limited” concrete
EERELT (BR)ERAAY Bl 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuging) Limited” concrete
BNARRENERLERLAFY hEI A, 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Fuzhou Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Development Zone) Limited” concrete
EHERL (BM)BRARY FEIA M 21,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ORBTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$21,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuzhou) Limited” concrete
EEREL (RE)ERAFY Bl 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Gaoyao) Limited” concrete
ERRRT (BR)ERAFY R E R, 34,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEEFEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guangxi) Limited” concrete
EERAL (BB)ERAFY I 25,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ERTEESREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” concrete
EHERT (BM)BRRFY Bl 25,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hezhou) Limited” concrete
EWERL (BN EBARY hEI A, 7,000,000% T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland 1S$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” concrete
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FERB AT (& 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BRIRBMERE/
WEARERE B L 3t 2 HMER AARREREEERNLA TEER
—B--f —E-%F
B B Bk it
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
201 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
IMEERRLETERAR FE R 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete (Jiangmen ~ Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Tangxia) Limited” concrete
EERRET OIP)ERAFY Bl 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” concrete
EHERL (BRIBRRAY R E R 24,000,000/ 70 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiedong) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (BI)BERARFY B 25,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jinjiang) Limited” concrete
ERRRT (RB)ERRAY Bl 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Laibin) Limited” concrete
EHERL (MM BERRRY R E R 20,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Liuzhou) Limited” concrete
EHERT (BRE)BRRFY B 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited” concrete
EEREL OB BRARY HREN, AR 30,000,000 - 72% - - RRLEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lucheng) Limited” concrete
HEEREFRRIERAA HEIR 34,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ERTEESREE
China Resources Concrete (Nanning Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Qingxiu) Limited” concrete
MEEERMEEALERLRY  hEMY 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete (Nanning Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Xixiangtang) Limited” concrete
ERRRT (BR)ERRFY Bl 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited” concrete
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTRBMERE/
WEARER B L 3t 2 HMER AARBEREERERNLA TEER
—B--F —E-%%
B G Rz E3
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
20M 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EEREL (ZR)ERAA Bl 7,200,000%7C - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
(ABERILAREIRREN
BRAR)Y
China Resources Concrete (Ningbo) Chinese Mainland US$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited (formerly known as Ningbo concrete
Beilun Ying's Universal Architecture
Material Co., Ltd.)”
EEREL (JMERRAY HEIR 40,000,000/ - 100% - 100% ERTEESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$40,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou) Limited” concrete
ERERL (CT)ERARY Bl 24,000,000 7 - 100% - - RELEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Sanya) Limited” concrete
FEREELERAR" HEIRH A& H25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEEEFEE
China Resources Concrete (Shenzhen)  Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited” concrete
ERERL (BE)BERRFY HEIR 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ERTEESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wanning) Limited” concrete
EHERT (EF)BERRFY Bl A& #20,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Xiamen) Limited” concrete
ZHERL (BT)ERARY FEIA AR #10,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangjiang) Limited” concrete
EHERL GKE)BRRARFY R E A 24,000,000/ 70 - 100% - - RRTEESRHEE
China Resources Concrete (Yongding)  Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited” concrete
ERRAL (EMBRAFY Bl 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yulin) Limited” concrete
ZMERL BN BRAR FEIA 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhangzhou) Limited” concrete
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FTEHE QT (= 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BRETRBRRE/
WEARERE T AR 3L 3 B HMER AARREREEERNLA TEER
—B--f —E-%F
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Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
201 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EIERRRRRLBRAR REN, 24,000,000 T - 100% - - RBTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang Pengyuan) Limited” concrete
EEREEL(BI)BRARY HE A 20,000,000 T - 100% - 100% RERIEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” concrete
BEERL (EB)BRARY FEIR 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ERTEESEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhaoging) Limited” concrete
EHERT ORB)BRAFY B 24,000,000 7T - 100% - - RELEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(zhuhai) Limited” concrete
ERRTIORBIERERAR 0 150,000,007 7 - 100% - 100%  KEESH
China Resources Dongguan Cement Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 Trading of cement
Manufactory Holdings Limited
RRERRELARAR" HEIR 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ERTEESEE
China Resources Dongguan Concrete  Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Limited” concrete
AB=EZRIIZERNA? B AR #230,000,0007C - 974% - - KREERHE
Dali San Teh Building Materials Industry ~ Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd? cement
AB=EKRERLA? HEIRH AR 230,000,000 - 974% - - KREEEHE
Dali San Teh Cement Co., Ltd? Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
ERBRERTBERRR" HEN, AR %10,000,00070 - 100% - - RETHEREE
Dingan Penggang Concrete Co., Ltd/”  Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
REERKERARAR" B 199,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100%  KREELREE
Dongguan Huarun Cement Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Manufactory Co. Limited” cement
HHBERAF 0 2B - 100% - 100% HENE
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTRBRREK/
WEAREE Bl AR HMER FARAREREEERNLA TEXY
—B--F —T-ZF
BE it BE fik
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2011 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

FrUEBER RELARLRY hEA 2,420,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
Foshan China Resources Shunan Chinese Mainland US$2,420,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited” concrete
REETREKEERAR" HER AR #129,000,00070 - 100% - - KREEEHEE
Fujian Zhangping Zhenhong Chinese Mainland RMB129,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Cement Co., Ltd.” cement
SREBRAF B 28T - 100% - 100%  BAENE
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
EREBKTKERRRF hEA AR #200,000,0007C - 958% - 938%  KEEERHE
Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe  Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Cement Co., Ltd? cement
ERAKITKRRABRR A HEIRH AR #305,256,70070 - 859% - 194% HE-FEELRARE
Guangxi Hongshuihe Cement Co., Ltd®  Chinese Mainland RMB305,256,700 Holding investment in an

associate

MREERBERELARLAY G 24,000,00077T - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
Heyuan China Resources Huida Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited” concrete
AREBERRRELARLRA N AR %22,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RETEEEHE
Heyuan China Resources Pengyuan Chinese Mainland RMB22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited” concrete
BMNERRMERAFY HEIR 8,000,000 - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
Huizhou China Resources Jiancai Chinese Mainland US$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Limited” concrete
IFEERRLENERARAY G 24,000,00077T - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Muzhou Limited” concrete
ERNBERRELARAA R 7,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE

(MRERERRREENH

BRAR) Y
Ningbo Xiaogang China Resources Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited (formerly known concrete

as Ningbo Ying's Universal Building
Material Co., Ltd.)”
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47. T EMBE 2T ) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BRTRBRRE/
WEAREM palARH HMER ARRAREHERERNILA TEXY
—E--f —T-ZF
BE itk B% fik
Issued and fully Proportion of the
Place of paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2011 2010
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERBERARAT B 10,0007 7T - 100% - 100%  EEWE
Profit Success Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
mEEHERARAR BE 200,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% ER LA ERARS
Quality Control Consultants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Concrete testing and
consultancy services
HERERERAT BE 287 - 100% - 100% HRERES
Redland Ash Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of fly ash
REARRIIER AT £ VB - 100% - 100%  KEES
Redland Cement Connections Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of cement
PEERLIBRAF B 1087 - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
Redland Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
RRMHEEERAR Bk 2ETT - 100% - 100% @ RENHES
Redland Construction Materials Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of construction
materials
RADEERAT £k 2B - 100% - 100%  PRES
Redland Mortars Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of mortars
PRBRARAT Bk VL - 100% - 100% BRES
Redland Shotcrete Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of shotcrete
LARERRENKEERAR FEIA 90,000,000 7T - 2% - 2%  KREERFE
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement ~ Chinese Mainland US$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited” cement
ABNEEBRATF B 28T - 100% - 100%  BENE
Standard Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
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47.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

notes:

(1) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of

sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the subsidiaries
of the Company listed in the above table principally affected the
results, assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive length.

None of subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.
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Results
Turnover

Profit for the year
attributable to owners of
the Company

Assets

Fixed assets

Prepaid lease payments

Investment properties

Intangible assets

Interests in associates

Interests in jointly controlled
entities

Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets

Deferred tax assets

Long term receivables

Current assets

Assets classified as
held for sale

Total assets

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Liabilities associated
with assets classified
as held for sale

Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

—TTLF
FiET
2007
HK$'000

3,743,155

360,253

5,422,105
182,648
93,966
113,724
49

26,326
8,831

1,774,141

7,621,790

3,995,437

903,020

4,898,457

—ETIN\F
TET
2008
HK$'000

5,781,278

760,924

8,124,263
293,401
35,000
137,807
48

73,025
9,616
118,916
1,744,331
157,053

10,693,460

4,510,970

22,731
1,758,515

6,292,216

—TTNF
FAT
2009
HK$'000

6,906,925

1,010,176

14,264,055
443,284
34,000
347,612
8,511

645,755
22,421
264,842
8,203,412

24,233,892

5,201,111

6,402,127

11,603,238

—E-EF
FET
2010
HK$'000

14,141,537

2,040,833

21,862,718
1,631,597
52,000
632,639
20,142

894,669

1,434,851
106,483
336,284

8,356,508

35,327,891

11,886,789

8,195,813

20,082,602

-5
FiEn
2011
HK$'000

23,239,961

4,179,010

30,014,245
2,344,276
59,000
1,707,968
2,119,177

1,571,398

1,305,430
95,844
425,108
10,815,377

50,457,823

20,351,075

10,205,498

30,556,573
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